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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardiimg statements that involve substantial risks amecertainties. All
statements other than statements of historicad famtained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K|uding statements
regarding our strategy, future operations, futimarfcial position, future revenue, projected cgstsspects, plans, objectives of
management and expected market growth, are forisakdng statements. These statements involve kremvehunknown risks,
uncertainties and other important factors that meayse our actual results, performance or achievisneibe materially
different from any future results, performance dniavements expressed or implied by the forwarditopstatements.

The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “egpt,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “predict,” “project; “target,” “potential,”
“will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “continue,” and similar expressions are intended to identify famvioking statements,
although not all forward-looking statements contaise identifying words. These forward-lookingest@ents include, among
other things, statements about:

« the initiation, cost, timing, progress and resolt our development activities, preclinical stisdind clinical trials;

« the timing of and our ability to obtain and maiintregulatory approval of obeticholic acid, or OG#d any other
product candidates we may develop, particularlypibesibility that regulatory authorities may reguitinical outcomes
data (and not just results based on achievememsofrogate endpoint) as a condition to any maretpproval for
OCA, and any related restrictions, limitations and¥arnings in the label of any approved producididates;

e our plans to research, develop and commercializgroduct candidates;

e our collaborators’ election to pursue researelvetbpment and commercialization activities;

e our ability to attract collaborators with devetoent, regulatory and commercialization expertise;

e our ability to obtain and maintain intellectuabperty protection for our product candidates;

e our ability to successfully commercialize our gmot candidates;

» the size and growth of the markets for our prodaadidates and our ability to serve those markets
« the rate and degree of market acceptance ofwtngefproducts;

» the success of competing drugs that are or beevaitable;

* regulatory developments in the United Statesathdr countries;

« the performance of our third-party suppliers amehufacturers;

* our need for and ability to obtain additionaldinting;

e our estimates regarding expenses, future reveamesapital requirements and the accuracy thereof;

* our use of the proceeds from our initial publifedng in October 2012 and our follow-on publiderings in June 2013,
April 2014 and February 2015; and

* our ability to attract and retain key scientiicmanagement personnel.

These forward-looking statements are only predistiand we may not actually achieve the plans, iiltes or expectations
disclosed in our forward-looking statements, so gloould not place undue reliance on our forwardilog statements. Actual
results or events could differ materially from fhlans, intentions and expectations disclosed ifidheard-looking statements
we make. We have based these forward-looking statesargely on our current expectations and ptiojes about future
events and trends that we believe may affect osinless, financial condition and operating resiite.have included important
factors in the cautionary statements included i Amnual Report on Form 10-K, particularly in ItemA. Risk Factors, that
could cause actual future results or events tediffaterially from the forward-looking statementattwe make. Our forward-
looking statements do not reflect the potentialactf any future acquisitions, mergers, disposgjgoint ventures or
investments we may make.
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You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K #re@ldocuments that we have filed as exhibits éoAhnual Report on
Form 10-K with the understanding that our actulriel results may be materially different from whet expect. We do not
assume any obligation to update any forward-lookitatements whether as a result of new informafidgare events or
otherwise, except as required by applicable law.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

This Annual Report on Form 10-K presents projeetdidsted operating expense, which is a financiasuaee not
calculated in accordance with U.S. generally a@ptcounting principles, or GAAP, and should hesatered in addition to,
but not as a substitute for, operating expensevtbgirepare and announce in accordance with GAA®PeX¢lude certain items
from adjusted operating expense, such as stocldlmmsepensation and other non-cash items, that reamagt does not believe
affect our basic operations and that do not mee@&RAAP definition of unusual or non-recurring iterii¢e anticipate that
stock-based compensation expense will represembdisé significant non-cash item that is excludeddjusted operating
expenses as compared to operating expenses undd?.@Areconciliation of projected non-GAAP adjustggkbrating expense
to operating expense calculated in accordance®#&AP is not available on a forward-looking basisheut unreasonable
effort due to an inability to make accurate pratd and estimates related to certain informatieeded to calculate, for
example, future stock-based compensation expenseadement also uses adjusted operating expenstabdigh budgets and
operational goals and to manage our company’s essirOther companies may define this measureferelitt ways. We
believe this presentation provides investors andagament with supplemental information relatingperating performance
and trends that facilitate comparisons betweerogsrand with respect to projected information.
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Part |

All brand names or trademarks appearing in this #airReport on Form 10-K are the property of theispective holders.
Unless the context requires otherwise, referencékis Annual Report on Form 10-K to “Interceptfie “Company,” “we,”
“us,” and “our” refer to Intercept Pharmaceuticaldnc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Item 1. Business
Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused ondhelopment and commercialization of novel theraipsub treat
chronic liver diseases with high unmet medical netilizing our proprietary bile acid chemistry. Garoduct candidates have
the potential to treat orphan and more prevalest liliseases for which there currently are limtteztapeutic solutions.

Our lead product candidate, obeticholic acid, o ®OfS a bile acid analog, a chemical substancehthata structure based
on a naturally occurring human bile acid, thatstalely binds to and activates the farnesoid X p¢oe or FXR, which we
believe has broad liver-protective properties. Gt@& been tested in five placebo-controlled clinidals, including a recently
completed Phase 3 clinical trial in patients withmary biliary cirrhosis, or PBC, and two Phasdigical trials in patients with
nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, or NAFLD, and atioholic steatohepatitis, or NASH. OCA met theraiy efficacy endpoint
in each of these trials with statistical significan

In January 2015, OCA received breakthrough thedsgsjgnation from the U.S. Food and Drug Adminigtrator FDA, for
the treatment of NASH patients with liver fiboroSBCA has also been granted fast track designatidhédoFDA for the
treatment of patients with PBC who have an inadexesponse to or are intolerant of ursodiol. O@A feceived orphan drug
designation in the United States and the Europeaarifor the treatment of PBC and primary sclergsiholangitis, or PSC.

Our most advanced development program for OCAri®®C as a second line treatment for patients vewe fan
inadequate response to or who are unable to telstahdard of care therapy and therefore needamlitreatment. PBC is a
chronic autoimmune liver disease that, if inadeglyareated, may eventually lead to cirrhosis,tifalure and death. In March
2014, we completed a Phase 3 clinical trial, knasithe POISE trial, in which OCA achieved the pryrendpoint for the
treatment of PBC. We intend to use these resudisgawith two previously completed randomized Phasdnical trials of
OCA in PBC, as the basis for seeking the first l&iguy approvals to market OCA in the United Stated Europe. We initiated
a rolling New Drug Application, or NDA, submissiaith the FDA for OCA in PBC in December 2014 unttex FDA's
accelerated approval pathway. We also plan to susmmépplication for marketing approval for OCAHRBC in Europe. We
plan to complete our filings for marketing approg&lOCA in PBC in the United States and Europerdythe first half of 2015.
If we receive marketing approval from regulatoryhewities based on these applications, we planit@ie the commercial
launch of OCA in PBC in the United States and é¢effairropean countries in 2016.

OCA achieved the primary endpoint in a Phase 2ficeli trial for the treatment of NASH, known as #elNT trial, which
was sponsored by the U.S. National Institute obBtas and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, or NID®gart of the National
Institutes of Health. The FLINT trial was complefadate July 2014. We are planning to finalize tfesign of our Phase 3
clinical program in NASH in the second quarter 612, subject to the completion of our regulatoscdssions with the FDA
and the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, and thiiate the clinical program. We also intendndiate a clinical trial in
2015 characterizing the lipid metabolic effectO&A and cholesterol management effects of concangét@tin administration
in NASH patients. Our collaborator, Sumitomo Dapop Pharma Co. Ltd., or Sumitomo Dainippon, haspietad enroliment
in a 200-patient Phase 2 NASH clinical trial of O@AJapan with a primary efficacy endpoint simiiathat used in our Phase
2b FLINT trial, which is anticipated to be completey the end of 2015.

In addition to PBC and NASH, we plan to continue msearch on OCA in other patient populationsesirffy from liver
and non-liver related diseases, as we believeRXRt has broad therapeutic potential. In Decembé#d2@e initiated an
international Phase 2 clinical trial in patientshwSC to evaluate the effects
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of 24 weeks of treatment with varying doses of O&#npared to placebo. We are currently evaluatinguwure development
strategy for OCA in other indications and for oveglinical candidates. As part of our developm@ogram, we plan to
complete investigational new drug enabling stuébe®ur next potential development compound, INT-~7&nd initiate a Phase
1 trial around year-end 2015. The following chaudss the current stage of development of OCA ifedint patient
populations and the preclinical programs for otveofproduct candidates.

Intercept Pipeline Focused on Neglected Liver Dissas
Product/Population Preclinical Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 NDA/MAA Filings
OCA

Primary Biliary Cirrhosis

Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis

Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis

Biliary Atresia

INT-767

Fibrosis

INT-777

Type 2 Diabetes

Our current patents for OCA are scheduled to exgtirarious times through 2028. We believe thatcage could be
extended into 2033 based on our additional penclimgposition-of-matter and process patent applinati®ur current plan is
to commercialize OCA ourselves in the United States Europe for the treatment of PBC, NASH andritihdications
primarily by targeting physicians who specializehie treatment of liver and intestinal diseasedufing both hepatologists
and gastroenterologists. We own worldwide right®@A outside of Japan, China and Korea, where we kaclusively
licensed OCA to Sumitomo Dainippon along with atiapto exclusively license OCA in certain otherigscountries.

By virtue of our patent portfolio and the proprigt&know-how of our employees and our collaboratirthe University of
Perugia, we believe that we hold a leading positiaihe fields of bile acid chemistry and therapeitThrough collaboration
with Professor Roberto Pellicciari, Ph.D., one of co-founders, and TES Pharma Srl, we are comiintg our research to
rationally design compounds that bind selectivelst potently to FXR and other bile acid receptotartihg with OCA and its
underlying patents, which were assigned to us uadeagreements with Professor Pellicciari, otlesearchers and the
University of Perugia, our collaboration has resdlin a pipeline of bile acid analogs in additiorQCA, which target both
FXR and a second dedicated bile acid receptorcc@{&R5, a target of interest for the treatmentypet2 diabetes and other
gastrointestinal diseases.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to develop and commercialize ntwelapeutics for patients with chronic liver andestdiseases, beginning
with OCA for the treatment of PBC, NASH and othaltdw-on indications that we believe are underseryg existing
marketed therapies. The key elements of our siyategto:

* obtain marketing approval of OCA for the treatinehPBC in the United States, the European Uniwhather
countries;
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¢ commercialize OCA in the United States, Europe @tiher countries, initially for the treatment @@,
» continue to develop OCA for the treatment of NASKt seek regulatory approval of OCA in this intag
e continue to develop OCA in other orphan and npevalent liver and other diseases; and

¢ advance the development of earlier-stage prochrmatlidates in our pipeline.

In order to achieve our strategic objectives, weehand will remain, focused on hiring and retaininhighly skilled
management team and employee base with extengdegience and specific skill sets relating to tHect®n, development and
commercialization of therapies for diseases witthhinmet medical need. We anticipate that we wititinue to increase our
product development, scientific, commercial and imistrative personnel significantly in the Unitetaf®s and abroad as part of
our growth strategy.

Overview of Liver Function, Bile Acids and ChronicLiver Diseases

The liver performs many functions that are crutdalsurvival, including the regulation of bile adigetabolism. Bile acids
are natural detergent-like emulsifying agents #natreleased from the gallbladder into the intestthen food is ingested, and
are essential for the absorption of dietary chetestand other nutrients. Cholesterol bound by &diels is taken up by the liver,
where the cholesterol is then converted into onvofprimary bile acids. The bile acids are thetivaty secreted into bile
ducts, which eventually empty into the gallbladdéris digestive cycle of bile flow from gallbladderintestine to liver and
back is called the enterohepatic recirculationilef. b

In addition to facilitating nutrient absorption)dacids have a much broader role than previoesliized in regulating
multiple biological functions. They are also comp$ignaling molecules that integrate metabolic iamthune pathways
involved in the healthy functioning of various ties and organs. For example, the actions of bits & the liver, intestine and
kidney regulate repair mechanisms that modulatarimhation and fibrosis, or scarring, which can leagrogressive organ
damage.

The biological effects of bile acids are mediate@tigh dedicated receptors. The best understabeé i&rnesoid X
receptor, a nuclear receptor that regulates bittsymthesis and clearance from the liver, theqgieyenting excessive bile acid
build-up in the liver, which may be toxic. As aulisFXR is a target for the treatment of liveretises such as PBC and PSC
that involve impaired bile flow, a condition calletolestasis, in which the liver is exposed to aighan normal levels of bile
acids, causing significant damage over time dubealetergent effects of bile acids. In additiale hcid activation of FXR
induces anti-fibrotic, anti-inflammatory, anti-steic and other mechanisms that are necessarpidandarmal regeneration of
the liver and may play a role in the treatment oferprevalent liver diseases such as NASH and alicohepatitis. Based on
the discovery of similar FXR-mediated protectivecimnisms in other organs exposed to bile acidfielieve that FXR may
also be a potential target for the treatment aimlver of intestinal, kidney and other diseases.

Our Lead Product Candidate: Obeticholic Acid (OCA)
Primary Biliary Cirrhosis (PBC)

Our current clinical focus is on the developmen®dA, a novel, orally administered, first-in-cldS%$R agonist that we
believe has broad liver-protective properties ary effectively counter a variety of chronic insutisthe liver that cause
fibrosis, which can eventually lead to cirrhosiget transplant and death. Our first targeted dises PBC, an orphan indication
with a significant unmet medical need.

PBC is a rare liver disease that primarily resiitisn autoimmune destruction of the bile ducts thetsport bile acids out of
the liver, resulting in cholestasis. As the disgaagresses, persistent toxic build-up of bile aciduses progressive liver
damage marked by chronic inflammation and fibrdsisesponse to the bile acid mediated toxicitynseePBC, liver cells
release alkaline phosphatase, or ALP, a liver erezijrat is a key biomarker of the disease patholBguated blood levels of
ALP are used as the primary means of diagnosi8af &d are closely monitored in patients as thet inggortant indicator of
treatment response and prognosis.
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While PBC is rare, it is the most common cholestiier disease. An estimated 90% of patients armen, with
approximately one in 1,000 women over the age aifflitted by the disease. The mean age of diagrissibout 40 years and
the typical initial presentation occurs betweendpes of 30 and 65 years. In the United Stategliflease is currently the
second leading indication for liver transplant agn@omen. A majority of PBC patients are asymptomatithe time of initial
diagnosis, but most develop symptoms over timag&atand pruritus, or itching, are the most commsymptoms in PBC
patients. Less common symptoms include dry eyesrandh, as well as jaundice, which can be seendreradvanced disease.
Based on the guidelines of the American Associdtiorthe Study of Liver Disease, or AASLD, and tharopean Association
for the Study of the Liver, or EASL, the clinicabdnosis of PBC is established based on the pres#n@ a positive anti-
mitochondrial antibody, or AMA, a marker of thistaimmune disease seen in up to 95% of PBC patiants(ii) elevated
serum levels of ALP. In the earlier stages of PRCR is often the only abnormally elevated liver yme, rising to between
two to ten times higher than normal values. Biliruls a marker of liver function and is also mongé in PBC to provide an
indication of how well the liver is functioning. \ér biopsy can be used to confirm the diagnosRRIE, but is not required and
is becoming less-frequently performed.

Disease progression in PBC varies significantlyusutally is relatively slow, with median survivaluntreated patients of
7.5 years if symptomatic at diagnosis and up tgeis if asymptomatic at diagnosis. PBC patientssgltisease is
progressing have persistently elevated levels d? Ahd other liver enzymes, with abnormal biliruleivels heralding more
advanced disease. Data from published long-terdiegidemonstrate that a significant portion of spatients with advancing
disease progress to liver failure, transplant etldevithin five to ten years, despite receivingodisl, the standard of care
therapy.

Currently Available Treatment Options for PBC

The only approved drug for the treatment of PBGr&deoxycholic acid, available generically as disipwhich is the
standard initial course of therapy for all PBC eats. Ursodiol is a naturally occurring bile acdifid in small quantities in
humans and it is the least detergent of the vatipes of bile acids that make up the bile pooPBC patients, the typical
daily dose of ursodiol of approximately one grapresents more than one-fifth of the entire bilel@oal, after ongoing
therapy, it will comprise at least half of the eatbile pool. It is believed that ursodiol treatmesults in the bile pool being
less toxic to the liver due to ursodiol’s dilutiohother more detergent bile acids.

In patients for whom ursodiol is effective, theatiraent slows the progression of PBC, reducingikeithood of liver
failure and the need for transplant. As shown imerous clinical trials of ursodiol treatment, aifies therapeutic response is
primarily determined by sustained reduction of Akfels, along with maintenance of normal bilirubrels, indicating
adequately compensated liver function. This biodhehimprovement has been shown to correlate wigHi improved clinical
outcomes such as transplant-free survival.

The outlook and treatment options for end-stage p&i{ents who fail to respond to ursodiol are leditAlthough other
drugs such as colchicine, budesonide, methotrexatethers have been tested as treatments in RBE,has been shown to be
both effective and safe in altering the coursenefdisease. While a liver transplant may be cugativany patients fail to
receive a donor organ in time, and for those wheedeive an organ, there are very significant céihrisks such as infection
and organ rejection, as well as significant cdstaddition, the disease recurrence rate is asdsgtB% at five years and up to
30% at ten years after liver transplant.

Our PBC Opportunity

While ursodiol’s mechanism of action at therapedtses is to dilute more detergent bile acidsastio known
pharmacological effects mediated by FXR or othér &cid receptors. Although ursodiol is the estditgd standard of care for
the treatment of PBC, studies have shown that &9% of PBC patients fail to respond adequatelyeatment. Patients
typically need to take approximately one gram abdiol daily in divided doses, which we believegengts a compliance
challenge for some patients.
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According to industry data, there are approxima8€§,000 people with PBC in developed countriesylddm we believe
approximately 60,000 have been diagnosed and &émg treated with ursodiol. Based on this estimatebelieve there are up
to 30,000 diagnosed PBC patients who may currdxlgligible for treatment with OCA, representingignificant unmet
medical need for a second line therapy. With ingirgaidentification of PBC through routine livemittion testing in primary
care, we believe that there may be significantlyeatients who will potentially be eligible fomdbe interested in, receiving
a new therapy if it becomes available on the makkitile ursodiol is the standard of care for treatment of PBC, given the
limitations of its efficacy and the compliance daagjes with the dosing regimen discussed abovéelveve that there is a
significant unmet need for a novel second lineapgrin PBC.

Our Solution: OCA for PBC
Overview

Our lead product candidate, OCA, is a bile acid@mand first-in-class FXR agonist derived from grgnary human bile
acid chenodeoxycholic acid, or CDCA. CDCA, a ndt&béR agonist, has historically been used safelst akronic therapy for
cholesterol gallstone disease. OCA has receiveldborgrug designation in the United States and Eufopthe treatment of
PBC and PSC.

We have completed three double-blind, placebo-odatt trials of OCA in PBC patients, all of whictetrtheir primary and
secondary endpoints. We believe that the resuitaioPOISE trial of OCA in PBC and our long-ternfietya extension trials in
PBC patients, which include a small group of pasevho have been on OCA therapy for more than years, demonstrate
that OCA produces a durable therapeutic response.

We have also completed two randomized, placeboraited Phase 2 trials of OCA in PBC patients, orith WCA in
combination with ursodiol and one with OCA as mdwoapy, and our POISE trial. We intend to use Q& trial results,
along with two previously completed randomized Rh2sglinical trials of OCA in PBC, as the basisseeking the first
regulatory approvals to market OCA in the Unitedt& and Europe.

OCA was granted Fast Track designation by FDA iry @14 for the treatment of patients with PBC whodan
inadequate response to or are intolerant of urothe Fast Track process allows a company to stibilividual sections of its
NDA for review by FDA on a rolling basis as they @ompleted. We initiated a rolling NDA submissieith the FDA for
OCA in PBC in December 2014 under the FDA'’s acedést approval pathway. We also plan to submit afiGgion for
marketing approval for OCA in PBC in Europe. Werpla complete our filings for marketing approval@€A in PBC in the
United States and Europe during the first half@E2 If we receive marketing approval from regufpt@uthorities, we plan to
initiate the commercial launch of OCA in PBC in tbeited States and certain European countries 1620

We own worldwide rights to OCA outside of Japaninarand Korea, where we have exclusively licens€d @
Sumitomo Dainippon along with an option to exclebpicense OCA in certain other Asian countries.

OCA Benefits in PBC
We believe that OCA has the potential to provideftilowing benefits in the treatment of PBC:

« Efficacy. In addition to achieving the primary endpoinbur Phase 2 and Phase 3 trials, 80% of OCA-trgztents
across each of our Phase 2 and Phase 3 trialsexped a reduction in ALP levels of at least 10%icl we consider
to be a clinically meaningful improvement, as coneplato 13% of placebo treated patients.

* Pharmacological Activit. Unlike ursodiol, which has no FXR-agonist adiiyiOCA is approximately 100-times more
potent than CDCA in activating the FXR receptorniimerous animal models, sustained FXR activatiin @CA
treatment has resulted in the prevention, and exegrsal, of liver fibrosis. In our clinical trialpatients taking OCA
also have experienced significant reductions inrooemindicators of autoimmune activity such as ganghgamy!
transferase, or GGT, immunoglobulin M, or IgM, adeactive protein, or CRP. We believe that thdseovations
demonstrate potential disease-modifying therapeutiwity directly addressing the underlying autoiome pathology.
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« Ease of Us. We anticipate seeking approval of OCA for tleatment of PBC with the administration of a sirtglalet
each day. With proposed tablets containing 5 mtpang of OCA, any of these doses is a small fraatibthe amount
of ursodiol that a PBC patient is typically prebed.

Phase 3 PBC Program for OCA
Completed Phase 3 Trial: OCA as Combination Theia@®BC Patients (POISE)

In March 2014, we announced that the primary emipeas achieved in our international POISE triatlgtng the safety
and efficacy of once-daily treatment with OCA in®PBatients with an inadequate therapeutic resptmmse who are unable to
tolerate, ursodiol. In the trial, 217 patients weredomized to one of three groups: placebo, 1@@# or 5 mg OCA for six
months titrated to 10 mg OCA based on clinical oese.

The POISE data showed that OCA, at both a 10 mg dnd a 5 mg dose titrated to 10 mg, met the driagfmary endpoint
of achieving a reduction in serum ALP, to belovhigshold of 1.67 times upper limit normal, with aimum of 15%
reduction in ALP level from baseline, and a norimfitubin level after 12 months of therapy. Patgewtth ALP and bilirubin
levels below the thresholds set forth in the POti&# primary endpoint have been shown in long-tetmical studies to have a
significantly lower risk of progressing to liveatrsplant and death. The proportion of patients imgé#te POISE trial primary
endpoint was 10% in the placebo group, 47% in theny OCA group and 46% in the OCA titration grobpth dose groups p
< 0.0001 as compared to placebo) in an intentietnetat analysis. The placebo group experiencedanrdecrease in ALP from
baseline of 5%, compared to a significant meanedeser of 39% in the 10 mg OCA dose group and 33%ei©CA titration
group (both dose groups p < 0.0001 as comparelh¢elpo). OCA treated patients achieved highly stiatlly significant
reductions in ALP beginning as early as two wedtex @nitiation of treatment, with a peak effechaved by six months.

POISE Trial: Primary Endpoint
(p<0.0001 vs. placebo in both groups)
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In addition, both OCA dose groups met pre-specifiecbndary endpoints of improving other clinicaéjevant liver
enzymes. Reductions in GGT of 64% in the 10 mg @iGse group and 50% in the OCA titration group, ialatransaminase,
or ALT, of 42% in the 10 mg OCA dose group and 36%he OCA titration group, and aspartate transasenor AST, of 24%
in the 10 mg OCA dose group and 22% in the OCAttdn group, were observed, respectively (both QG8e groups p <
0.0005 as compared to placebo). PBC patients tijypicave dyslipidemia with unique features, chagazed by significantly
elevated levels of high-density lipoprotein chadest, or HDL-C, and modestly or significantly elésa levels of low-density
lipoprotein cholesterol, or LDL-C. OCA treatmend Iv a rapid and sustained dose-dependent dedred&¥ -C levels,
similar to those seen in the prior PBC clinicadlisj with most patients experiencing HDL-C withiormal levels. No
meaningful sustained changes in LDL-C were obseivéhis setting.

Pruritus, or itching, generally mild to moderatesithe most frequently reported adverse event mtsdavith OCA
treatment and was observed in 38% of patients aceplb, 68% of patients in the 10 mg OCA group &% bf patients in the
OCA titration group. Eight patients discontinuecda pruritus, of whom none were in the placebaigrseven (10%) patients
were in the 10 mg OCA group and one (1%) patierst wahe OCA titration group (in a patient who hihted up to 10 mg).
Pruritus has also been observed in other clinibt
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of OCA. As shown in the graph below, patient-repdnpruritus severity, as measured by the visudbgretore, or VAS, was
not different between OCA and placebo groups aetiteof the study.

POISE Trial: Pruritus Scores

301 -O- Placebo (n=73)

-4 Titration OCA (n=70)
4% 10 mg OCA (n=73)

Mean' A in Pruritis
VAS Score from Baseline

-1 0 T : T
0 6 12
Time (months)

*p<0.05 vs placebo
VAS scores range from 0 (no pruritis) to 100 (severe pruritis)
t As calculated by Least Square Means

Apart from pruritus, the incidence of adverse esevs generally similar across both OCA and placgbaps (placebo:
90%, OCA 10 mg: 86%, OCA titration: 89%). Overalrious adverse events, or SAEs, occurred in Z&) 1 the patients
and, although there were more SAEs in the OCAnreat groups, none were considered drug-relatedteand were no
apparent patterns in the SAEs.

Ongoing Open-Label Long-Term Safety ExtensioneoP®ISE Trial

Following the completion of the double-blind portiof the POISE trial described above, patients \geren the option to
enroll in an open-label long-term safety and efficaxtension trial, or the POISE LTSE. The POISESETis currently
ongoing. Patients continue to receive open-labeA@Cthis phase, and have been increased fronrnstalose of 5 mg to as
high as 25 mg, as clinically indicated. Of the pa8ients who completed the double-blind phase @PDISE trial, more than
95% continued in the LTSE phase of the trial.

Regulatory Pathway

OCA was granted Fast Track designation by FDA iry4@14 for the treatment of patients with PBC whodan
inadequate response to or are intolerant of urothe Fast Track process allows a company to stibwfividual sections of its
NDA for review by FDA on a rolling basis as theg aompleted. We initiated a rolling NDA submissieith the FDA for
OCA in PBC in December 2014 under the FDA'’s acegézt approval pathway. We also plan to submit gfiGgtion for
marketing approval for OCA in PBC in Europe. Wernpla complete our filings for marketing approval@€A in PBC in the
United States and Europe within the first half 61.2. As part of our strategy for filing the NDA werdhe accelerated approval
pathway, we initiated a clinical outcomes confirargttrial for OCA in PBC in December 2014, followimliscussions with
both the FDA and EMA. We do not expect completibthés trial to be a condition to the receipt ofnketing approval and, as
a result, plan to complete the trial following @aceipt of marketing approval. If we receive mairigtapproval from regulatory
authorities based on these applications, we plamitiate the commercial launch of OCA in PBC ir tbnited States and
certain European countries in 2016.

A number of published clinical studies have demmrtiet! that lower levels of ALP, both independentiyn conjunction
with normal bilirubin levels, correlate with a sificant reduction in adverse clinical outcomes sasHiver transplant and
death. We believe that one of the key factors énRBA’s potential acceptance of our POISE triahyaily endpoint as a basis
for accelerated approval will be the result of
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PBC clinical outcomes data of more than 6,000 PBtizpts from 15 academic centers in eight counthiashave been
compiled by the Global PBC Study Group, which wersmred, as well as a dataset of over 6,000 PB€npsiacross the
United Kingdom compiled by the UK PBC Group. Thesgresent the largest prospective PBC clinicals#atsassembled to
analyze the correlation of biochemical therapergponse with clinical outcomes in PBC patients.

In the largest meta-analysis of individual PBC gattidata conducted to date, published in the Deee2®l4 issue of
Gastroenterology the Global PBC Study Group researchers confirthatllevels of ALP and bilirubin correlated withinital
outcomes of patients with PBC. Of the 4,845 pasiémtluded in the analysis, 1,118 reached a climiagticome defined as liver
transplantation or death. The researchers repartessociation between ALP values and liver tramggtee survival, with
higher ALP values associated with worse progndgisne year after study enrollment, an ALP levetwé times upper limit of
normal, or ULN, best predicted patient outcomermitsignificantly better than other lower ALP thtekls such as 1.67 times
ULN. As shown in the graph below, among patienthiLP levels less than or equal to two times UBM% survived for at
least a ten year follow-up period compared with G#hose with levels exceeding two times ULN (p.€001). Elevated
bilirubin levels were strongly correlated with wengrognosis and only 41% of such patients had adtehliver transplant or
died over the subsequent 10 years compared with@g¥atients with normal bilirubin levels (p < 0@D. We believe that
these results, along with the published resulth@fUK PBC Group, show that the achievement of BR Fevel of less than
1.67 times ULN, together with a normal bilirubirvéd, correlates with a highly statistically sigodint reduction of risk and
adverse clinical outcomes such as liver transgadtdeath in PBC patients.

Ongoing Confirmatory Clinical Outcomes Trial

As part of our strategy for filing the NDA for OQdnder the accelerated approval pathway, in Dece@fifet we initiated a
confirmatory clinical outcomes trial in PBC, asua@gd under FDA guidelines for accelerated approwih detailed input on
the trial design from both FDA and EMA. The goatieé trial is to confirm that reduction of ALP wi@CA treatment is
associated with a longer term benefit on livertegleclinical outcomes. This trial is expected tacbenpleted on a post-
marketing basis.

We designed our confirmatory clinical outcomed tigaassess the effect of a once-daily dose of ®mi) mg of OCA in
approximately 350 PBC patients with an inadequategipeutic response to ursodiol or who are unalie@l¢rate ursodiol. In
this trial, eligible patients with PBC continue ithersodiol treatment, except for those patientahl@ to tolerate ursodiol, and
are being randomized into one of two arms of appmately 175 patients each. Patients receive, iitiaddo ursodiol, either
placebo or 5 mg of OCA increasing over the coufdaetrial to 10 mg of OCA based on tolerabilifine primary endpoint of
the trial is based on clinical outcomes as meashyetne to first occurrence of any of the followiadjudicated events: death
(all-cause), liver transplant, Model of End stageet Disease, or MELD, score greater than 15, hakpation due to variceal
bleeding, encephalopathy or spontaneous bacten#bpitis, uncontrolled ascites or hepatocellgarcinoma.

Nonalcoholic Steatohepatitis (NASH)

NASH is a common and serious chronic liver dise¢haedevelops in approximately one-third of NAFLBtipnts who have
excessive fat accumulation in the liver, refereag steatosis. In NASH patients, for reasonsatteass yet not completely
understood, steatosis and other factors such anmssistance induce chronic inflammation in filwer and may lead to
progressive fibrosis and cirrhosis, followed byrweal liver failure and death. NASH is believed®one of the most common
chronic liver diseases worldwide, with an estimagieglvalence of more than 10% of the general adydtfation in the United
States, with similar prevalence estimated in Eurdppan and other developed countries. AdditionBlASH has become a
highly prevalent liver disease in developing cogstsuch as India and China. According to receittegpiological studies, it is
estimated that more than 10% of the U.S. adult fadiom has NASH, with more than 60% of patientst¢ptially more than 14
million in total) believed to have liver fibrosis oirrhosis due to progression of the disease.oigh the prevalence of NASH
is lower in children, it has also become a seritigsase burden in the pediatric population. Thezearrently no drugs
approved for the treatment of NASH.
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NASH is caused by excessive fat accumulation irlittee, or steatosis, that induces inflammation aray lead to
progressive fibrosis and cirrhosis, followed byrgwal liver failure and death. Additionally, NASHE mow considered to be the
leading, and a rapidly increasing, cause of hegdltdar carcinoma, or primary liver cancer, of whiagp to 40% of cases in
NASH patients develop prior to developing cirrho§iher common co-existing conditions such as tpesid type 2 diabetes,
which afflict up to half of all NASH patients, aimportant risk factors in NASH.

While NASH is commonly associated with obesitygah also occur in non-obese patients and has béem lin both
developed and developing countries to the adomti@eWestern diet, with increased consumption otessed foods
containing polyunsaturated fatty acids and fruct@diovascular disease, cancer and liver fadueethe most common causes
of death in NASH patients. More than 20% of NASHigrats progress to cirrhosis within a decade ofjdissis and, with the
rapidly increasing prevalence of the disease, NA8kibecome the second most common reason fotriaresplant in the
United States and is projected to become the lgaddication for transplant in the next few yeargertaking both chronic
hepatitis C infection and alcoholic liver diseadASH patients have a ten-fold greater risk of livelated mortality as
compared to the general population and a six-fod@igr risk of liver-related mortality as compategbatients with less severe
NAFLD. The presence of type 2 diabetes in the beo&dAFLD population is associated with a much geeatortality risk,
with a 23-fold higher rate of liver-related mortglas compared to non-diabetic NAFLD patients.

Currently, a definitive diagnosis of NASH is baseda histologic assessment of a liver biopsy foess key features
associated with NASH, including, but not limited steatosis, lobular inflammation and hepatocyte®baing. However, non-
invasive methods of diagnosis are being exploredyuding transient elastography (an ultrasoundrteldgy approved in
Europe and more recently in the United Statesifemieasurement of liver fibrosis), magnetic resoaamaging and serum
biomarkers. We believe that further validation apgroval of non-invasive diagnostic and diseasgirsgamethods, as well as
the anticipated future regulatory approval of ndV&ISH therapies, will lead to a significant increas diagnosis and treatment
of patients with NASH.

Currently Available Treatment Options for NASH

There are currently no drugs approved for the tmeat of NAFLD or NASH. However, various therapestire used off-
label for the treatment of NASH, such as vitami(ak antioxidant), insulin sensitizers (e.g., metfir), antihyperlipidemic
agents (e.g., gemfibrozil), pentoxifylline and wiid. Lifestyle changes, including modification diet and exercise to reduce
body weight, as well as treatment of concomitaabdies and dyslipidemia, are commonly accepteldeastandard of care, but
have not conclusively been shown to prevent dispesgression.

NASH Unmet Medical Need

Although some of the off-label treatments descrialedve have been studied as possible treatmert$ABH, none has
been approved by the FDA or EMA as a treatmentHisrdisease. Currently, the outlook and treatrogtibns for end-stage
NASH patients are limited. Although liver transgi@an be curative, many patients fail to receig®aor organ in time, and for
those who do, there are very significant clinigsiks, such as infection and organ rejection, asage$ignificant costs. In
addition, the post-transplant recurrence rate oSNAas been shown to be as high as 25% at 18 m@itren the lack of
available treatment options, we believe that tlieeesignificant unmet need for a novel therapyN&SH, particularly in those
patients with advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis.

Our Solution: OCA for NASH
OCA's Potential Benefits in NASH

FXR activation has been shown to play a key rol@aéregulation of the metabolic pathways reletaNASH,
highlighting FXR as a potential drug target foratraent of the disease. Given the significant ummedical need of patients
with NASH, we believe that the potent ability of @@ activate FXR could result
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in a major clinical benefit through potential anoedition or reversal of liver fibrosis, inflammatisteatosis, and insulin
resistance. We believe that OCA has the potemtiptdvide the following benefits in the treatmehNASH:

» Efficacy. In addition to achieving the primary endpointtie Phase 2b FLINT trial in NASH patients, in arliea6-
week Phase 2 trial in diabetic NAFLD patients, O&ldo demonstrated an approximately 24.5% meandserzom
baseline in insulin sensitivity, compared to a 55f#an decrease in insulin sensitivity in the placgtoup, and
statistically significant weight loss from baseline

« Pharmacological Activity In animal models, sustained FXR activation witBAtreatment has resulted in the reversal
of liver fibrosis, the reversal of portal hypertems the prevention of atherosclerosis, and impnosets in triglycerides,
inflammation, steatosis and insulin sensitivity celithat lack functional FXR (so-called knockout @)ispontaneously
develop NASH accompanied by hypertriglyceridemid asulin resistance, and go on to develop hephideae
carcinoma, or primary liver cancer. We believe thatcombined mechanisms of FXR activation, couplid the
occurrence of NASH in animals lacking FXR, suppbet potential disease-modifying therapeutic po&tmti OCA in
directly addressing the underlying disease pathoiodgNASH.

« Ease of Use We anticipate seeking approval of OCA for thatneent of NASH at a single daily dose.

Phase 2 NASH Program for OCA
Phase 2 Trial: OCA as Therapy in Type 2 Diabetitiétds with NAFLD

We previously completed a double-blind, placebotiailed Phase 2 clinical trial of OCA in 64 typeliabetic patients with
NAFLD. We believe that a majority of the patiemghis trial were likely to have had NASH and, sohple steatosis, given
the disease’s association with obesity and diatsid$ased upon an evaluation of serum fibrosimaikers from trial
participants. In this trial, OCA therapy signifi¢gnimproved insulin sensitivity both in the livand peripheral tissues, thereby
meeting the primary endpoint in the trial with aanémprovement in liver insulin sensitization frdraseline of approximately
24.5% in the combined OCA dose groups, as comparadvorsening of approximately 5.5% in the placgbmup (p = 0.011).
Insulin resistance, particularly in the liver, @nsidered to be an important contributor to NASEkdse pathology. In this trial,
significant improvements in weight loss were alsted in patients receiving OCA therapy, along vintiprovements in liver
enzymes such as GGT and AST.

OCA was generally well-tolerated by the trial pat& with side effects in the treatment groupsmeaningfully different
than those reported on placebo (apart from mildstpation in the 50 mg group). Consistent with eipited FXR-related lipid
metabolic effects starting with the clearance afess lipid load from the liver, there were chanigesean serum lipid profiles
observed in the OCA treatment groups compared tvétplacebo group that included decreased contiemisaof triglycerides,
increased concentrations of LDL-C and slightly éesed concentrations of HDL-C from baseline. Inpublication of the
results, we observed that once-daily treatmensifoweeks at the 25 mg OCA dose, which we subsetyusgiected to advance
in our NASH development program, led to an appratety 12% decrease in mean triglycerides to 17@Imfsbm a baseline
mean level of 193 mg/dL, an approximately 22% iaseein mean LDL cholesterol to 120 mg/dL from aebias mean level of
98 mg/dL, and an approximately 5% decrease in rikin cholesterol to 35 mg/dL from a baseline meamlef 37 mg/dL.

Phase 2b FLINT Trial for NASH

OCA achieved the primary endpoint in the Phaseiabfor the treatment of NASH, known as the FLINTRI, which was
sponsored by the NIDDK, a part of the Nationalitosggs of Health. A significantly greater number@EA-treated patients also
achieved an improvement of at least one fibrosiges{35% vs 19%, p = 0.004), with OCA showing gree¢sponse rates as
compared to placebo across all stages of fibrégisr FLINT was completed in late July 2014, wedlised top-line results
from FLINT in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fbe quarter ended June 30, 2014 and the resulessubsequently
published online in theancetin November 2014. The summary of the FLINT triadukés described below
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are based on information and data provided to usé&WIDDK. This trial was a double-blind, placebontrolled trial of a
once-daily dose of 25 mg of OCA or placebo givan/ weeks in 283 patients with biopsy-proven NASH.

Primary Endpoint

The percentage of patients meeting the FLINT prynéstological endpoint, defined as a decreasaérNAFLD Activity
Score, or NAS, of at least two points with no ir=e in the fibrosis score following 72 weeks oatneent, was 45% in the
OCA treatment group and 21% in the placebo group @®0002, n = 219). The mean pre-treatment bas&liS for patients in
the OCA treatment group was 5.3 of a total possibtee of eight (comprised of hepatocellular bailag 0 — 2, lobular
inflammation 0 — 3 and steatosis 0 — 3). Subgrowgtyaes showed significant response rates in th& B&atment group in
patients with risk factors for disease progressiociuding baseline fibrosis stage, co-morbid tZpdiabetes mellitus, ALT,
insulin resistance and severe obesity (each factod.05 for OCA compared to placebo based on 9&8fidence interval of
published odds ratios). The graph below showsehalts of the primary endpoint in the FLINT tridathe improvements in
NAS for various subgroups published in trencet.

Primary Endpoint: Improvement in NAS by > Two Points with no Worsening of Fibrosis
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Beta Cell Loss 235 kg/m2

*  p<0.05, ***p <0.001. F-values calculated with the Cochran-Mantel-Haensesd, stratified by clinic and diabetes status.
Secondary Efficacy Endpoint: Fibrosis Improvement

A significantly greater number of OCA-treated pattealso achieved an improvement of at least dmmedis stage (35%
versus 19%, p = 0.004). Based on our retrospeatiadyses of the FLINT data, more OCA-treated p&ierhibited fibrosis
improvement of at least two fibrosis stages (156w 6%, not significant) and exhibited fibrosipmwvements regardless of
baseline fibrosis stage and a significantly greatenber of OCA-treated patients also achieved cetepksolution of fibrosis
(17% versus 5%, p = 0.0018). Also, our retrospectinalysis of the FLINT data showed that fewer O€&ated patients
progressed to bridging fibrosis (15% versus 18% sigmificant) or to cirrhosis (2% versus 5%, nigingficant). The NASH
clinical research network fibrosis staging systeaswsed to categorize the pattern of fibrosis achitectural remodeling of
the liver: no fibrosis (FO), perisinusoidal or pemnital fibrosis (F1), perisinusoidal and peripoftafosis (F2), bridging fibrosis
(F3) and cirrhosis (F4). Fibrosis sub-stages lariblc were considered F1 for the analysis.
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Secondary Efficacy Endpoint: NASH Resolution

The secondary endpoint of NASH resolution, based global histological assessment, also showedawepnent, although
not statistically significant (22% versus 13%, p.8832, not significant). A central reading oflzdiseline and end-of-trial
biopsies was performed at the end of the trialedas which only 80% of patients were confirmethave definite NASH,
while the remaining 20% were diagnosed as bordeNIASH (10%) or not-NASH (10%). A retrospective gtdup analysis on
the completer population comprised only of defilNi&®SH patients at baseline showed that a signiflgagreater number of
OCA-treated patients achieved NASH resolution camgavith placebo-treated patients (19% versus 8%0@278).

The graph below shows these results from the FLHNIT for fibrosis improvement, fibrosis resolutidibrosis progression
and NASH resolution.

FLINT Trial: Improvement in Histological Endpoints

Improvement in Fibrosis Fibrosis Progression NASH Resolution
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35%
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21 stage 22 stage Fibrosis Progressed to  Progressed to All All Completers
Improvement Improvement Resolution Bridging Cirrhosis Completers  with Definite
or Borderline
NASH at
Baseline
Intercept Retrospective Analysis* Intercept Retrospective

Subgroup Analysis*

*  p<0.05, *p < 0.01. F-values calculated with the Cochran-Mantel-Haens$zsi, stratified by clinic and diabetes status. NS
indicates that the results are not significant.

# Retrospective analyses after the unblinding ofltesian potentially introduce bias and regulatomtizorities typically give
greatest weight to results from |-specified analyses as compared to retrospectiatyaas.

Additional Secondary Endpoints

More OCA-treated patients experienced significargrovements in the major histological features ASM, including
steatosis (61% versus 38%, p = 0.001), lobulaainfhation (53% versus 35%, p = 0.006) and hepatdaeballooning (46%
versus 31%, p = 0.03), as compared to the placebtnient group. Trends were similar between thetteatment groups for
portal inflammation, which is not a component af tHAS and is typically mild in adult NASH patients.

The histological improvements observed in OCA-gdaiatients versus placebo were accompanied bifisag reductions
in relevant biochemical parameters, including & liver enzymes alanine aminotransferase (AL¥,000001), aspartate
aminotransferase (AST, p = 0.0001), gamma-glutarayisferase
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(GGT, p < 0.0001), each of which were above geheaakcepted normal limits at baseline, and tottdutiin (p = 0.002). A
modest but statistically significant increase ikatihe phosphatase (ALP, p < 0.0001) in the OCAttrent group was also
observed, but levels remained within typical noriimits.

OCA treatment was associated with serum lipid ckanmcluding average increases in total cholesterd LDL-C and an
average decrease in HDL-C, that developed withiwé&@ks of treatment initiation, then began reversimough the end of
treatment and returned to baseline during the 2dkwpest-treatment follow-up phase. Based on thbserwations, lipid
management was emphasized partway into the tealggenerally accepted guidelines. At 72 weekagpared to baseline,
the following effects were observed in the OCA tneant group: an increase in mean total choles{érd®b mmol/L or 6 mg/dL
increase OCA versus 0.19 mmol/L or 7mg/dL decr@émeebo, p < 0.0009), an increase in mean LDL-22@mol/L or 9
mg/dL increase OCA versus 0.22 mmol/L or 8 mg/dtrdase placebo, p < 0.0001), a decrease in meanCGi{@LO2 mmol/L
or 1 mg/dL decrease OCA versus 0.03 mmol/L or 1dingicrease placebo, p = 0.01) and a decreasggincerides (0.22
mmol/L or 20 mg/dL decrease OCA versus 0.08 mmot/Z mg/dL decrease placebo, p = 0.88, not signific We intend to
initiate a clinical trial in 2015 characterizingethipid metabolic effects of OCA and cholesterolnagement effects of
concomitant statin administration in NASH patients.

In the FLINT trial, statistically significant weigloss of an average of 2.3 kilograms was obseiv&ICA patients
compared to no weight loss in the placebo group @@08), and this weight loss reverted towardelas during the 24-week
follow-up phase. A pre-specified sensitivity anéysonducted by the investigators showed that vidigs was not a driver of
the primary endpoint. An increase in a marker gfdtie insulin resistance known as HOMA-IR (calcethtising the product of
fasting plasma insulin and glucose) was observ@@ ateeks in the OCA treatment group (p = 0.01)weleer, there was an
imbalance in baseline plasma insulin levels (20bIAnOCA versus 138 pmol/L placebo), and an evegdarelative and
absolute increase in HOMA-IR was observed in tiaegibo group at the conclusion of the 24-week follpaphase. This is
potentially attributable to the inherent varialyilih HOMA-IR measurements, particularly in patienith type 2 diabetes, that
have been shown to make single time-point to timietpchanges of this magnitude clinically unintefable. There were
virtually no changes in mean hemoglobin Alc, a memsf average blood sugar control over a periogppfoximately three
months, in either OCA or placebo groups at 72 wekeka previous study of OCA in diabetic NAFLD patts, described in
more detail above, employing the hyperinsulinemighgcemic insulin clamp, the gold standard for détey changes in insulin
resistance, OCA improved the glucose disposala@tsistent with reduced insulin resistance.

Safety and Tolerability

OCA was generally well tolerated in the FLINT tridldverse events were generally mild to moderateirerity and the
incidence in the OCA and placebo treatment grougss similar for all symptoms except pruritus. Pugiin the OCA treatment
group occurred more frequently (23% versus 6%0d€01), at a higher grade (predominantly modgyaigtus) but resulted
in only one patient discontinuation. The inciden€ésevere or life threatening events was not diffiébetween the two
treatment groups and most of the events in bothpggevere deemed to be unrelated to treatment,dmgiall severe or life
threatening cardiovascular events. As previousgldsed, two deaths occurred in the OCA treatmentgy but neither was
considered related to OCA treatment.

Phase 2 Sumitomo Dainippon Trial for NASH

In January 2014, our collaborator Sumitomo Dainippompleted enroliment of 200 patients in a doutiled, placebo-
controlled, parallel group Phase 2 NASH trial ipala This trial is evaluating the efficacy and paf# a once-daily 10 mg, 20
mg or 40 mg dose of OCA as compared to placeboayperiod of 72 weeks. The primary efficacy endpwirthe Sumitomo
Dainippon NASH trial is the same as that used @RhINT trial, and is based on histological improent as measured by a
two-point improvement in the NAS with no worsenindibrosis. In addition, histological scoring bdsen the Matteoni
scoring system, which has been shown to be coecbtatclinical outcomes, is planned as a secongladpoint. This trial is
anticipated to be completed by the end of 2015.
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NASH Regulatory Pathway

In January 2015, OCA received breakthrough thedgsjgnation from the FDA for the treatment of NAS&tients with
liver fibrosis. The breakthrough therapy designmatias created by the FDA to speed the availalwfityew therapies for
serious or life-threatening conditions. Drugs dyaig for this designation must show credible evide of a substantial
improvement on a clinically significant endpointen\available therapies, or over placebo if themigvailable therapy. The
breakthrough therapy designation constitutes orfeusfexpedited programs for serious conditionduiding accelerated
approval, priority review, and fast-track desigaatiall of which can also be granted to the samg drrelevant criteria are
met. The breakthrough therapy designation confareral benefits, including intensive FDA guidanod discussion and
eligibility for submission of a rolling NDA.

We are currently in discussions with regulatoradPhase 3 program for NASH. Subject to a detadgiew of the FLINT
trial results and completion of discussions with EDA and EMA, we currently believe that we willnctuct at least one Phase
3 clinical outcomes trial of OCA in NASH patientsat would incorporate an interim surrogate endpaimt that may serve as
the basis for filing for accelerated approval ia thnited States and approval in Europe. Patientddmben be followed for
confirmation of clinical benefit under acceleratggproval requirements. Examples of potential sat®gndpoints include the
use of histological improvement, using the NAS wother scoring system, or histological resolutibhNASH, or
improvements in fibrosis in pre-cirrhotic patiemtsh NASH, and examples of potential endpointsdaferm clinical benefit
include liver transplant-free survival or progressto cirrhosis. We expect to finalize the desifjpur Phase 3 clinical program
in NASH in the second quarter of 2015, subjechtodompletion of our regulatory discussions with BDA and the EMA, and
then initiate the clinical program.

Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis (PSC)

PSC is a rare, serious life-threatening, chronalestatic liver disease characterized by progressestruction of bile ducts
with eventual onset of cirrhosis and its complicasi. PSC has about one-third the prevalence of &@®iGnore than 60% of
cases occur in men.

PSC is usually diagnosed by preliminary assessofdivier biochemistry, with or without reported sptoms, and
confirmed by cholangiography, typically magnetisaeance cholangiopancreatography or endoscopagratte
cholangiopancreatography, or ERCP. ALP is elevatedost PSC patients, consistent with cholestasid, ALT and GGT are
also typically elevated, but not in all cases.mbin is often normal in early-stage PSC but insesawith progression of the
disease. The mean age at diagnosis is 40 yearsoXipgately 75% of PSC patients have overlappintamfmatory bowel
disease, principally ulcerative colitis.

Median survival for PSC patients has been prewoeslimated as 8 to 12 years from diagnosis in $ymatic patients,
depending upon stage of the disease at the tirdeghosis. Complications involving the biliary tr@e common and include
cholangitis as well as ductal strictures and gatiss, both of which may require frequent endoscopsgurgical interventions.
PSC is often complicated by the development of gnalncies, with cholangiocarcinoma being the mostroon.

Despite evaluation of multiple treatments, livemisplant is currently the only treatment showmtprove clinical
outcomes. Ursodiol is often used for the treatnoé®SC due to improvements in liver biochemistijofeing initiation of
therapy. Despite general biochemical improvemaentdiol has not been shown to improve transplage-furvival and, at high
doses, has been associated with increased rislefimus complications. However, as there are nooapp drugs for the
treatment of PSC, some physicians treat patieritswrsodiol, typically at a dose of 13 to 15 mgtlay. PSC is the fourth
leading indication for liver transplant. Howevéretpost-transplant recurrence rate of PSC hasdiemmn to be as high as 20%.

Phase 2 Trial: OCA as Therapy in PSC

In December 2014, we initiated an internationaldehclinical trial to evaluate the effects of 2deks of treatment with
varying doses of OCA compared to placebo in patienth PSC. The primary endpoint is the reductibeesum ALP levels, as
compared to placebo. In addition, OCA'’s effect tlmeo secondary liver function endpoints, as webysptoms of ulcerative
colitis (a disease occurring in a majority of patgewith PSC), will be assessed. This trial is@péted to enroll approximately
75 patients in the United States
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and Europe. Following the completion of the 24-wdekble-blind portion of the trial, patients wik lgiven the option to enroll
in an open-label long-term safety and efficacy esi@n trial.

Biliary Atresia

Biliary atresia is a life-threatening conditioniiriants in which the bile ducts inside or outsitle liver do not have normal
openings. With biliary atresia, bile becomes trapiilds up, and damages the liver. The damagis leascarring, loss of
liver tissue, and cirrhosis. The two types of bjliatresia are fetal and perinatal. Fetal biligrgsia appears while the baby is in
the womb. Perinatal biliary atresia is much mon@own and does not become evident until two to feeeks after birth. Some
infants, particularly those with the fetal formsalhave birth defects in the heart, spleen, osfimtes. Biliary atresia is rare and
only affects about one out of every 18,000 infafte disease is more common in females, prematbied and children of
Asian or African American heritage. Biliary atreganot an inherited disease and is most likelysedby an event in the womb
or around the time of birth. No single test canrdi¥ely diagnose biliary atresia, resulting iretheed for a series of tests. All
infants who still have jaundice two to three weaksr birth, or who have gray or white stools afteo weeks of birth, should
be checked for liver damage.

Once diagnosed, biliary atresia is treated witlver transplant or, more frequently, a surgeryezhthe Kasai procedure, in
which the bile ducts are connected directly tosimall intestine. After the Kasai procedure, sonferits continue to have liver
problems and, even with the return of bile flownsoinfants develop cirrhosis. Possible complicatiafter the Kasai procedure
include ascites, bacterial cholangitis, portal mgresion, and pruritus. Even after a successfubKsasrgery, most infants with
biliary atresia slowly develop cirrhosis over theays and require a liver transplant by adulthood.

We plan to initiate a Phase 2 clinical trial in j@dc patients with biliary atresia in the secdralf of 2015.

Other OCA Clinical Trials

The Translational Research and Evolving Alcoholepktitis Treatment, or TREAT, Consortium consistifigthe Mayo
Clinic Rochester, Indiana University, and Virgit@@mmonwealth University, in collaboration with tNational Institute on
Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, or NIAAA, have inited a Phase 2 clinical trial of OCA for the treattnef alcoholic hepatitis.
Indiana University is acting as the sponsor ofttfed. The trial is a randomized, double-blind, tzénter study designed to
assess the safety and efficacy of a once-daily db$6 mg of OCA compared to placebo over a peoiosix weeks in patients
with moderately severe alcoholic hepatitis. Thaicél trial is expected to enroll 60 patients.

The Sahlgrenska University Hospital in Sweden anspring and has initiated a placebo-controlle@se?a
pharmacodynamic trial of OCA in patients undergdiagatric surgery or gallstone surgery, called@@ABSGS trial. The
primary purpose of the trial is to evaluate theef§ of OCA on bile acid, lipid and glucose turnowe20 morbidly obese
patients and 20 gallstone patients who will be aistered a 25 mg dose of OCA or placebo once daiilthree weeks prior to
undergoing bariatric and gallstone surgery, respelgt Biopsies of the liver and abdominal fat atgery will determine if
OCA has an effect in these patients.

Potential Future Product Candidates

In addition to OCA, we are developing other novitd bcid analog compounds targeting FXR and a stdedicated bile
acid receptor called TGR5, which is a target ofriest for the treatment of type 2 diabetes and gfastrointestinal indications.
We intend to continue advancing these and othetymtoccandidates as we build our pipeline.

INT-767

INT-767 is an orally administered dual FXR and TGRf®nist that, like OCA, is derived from the primauman bile acid
CDCA. This product candidate has been shown tgppeoaimately three times more potent than OCA aB>R agonist. In
animal models of chronic liver, intestinal and legrdiseases, INT-767 has consistently demonstoatsater anti-fibrotic and
anti-inflammatory effects than OCA. We own exclesworldwide, royalty-free rights to INT-767.
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We currently plan to advance INT-767 through thecpnical studies required to support the advancerokthis product
candidate to an IND.

Subject to the IND becoming effective, we intendnitiate an open-label Phase 1 trial of INT-76hazlthy volunteers
around the end of 2015. The trial will evaluate shéety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of senghd multiple ascending
doses of INT-767.

INT-777

INT-777 is an orally administered TGR5 agonist tlsaterived from the primary human bile acid chalatd. We have
completed the preclinical studies necessary fofiling of an IND. We own exclusive worldwide, royafree rights to INT-
777.

Our in vitro studies of INT-777 showed that thedurot candidate has the potential to selectivelyelaf GR5, a receptor
that has been shown to directly regulate the releaglucagon like peptide-1, or GLP-1, in the gtitrge with resulting insulin
sensitizing effects. There are several importadteffective marketed drugs that enhance the eftdd®_P-1 through different
mechanisms, but none are able to induce the endaggoduction of this hormone, and we believestl®interest in the
potential for a TGR5 agonist to provide additiveéiits. TGR5 has also been shown in animal modeledulate other
metabolic pathways in brown fat and skeletal mui@é drive energy expenditure. The receptor mag play a role in the
control of inflammation, which is increased in itisuesistant diabetic conditions.

In animal models of diabetes, treatment with INT~fduced GLP-1 secretion, with resulting insukmsitivity and
normalization of glycemic control, increased basargy expenditure and prevention of weight gaid, areduction in blood
lipid levels together with liver steatosis and fibis. We believe that these preclinical resultdcceupport further development
of INT-777 and our other TGRS agonists in the tresit of type 2 diabetes, associated metabolic diéserand other
gastrointestinal indications. We intend to contideselopment of INT-777 through potential collatimmas with third parties,
over the next several years.

Strategic Collaborations and Research Arrangements

Sumitomo Dainippon Pharma

On March 29, 2011, we entered into a license ageeémith Sumitomo Dainippon Pharma Co. Ltd., ungkich we
granted Sumitomo Dainippon an exclusive licensesearch, develop and commercialize OCA as a thatiagfor the
treatment of PBC and NASH in Japan and China (ekefuTaiwan). Under the terms of the agreement,ifSuno Dainippon is
required to use commercially reasonable effortdeteelop and commercialize OCA in its licensed terigs for the treatment of
PBC and NASH, and we are obligated under the agereto use commercially reasonable efforts to dgv€lCA outside of
Sumitomo Dainippon’s licensed territories. We dso aesponsible for supplying Sumitomo Dainippothwvalinical and
commercial supply of OCA requested by Sumitomo p@on pursuant to clinical and commercial supplseagnents that
include terms specified in the agreement. SumitBaimippon has agreed during the term of the agraetoenot
commercialize any compound that is a FXR agonist$e in the treatment of PBC or NASH other tharspant to the
agreement.

We granted Sumitomo Dainippon an option under treement to obtain an exclusive license to comrakzei OCA for
indications other than PBC and NASH on the sanmmaders are set forth in the agreement. Sumitomoi@n may exercise
this option with respect to any indication at aimyet during the two-year period commencing on the da notify Sumitomo
Dainippon of the commencement of a Phase 3 clitizdlinvolving OCA for such indication, subject Sumitomo Dainippon’s
payment of an option fee for each additional intiara No option fee is required to be paid by Semio Dainippon if it
exercises its option for any additional indicatanly in China.

In addition to Japan and China, which are the pailgicensed territories, we also granted Sumit@amippon an option
under the agreement to add Korea, Taiwan, Malaysgnam, the Philippines, Thailand, Singapore anttidonesia to its
exclusive license on the same terms as are shtifothe agreement. Sumitomo Dainippon may exetbiseoption with respect
to any such country at any time up until the datevbich regulatory approval to commercialize OCAyiianted in Japan,
subject to Sumitomo Dainippon’s payment of an apfee for each country. If we accept or make a Hmleeoffer of exclusive
rights to a
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third party to develop and commercialize OCA in afyhese countries, we must first notify SumitoBainippon and
Sumitomo Dainippon has the right to exercise itsompwith respect to any such country. In additiprior to accepting or
making a bona fide offer of any exclusive developtand commercialization rights involving OCA iretbnited States and
Canada to a third party, we must first engage oddaith negotiations with Sumitomo Dainippon wiefspect to the grant to
Sumitomo Dainippon of exclusive rights to develop @ommercialize OCA in such countries. In May 2084mitomo
Dainippon exercised its option to add Korea tdiésnsed territories.

Sumitomo Dainippon made up-front payments to uhénamount of $16.0 million, including $1.0 milliapon the exercise
of its option to add Korea to its licensed teriigsr In addition, Sumitomo Dainippon may be reqiitieepay us up to an
aggregate of approximately $30.0 million for th@iagement of development milestones, $70.0 milfarthe achievement of
regulatory approval milestones and $200.0 millionthe achievement of sales milestones based aegafg sales amounts. As
of March 2, 2015, we have achieved $1.0 milliothef development milestones. Sumitomo Dainipporisis abligated to pay
us tiered royalties ranging from the tens to thertties in percent based on net sales of OCA preducapan and the other
Asian countries covered by this agreement. The tdrtne agreement, and Sumitomo Dainippon’s ohiligato pay royalties to
us for each OCA product, expires on a country-byntxy basis on the later of the expiration of thelesivity period in such
country, whether through the expiration of appllegtatents or the introduction of generic drugs doepete with the OCA
product, or ten years after the first commerciéd s such OCA product for the first or second @adion in that country.
Royalty rates are subject to reduction under thieeagent in specified circumstances, including, \néi$pect to any country in
the exclusive territory, if sales of generic produeach a certain threshold market share in thattcy over a specified period.

Sumitomo Dainippon may terminate the agreemernsieritirety or on a country-by-country or indicatioy-indication
basis upon 90 days’ written notice. Either we om&amo Dainippon may terminate the agreement iretrent of the uncured
material breach by or bankruptcy of the other patypject to certain dispute resolution procedufeSumitomo Dainippon
were to terminate the agreement for our materigddin, it would have a perpetual license followimg ¢ffective date of
termination, subject to the payment by Sumitomanipgion of a royalty based on net sales of OCA petgjihe amount of
which will depend on whether the effective datéevmination occurs prior to or after the date oftftommercial sale of an
OCA product. If we were to terminate the agreenfi@nSumitomo Dainippon’s material breach or if Stormo Dainippon were
to voluntarily terminate the agreement, Sumitomnippon’s license under the agreement would terteina

Commercialization

Given our stage of development, we are in the esalges of establishing a commercial organizati@hdistribution
capabilities. In the United States and Europe,tduke nature of chronic liver diseases and théeinoptions for treatment,
patients suffering from diseases such as PBC aidghysicians generally are well informed and mftave a high degree of
organization, which may make it easier to identdfyget populations if and when OCA is approved®#BIC and subsequently
for other indications. We believe that the marketthe treatment of PBC, NASH and other indicatisns specialty care
market driven by key opinion leaders in the hemaipland gastroenterology fields. Most patientstee@ted by physicians who
specialize in the treatment of liver disease, iditig hepatologists and certain gastroenterologistsendocrinologists.

Our current plan is to commercialize OCA ourselvethe United States and Europe if it is approwe. anticipate that our
commercialization efforts will include our interredmmercial organization, sales people and othegialfists, and other
contracted outside resources. Outside of the Uiditates and Europe, subject to obtaining necessarieting approvals, we
likely will seek to commercialize OCA through dibtition or other collaboration arrangements.

If OCA is approved for the treatment of patientsmRBC, we believe that it will be possible to coernialize OCA for this
indication with a relatively small specialty satgganization in the United States and Europe tlmtldvtarget a limited and
focused group of specialist physicians. As a resfuttur ongoing clinical work, we have been engaigedialogue with
specialists who treat patients with PBC. We believe
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that these activities have provided us with a gngwknowledge of the physicians we plan to targetéommercial launch of
OCA for PBC, subject to marketing approval in theitedd States and Europe. We intend to leveragenfrastructure and
capabilities of our PBC-focused specialty salespization during our pre-commercial preparationtfi@ commercialization of
OCA in NASH and other potential indications, if apyped for these indications. Though we are contiguiur market research
and other pre-commercial planning for OCA in NAS¥¢ currently anticipate that we would require géarspecialty sales
organization that would target a broader groupegfatologists, gastroenterologists and other spgisidbcused on NASH if we
receive marketing approval for this indication.

We exclusively licensed rights to OCA to Sumitomairidppon in Japan, China and Korea, along with@ioa to expand
this exclusive license into certain other Asianrdoies. We will rely on Sumitomo Dainippon to conmeialize OCA in its
territory.

Competition

The biopharmaceutical industry is characterizethbgnse competition and rapid innovation. Althowgg believe that we
hold a leading position in bile acid chemistry, competitors may be able to develop other compoondsugs that are able to
achieve similar or better results. Our potentiahpetitors include major multinational pharmaceuteampanies, established
biotechnology companies, specialty pharmaceuticadpanies and universities and other researchuitistis. Smaller or early-
stage companies may also prove to be significampetitors, particularly through collaborative agaments with large,
established companies. We believe the key comyefitictors that will affect the development and owercial success of our
product candidates are efficacy, safety and toikitsaprofile, reliability, convenience of dosingrice, the level of generic
competition and reimbursement.

Our most advanced product candidate, OCA, is ctlyréring developed as a second line treatmerPRE. Currently,
ursodiol is the only therapy that is approved far treatment of PBC and is generically available significantly lower cost
than branded products. Off-label use of fibrategdriias been reported in PBC, though many fibragesgecifically
contraindicated for use in primary biliary cirrhesiue to potential concerns over acute and long-safety in this patient
population. An investigator-sponsored Phase 3adirtial of bezafibrate, a fibrate that has narbepproved for
commercialization by the FDA and is only availablgside of the United States, is currently ongolbg.Falk Pharma GmbH,
which markets ursodiol, is conducting a Phaser8azl trial of combination ursodiol and budesonideteroid, as a treatment
for PBC. Bristol-Myers Squibb Company is conductargopen-label clinical trial in 20 patients ofambination of ursodiol
and abatacept, an anti-CTLA4 fusion protein cutyemiarketed for the treatment of rheumatoid arigyréis a treatment for
PBC. Shire plc is conducting a Phase 2 clinical tri 60 patients of a combination of ursodiol 8tdP625, formerly known as
LUMOO01, an apical sodium-dependent bile acid trangp inhibitor, as a treatment for PBC. NGM Biophaceuticals is
conducting a Phase 2 clinical trial in 45 patiesfta combination of ursodiol and NGM282, an engirdenalog of fibroblast
growth factor 19. FF Pharmaceuticals BV is condigct Phase 1/2 clinical trial in 24 subjects obmbination of ursodiol and
FFP104, a CD40-antagonist monoclonal antibody. Weaware of several companies that have annouhegdritentions to
develop products for the treatment of PBC includitigireo AB and Virobay, Inc.

There are currently no therapeutic products apmtéeethe treatment of NASH, NAFLD, portal hypersém,
complications of cirrhosis or alcoholic hepatififiere are several marketed therapeutics that arently used off-label for the
treatment of NASH, such as vitamin E (an antioxtjlansulin sensitizers (e.g., metformin), antihgiimdemic agents (e.g.,
gemfibrozil), pentoxifylline and ursodiol, but nohas been clearly shown in clinical trials to stesignificant reversal in liver
fibrosis. Gilead Sciences, Inc. is conducting tvna$e 2 clinical trials in approximately 225 patgewith NASH of
simtuzumab, an anti-body against the lysyl oxiddse?2 enzyme. Genfit SA is conducting a Phasearfiadl trial in 275
patients with NASH of GFT505, a dual PPAR alpha#labonist. We are aware of several other compémgdave product
candidates in Phase 2 clinical or earlier stagelipieal development for the treatment of NASH,lirding Raptor
Pharmaceutical Corp., Galmed Medical Research Naolp Nordisk A/S, Immuron Ltd., Takeda Pharmaa=itCo Ltd,
Conatus Pharmaceuticals Inc., Galectin TherapelrttccsGenkyotex SA, Kadmon Corporation LLC, KalypsTobira
Therapeutics, Inc., La Jolla Pharmaceutical Comphfadrigal Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Mochida Pharmacal.Co., Ltd.,
NasVax Ltd, Shire plc, Viking Therapeutics, Incdafirobay, Inc.
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Although there are currently no other drugs appddee the treatment of PBC, we are aware of otenganies, including
Eli Lilly and Co., Exelixis, Inc. and Gilead Sciers; Inc., that have FXR agonists in Phase 2 oieeathges of clinical or
preclinical development that could be used to tRE&E, NASH and the other liver diseases we arestag.

While there is no approved treatment for PSC, udddsl often prescribed off-label for PSC patie&e are aware of
several companies that have product candidatesaseP2 clinical or earlier stage preclinical depeient for the treatment of
PSC, including Biotie Therapies Corp., Dr. Falk i@ GmbH, Gilead Sciences, Inc. and Shire plc.

We believe that OCA offers key potential advantamesr ursodiol and other products in developmeat ¢tould enable
OCA, if approved for these indications, to captureaningful market share. However, many of our pakoompetitors have
substantially greater financial, technical and hnmesources than we do, as well as greater experiarthe discovery and
development of product candidates, obtaining FD@A ather regulatory approvals of products and threroercialization of
those products. Accordingly, our competitors mayrmee successful than us in obtaining approval filoenFDA or from other
regulators for drugs and achieving widespread ntageeptance. Our competitors’ drugs may be mdeetafe, or more
effectively marketed and sold, than any productizdate we may commercialize and may render ourymochndidates
obsolete or non-competitive before we can recdweekpenses of their development and commerciaizat/e anticipate that
we will face intense and increasing competitiomew drugs enter the market and other advanceddkigias become
available. Finally, the development of new treattmaathods for the diseases we are targeting ceulder our product
candidates non-competitive or obsolete. In additiam ability to compete may be affected becauseany cases insurers or
other third-party payors seek to encourage thefigeneric products.

Intellectual Property

The proprietary nature of, and protection for, praduct candidates and our discovery programs ggsss and know-how
are important to our business. We have sought pptetection in the United States and internatilyriair OCA, INT-767 and
INT-777, and our discovery programs, and otheritieas to which we have rights, where available when appropriate. Our
policy is to pursue, maintain and defend paterttsigwhether developed internally or licensed ftaird parties, and to protect
the technology, inventions and improvements thatcammercially important to the development of lbusiness. We also rely
on trade secrets that may be important to the dpwant of our business.

Our commercial success will depend in part on olrigiand maintaining patent protection and trasdeeterotection of our
current and future product candidates and the rdstbeed to develop and manufacture them, as well@essfully defending
these patents against third-party challenges. Bilityato stop third parties from making, using|lsgy, offering to sell or
importing our products depends on the extent takviiie have rights under valid and enforceable paimntrade secrets that
cover these activities. We cannot be sure thanfateill be granted with respect to any of our pegdgatent applications or
with respect to any patent applications filed byruthe future, nor can we be sure that any ofesisting patents or any patents
that may be granted to us in the future will be o@rially useful in protecting our product candetatdiscovery programs and
processes. For this and more comprehensive ritdgdeto our intellectual property, please see Itém“Risk Factors — Risks
Relating to Our Intellectual Property.”

OCA (first-in-class FXR agonist)

The patent portfolio for OCA contains patents aatépt applications directed to compositions of erathanufacturing
methods, and methods of use. As of December 34,204 owned six U.S. patents, four pending U.Semtapplications, and
corresponding foreign patents and patent applicgtiBoreign patents have been granted in EuropgtiiauBelgium, Bulgaria,
Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finl&mdnce, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireldaly, Liechtenstein,
Lithuania, Luxembourg, Monaco, Netherlands, NorvRgland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Sloveniajr§f@wveden,
Switzerland, Turkey and the United Kingdom), Au&aCanada, China, Israel, Japan, and Macao. \peatthe composition
of matter patents, if the appropriate maintenarex@wal, annuity or other governmental fees are, paiexpire in 2022
(worldwide). It is possible that the term of therguosition of matter patent in the United States magxtended up to five
additional years under the provisions of the DragePCompetition
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and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, or theh&tVaxman Act. Patent term extension may be aJailiabcertain foreign
countries upon regulatory approval. We expect thergpatents and patent applications, if issuetheérportfolio, and if the
appropriate maintenance, renewal, annuity, or ajbgernmental fees are paid, to expire from 20220@83.

INT-767 (dual FXR/TGR5 agonist)

The patent portfolio for INT-767 contains patemsl patent applications directed to compositionsiafter and methods of
use. As of December 31, 2014, we owned two U.&npgttwo pending U.S. patent applications, ancesponding foreign
patents and patent applications. Foreign patens been granted in Australia, China, Europe (AasBelgium, Bulgaria,
Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finl&mdnce, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireldaly, Liechtenstein,
Lithuania, Luxembourg, Monaco, Netherlands, NorwRgland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia, Sloveniajisgwveden,
Switzerland, Turkey, and the United Kingdom), I$ra®d Japan. We expect the issued composition temgatent in the U.S.,
if the appropriate maintenance, renewal, annuitytber governmental fees are paid, to expire ird2G4s possible that the
term of the composition of matter patent in thetelahiStates may be extended up to five additioraisyender the provisions of
the Hatch-Waxman Act. We expect the foreign contfmrsbf matter patents, if the appropriate maintexega renewal, annuity
or other governmental fees are paid, to expirédRi72 Patent term extension may be available irmireforeign countries upon
regulatory approval. We expect the other paterdspatent applications, if issued, in the portfoliad if the appropriate
maintenance, renewal, annuity or other governméesal are paid, to expire from 2027 to 2033. Weehraceived assignments
of rights to the INT-767 patent portfolio from &alventors, with the exception of one inventor. Tinaentor is contractually
obligated to provide an assignment to us. Thush&lieve that we are the owner of the INT-767 papemtfolio by virtue of this
contractual obligation and the patent assignmepthave received.

INT-777 (TGRS5 agonist)

The patent portfolio for INT-777 contains patemsl @atent applications directed to compositionsiafter and methods of
use. As of December 31, 2014, we owned three tengs, two pending U.S. patent applications, amoesponding foreign
patents and patent applications. Foreign patens been granted in Australia, China, Eurasia (Arimehzerbaijan, Belarus,
Kyrgyz Republic, Kazakhstan, Moldova, Russian Fatien, Tajikistan and Turkmenistan), Europe (AastBelgium,
Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Icelagiédnd, Italy, Luxembourg, Monaco, NetherlandsyMay, Poland,
Portugal, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey ard_thited Kingdom), Hong Kong, Japan, Mexico andtBdfrica. We
expect the composition of matter patent in the é&thBtates, if the appropriate maintenance, renanality or other
governmental fees are paid, to expire in 203 ftassible that the term of the composition of ergiitent in the United States
may be extended up to five additional years unigieiprovisions of the Hatch-Waxman Act. We expeetftdreign composition
of matter patents, if the appropriate maintenarer@wal, annuity or other governmental fees aré, paiexpire beginning in
2028. Patent term extension may be available imiceforeign countries upon regulatory approval. pect the other patents
and patent applications, if issued, in the portfadind if the appropriate maintenance, renewalyignor other governmental
fees are paid, to expire from 2028 to 2029.

Trade Secrets

In addition to patents, we rely on trade secretskarow-how to develop and maintain our competipesition. Trade
secrets and know-how can be difficult to protece ¥éek to protect our proprietary processes, i) pgiconfidentiality
agreements and invention assignment agreement®uitbmployees, consultants, scientific advisasstractors and
commercial partners. These agreements are desigmpedtect our proprietary information. We alsokseepreserve the
integrity and confidentiality of our data, tradess and know-how by maintaining physical secuwftpur premises and
physical and electronic security of our informattenhnology systems.

Manufacturing

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilitiesthe production of any of our product candidates,do we have plans
to develop our own manufacturing operations inftineseeable future. We currently rely on third-pantract manufacturers
for all of our required raw materials, active phaomutical
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ingredient, or API, and finished product for cliaidrials and preclinical studies that we are caritdig and plan to conduct prior
to and after seeking regulatory approval. We areeatly seeking to contract to qualify a back-upl ARanufacturer. We obtain
these supplies and services from each of theskhities on a purchase order basis. We do notlbageterm agreements with
any of these third parties. We also do not havecamsent contractual relationships for the manufeecbf commercial supplies
of any of our product candidates if they are apptbvis OCA and any of our other product candidedeginue to progress
towards potential regulatory approval, we intenétiter into agreements with a third-party contraahufacturer and one or
more back-up manufacturers for the commercial petdn of those products. Development and commegtiahtities of any
products that we develop will need to be manufactun facilities, and by processes, that comphlie requirements of the
FDA and the regulatory agencies of other jurisditsiin which we are seeking approval. We curregtiploy internal
resources to manage our manufacturing contractors.

Government Regulation and Product Approval

Government authorities in the United States, afederal, state and local level, and analogousoaitiés in other countries
extensively regulate, among other things, the rebedevelopment, testing, manufacture, labelimgkpging, promotion,
storage, advertising, distribution, marketing argaet and import of products such as those we aveldping. Our product
candidates must be approved by the FDA througiNihA process before they may be legally marketeithénUnited States
and by the EMA through the MAA process before thgy be legally marketed in Europe. Our product @atds will be
subject to similar requirements in other countgeser to marketing in those countries. The proe#ssbtaining regulatory
approvals and the subsequent compliance with agipédederal, state, local and foreign statutesragdlations require the
expenditure of substantial time and financial reses.

United States Government Regulation
NDA Approval Processes

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs utfdeFederal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or thEA, and
implementing regulations. An applicant seeking appfto market and distribute a new drug produ¢ch@United States must
typically undertake the following:

« completion of preclinical laboratory tests, anistadies and formulation studies in compliancenufite FDA'’s good
laboratory practice, or GLP, regulations;

e submission to the FDA of an IND, which must t&kect before human clinical trials may begin;

« approval by an independent institutional revievatal, or IRB, representing each clinical site befeach clinical trial
may be initiated;

» performance of adequate and well-controlled husigical trials in accordance with good clinicabptices, or GCP, to
establish the safety and efficacy of the proposed groduct for each indication;

e preparation and submission to the FDA of an NDA,;
* review of the product by an FDA advisory comn@tteshere appropriate or if applicable;

» satisfactory completion of one or more FDA ingfmets of the manufacturing facility or facilities &hich the product,
or components thereof, are produced to assess @omo@lwith current Good Manufacturing Practices;®@MP,
requirements and to assure that the facilitieshods and controls are adequate to preserve thegtedlentity,
strength, quality and purity;

» satisfactory completion of FDA audits of clinidahl sites to assure compliance with GCP andrttegrity of the
clinical data;

« payment of user fees and securing FDA approvéi@NDA; and

« compliance with any post-approval requirememtsluiding Risk Evaluation and Mitigation StrategiesREMS, and
post-approval outcomes studies required by the FDA.

21




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Once a pharmaceutical candidate is identified &metbpment, it enters the preclinical or nonclihteating stage.
Nonclinical tests include laboratory evaluationgpafduct chemistry, toxicity and formulation, aslivees animal studies. An
IND sponsor must submit the results of the noncéihiests, together with manufacturing informatam analytical data, to the
FDA as part of the IND. Some nonclinical testingyneantinue even after the IND is submitted. In &ddito including the
results of the nonclinical studies, the IND wilsalinclude a protocol detailing, among other thjnige objectives of the clinical
trial, the parameters to be used in monitoringtgadad the effectiveness criteria to be evaluatéuki first phase lends itself to
an efficacy determination. The IND automaticallctmes effective 30 days after receipt by the FD#Aess the FDA, within
the 30-day time period, places the IND on clinteald. In such a case, the IND sponsor and the FD&tmesolve any
outstanding concerns before clinical trials canifedy clinical hold may occur at any time duringethife of an IND, and may
affect one or more specific studies or all studesducted under the IND.

All clinical trials must be conducted under the exyision of one or more qualified investigatorsotordance with GCPs.
They must be conducted under protocols detailiegothjectives of the trial, dosing procedures, neseaubject selection and
exclusion criteria and the safety and effectivermeseria to be evaluated. Each protocol must terstited to the FDA as part of
the IND, and progress reports detailing the stafuke clinical trials must be submitted to the FBAnually. Sponsors also
must timely report to FDA serious and unexpecteceesk reactions, any clinically important increesthe rate of a serious
suspected adverse reaction over that listed iptb&col or investigation brochure, or any findirigen other studies or animal
or in vitro testing that suggest a significant riskhumans exposed to the drug. An institutionalew board, or IRB, at each
institution participating in the clinical trial museview and approve the protocol before a clinidal commences at that
institution and must also approve the informatiegarding the trial and the consent form that megtrovided to each research
subject or the subject’s legal representative, motiie study until completed and otherwise convgly IRB regulations.

Human clinical trials are typically conducted imgh sequential phases that may overlap or be ceaibin

* Phase 1 The drug is initially introduced into healthy hamsubjects and tested for safety, dosage tolerabserptior
metabolism, distribution and elimination. In theseaf some products for severe or life-threatedisgases, such as
cancer, especially when the product may be inhigresa toxic to ethically administer to healthy uateers, the initial
human testing is often conducted in patients.

* Phase 2 Clinical trials are performed on a limited patipopulation intended to identify possible advezfects and
safety risks, to preliminarily evaluate the effigasf the product for specific targeted diseasestardetermine dosage
tolerance and optimal dosage.

* Phase 3 Clinical trials are undertaken to further evatudbsage, clinical efficacy and safety in an expdrmhatient
population at geographically dispersed clinicatigtsites. These studies are intended to establisbwverall risk-benefit
ratio of the product and provide an adequate Basjgroduct labeling.

Human clinical trials are inherently uncertain &tthse 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 testing may notdessiutly completed.
The FDA or the sponsor may suspend a clinical &ti@ny time for a variety of reasons, includirfinding that the research
subjects or patients are being exposed to an uptatie health risk. Similarly, an IRB can suspenteaninate approval of a
clinical trial at its institution if the clinicalial is not being conducted in accordance withlRB'’s requirements or if the drug
has been associated with unexpected serious hapatiemts. In some cases, clinical trials are memrdy an independent group
of qualified experts organized by the trial sponsorthe clinical monitoring board or Data Safetpiitoring Board, or DSMB.
This group provides authorization for whether or adrial may move forward at designated check {soifihese decisions are
based on the limited access to data from the oggoial.

During the development of a new drug, sponsorgaen opportunities to meet with the FDA at certa@ints. These points
may be prior to the submission of an IND, at thé ehPhase 2 and before an NDA is submitted. Mgstat other times may
be requested. These meetings can provide an opggrtar the sponsor to share information aboutdata gathered to date and
for the FDA to provide advice on the next
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phase of development. Sponsors typically use tretingeat the end of Phase 2 to discuss their Phalgical results and
present their plans for the pivotal Phase 3 clirtital that they believe will support the approwdithe new drug. If a Phase 2
clinical trial is the subject of discussion at #rel of Phase 2 meeting with the FDA, a sponsorlmeagble to request a Special
Protocol Assessment, or SPA, the purpose of wisith reach agreement with the FDA on the Phasmi8all trial protocol
design and analysis that will form the primary basfian efficacy claim.

According to published guidance on the SPA procsponsor which meets the prerequisites may makedific request
for a SPA and provide information regarding theigiesind size of the proposed clinical trial. TheAHS supposed to evaluate
the protocol within 45 days of the request to assdgether the proposed trial is adequate, ancetltation may result in
discussions and a request for additional inforrmatfo SPA request must be made before the propostteégins, and all open
issues must be resolved before the trial begirswifitten agreement is reached, it will be docure@émnd made part of the
record. The agreement will be binding on the FDA aray not be changed by the sponsor or the FDA tiféetrial begins
except with the written agreement of the sponsdrtha FDA or if the FDA determines that a subs#drsttientific issue
essential to determining the safety or efficacyhefdrug was identified after the testing began.

Concurrent with clinical trials, sponsors usualymplete additional animal safety studies and aés@kbp additional
information about the chemistry and physical chiargstics of the drug and finalize a process fonafacturing commercial
quantities of the product in accordance with cGM&uirements. The manufacturing process must bebapéconsistently
producing quality batches of the drug and the maetufer must develop methods for testing the gyaditrity and potency of
the drug. Additionally, appropriate packaging mustselected and tested and stability studies neusbbducted to demonstrate
that the drug candidate does not undergo unacdeptaterioration over its proposed shelf-life.

The results of product development, nonclinicatigs and clinical trials, along with descriptioriglte manufacturing
process, analytical tests and other control meshasiproposed labeling and other relevant inforwnadre submitted to the
FDA as part of an NDA requesting approval to matketproduct. The submission of an NDA is subjet¢he payment of user
fees, but a waiver of such fees may be obtainednspkcified circumstances. The FDA reviews all M&bmitted to ensure
that they are sufficiently complete for substantieeiew before it accepts them for filing. It maquest additional information
rather than accept an NDA for filing. In this evethie NDA must be resubmitted with the additiomérmation. The
resubmitted application also is subject to reviefiobe the FDA accepts it for filing.

Once the submission is accepted for filing, the Ri2yins an in-depth review. NDAs receive eithendgad or priority
review. A drug representing a significant improvetnever available therapies in treatment, preventiodiagnosis of disease
may receive priority review. The FDA may refuseafiprove an NDA if the applicable regulatory cri¢eeare not satisfied or
may require additional clinical or other data. Evfesuch data are submitted, the FDA may ultimatidgide that the NDA does
not satisfy the criteria for approval. The FDA mws an NDA to determine, among other things, whedh@oduct is safe and
effective for its intended use and whether its nfiacturing is cGMP-compliant. The FDA may refer tHBA to an advisory
committee for review and recommendation as to wdretie application should be approved and undet wedraitions. The
FDA is not bound by the recommendation of an adyisommittee, but it generally follows such reconmuations. Before
approving an NDA, the FDA will inspect the facility facilities where the product is manufactured tested.

Fast Track, Breakthrough Therapy, Priority Revienda\ccelerated Approval

The FDA is authorized to designate certain prodimtexpedited review if they are intended to addran unmet medical
need in the treatment of a serious or life-thraatedisease or condition. These programs are riask designation,
breakthrough therapy designation and priority neniesignation.

Specifically, the FDA may designate a product &stftrack review if it is intended, whether aloménocombination with
one or more other drugs, for the treatment of eseror life-threatening disease or condition, @mtmonstrates the potential
to address unmet medical needs for such a disezemdition. For fast track products, sponsors imaye greater interactions
with the FDA and the FDA may initiate review of 8ens of a fast track product’'s NDA before the aggtion is complete.
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A product may also be designated as a breakthrtheghpy if it is intended, either alone or in condiion with one or more
other drugs, to treat a serious or life-threatewdisgase or condition and preliminary clinical e@ride indicates that the product
may demonstrate substantial improvement over exjstierapies on one or more clinically significantipoints, such as
substantial treatment effects observed early maai development. The FDA may take certain actisitl respect to
breakthrough therapies, including holding meetiwgh the sponsor throughout the development progessiding timely
advice to the product sponsor regarding developmetitapproval; involving more senior staff in tegiew process; assigning
a cross-disciplinary project lead for the revieante and taking other steps to design the clinigalstin an efficient manner. In
January 2015, OCA received breakthrough therapigdation from the FDA for the treatment of NASH ipats with liver
fibrosis.

The FDA may also designate a product for priorétyiew if it is a drug that treats a serious conditand, if approved,
would provide a significant improvement in safetyeffectiveness. The FDA determines, on a caseasg-basis, whether the
proposed drug represents a significant improveméen compared with other available therapies. Arfiyi designation is
intended to direct overall attention and resoutodle evaluation of such applications, and to temothe FDA'’s goal for taking
action on a marketing application from ten monthsix months.

In addition, the FDA may grant accelerated appréwal drug for a serious or life-threatening candithat provides
meaningful therapeutic advantage to patients oxistieg treatments based upon a determinationttigatirug has an effect on a
surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely talfmteclinical benefit. The FDA may also grant aerated approval for such a
condition when the product has an effect on animéeliate clinical endpoint that can be measurelicesinan an effect on
irreversible morbidity or mortality, or IMM, andahis reasonably likely to predict an effect oewersible morbidity or
mortality or other clinical benefit, taking intoamunt the severity, rarity, or prevalence of thadition and the availability or
lack of alternative treatments. Drugs granted &raétd approval must meet the same statutory sséta safety and
effectiveness as those granted traditional apprdwahe case of unprecedented accelerated appeadabints, this
determination occurs during the review of the ND/less otherwise informed by the FDA, an applicanst submit to the
FDA for consideration during the preapproval revigeviod copies of all promotional materials, inéchgipromotional labeling
as well as advertisements, intended for dissenoinati publication within 120 days following markediapproval. After 120
days following marketing approval, unless othervitgermed by the FDA, the applicant must submitrpotional materials at
least 30 days prior to the intended time of initilsemination of the labeling or initial publicatiof the advertisement.

We currently plan to seek accelerated approval@A@or the treatment of PBC based on the resultsuofPOISE trial and
have initiated our rolling NDA submission, which wmend to complete within the first half of 20¥&s part of our strategy for
filing the NDA under the accelerated approval patiwe initiated a clinical outcomes confirmatangltfor OCA in PBC in
December 2014, following discussions with the FBVe do not expect completion of this trial to beoadition to the receipt
of marketing approval and, as a result, plan toglete the trial following our receipt of marketingproval. Approval of a drug
may be withdrawn if trials fail to verify clinicddenefit or do not demonstrate sufficient clinicahbfit to justify the risks
associated with the drug (e.g., show a signifigasithaller magnitude or duration of benefit than wascipated based on the
observed effect on the surrogate).

Post-approval Requirements

Drugs manufactured or distributed pursuant to FIppravals are subject to pervasive and continuigglegion by the
FDA, including, among other things, requirementatieg to recordkeeping, periodic reporting, prodseimpling and
distribution, advertising and promotion and repagtof adverse experiences with the product. Onaganoval is granted, the
FDA may withdraw the approval if compliance witlgutatory requirements is not maintained or if pewb$ occur after the
product reaches the market. Later discovery ofipusly unknown problems with a product may resultdstrictions on the
product or even complete withdrawal of the produmin the market. After approval, some types of ¢eato the approved
product, such as adding new indications, manufaxgurhanges and additional labeling claims, arg¢estitto further FDA
review and approval. In addition, the FDA may reguesting and surveillance programs to
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monitor the effect of approved products that haaerbcommercialized, and the FDA has the powerdwgnt or limit further
marketing of a product based on the results oktipest-marketing programs.

Drug manufacturers and other entities involvechmmanufacture and distribution of approved drugsequired to register
their establishments with the FDA and certain saajencies, and are subject to periodic unannounseéctions by the FDA
and some state agencies for compliance with cGMPo#rer laws. Changes to the manufacturing proaesstrictly regulated
and often require prior FDA approval before beimplemented. FDA regulations also require invesigeand correction of
any deviations from cGMP and impose reporting anclichentation requirements upon the sponsor andhénayparty
manufacturers that the sponsor may decide to userdingly, manufacturers must continue to expéme tmoney, and effort
in the area of production and quality control tamtein cGMP compliance.

Failure to comply with the applicable U.S. requists at any time during the product developmentgss or approval
process, or after approval, may subject us to adtréive or judicial sanctions, any of which cotlave a material adverse
effect on us.

These sanctions could include:

« refusal to approve pending applications;

¢ withdrawal of an approval;

« imposition of a clinical hold;

e warning letters;

e product seizures;

» total or partial suspension of production or rilisttion; or

e injunctions, fines, disgorgement, or civil orminal penalties.

The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, edising and promotion of products that are plamethe market. Drugs
may be promoted only for the approved indicatiamd ia accordance with the provisions of the apptdebel. The FDA and
other agencies actively enforce the laws and réignk prohibiting the promotion of off-label usesid a company that is found
to have improperly promoted off-label uses mayuigext to significant liability.

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on thiadtigs for the production of clinical and commergaantities of our
products. Future FDA and state inspections maytiiyezompliance issues at the facilities of our tant manufacturers that
may disrupt production or distribution, or requsrgstantial resources to correct.

From time to time, legislation is drafted, introédcand passed in Congress that could significahtiyige the statutory
provisions governing the approval, manufacturind ararketing of products regulated by the FDA. Iditadn, FDA
regulations and guidance are often revised oregineted by the agency in ways that may signifigaaffect our business and
our products. It is impossible to predict whettegislative changes will be enacted, or FDA regatetj guidance or
interpretations changed or what the impact of si@nges, if any, may be.

Patent Term Restoration and Data Exclusivity

Depending upon the timing, duration and specificS@A approval of the use of our drug candidatesys of our U.S.
patents may be eligible for limited patent termeesion under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Restoration Act of
1984, referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Act. The iH&lfaxman Act permits a patent restoration termpfafive years as
compensation for patent term lost during produeetipment and the FDA regulatory review processwvéicer, patent term
restoration cannot extend the remaining term afterg beyond a total of 14 years from the produwagisroval date. The patent
term restoration period is generally one-half theetbetween the effective date of an IND, and thmsssion date of an NDA,
plus the time between the submission date of an ldBd\the approval of that application. Only oneepaapplicable to an
approved drug is eligible for the extension andapplication for extension must be made prior pigtion of the patent. The
United States Patent and Trademark Office, in dtettson with
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the FDA, reviews and approves the application for gatent term extension or restoration. In thariitwe intend to apply for
restorations of patent term for some of our cutyemivned or licensed patents to add patent lifeobeytheir current expiration
date, depending on the expected length of clitick and other factors involved in the submisgéthe relevant NDA.

Data exclusivity provisions under the FDCA also dafay the submission or the approval of certapliegtions. The
FDCA provides a five-year period of non-patent datelusivity within the United States to the fiegiplicant to gain approval
of an NDA for a new chemical entity. A drug is asnehemical entity if the FDA has not previously epped any other new
drug containing the same active moiety, which é&riolecule or ion responsible for the action ofdhgy substance. During the
exclusivity period, the FDA may not accept for ewian abbreviated new drug application, or ANDAwduwer, an application
may be submitted after four years if it contaircetification of patent invalidity or non-infringeant. The FDCA also provides
three years of marketing exclusivity for an NDAS8)(2) NDA or supplement to an approved NDA if nefimical
investigations, other than bioavailability studi#st were conducted or sponsored by the applen@ntieemed by the FDA to
be essential to the approval of the applicationef@mple, for new indications, dosages or strengttan existing drug. This
three-year exclusivity covers only the conditiossariated with the new clinical investigations doés not prohibit the FDA
from approving ANDAs for drugs containing the origl active agent for other conditions of use. Rrear and three-year
exclusivity will not delay the submission or appabef a full NDA; however, an applicant submittiagull NDA would be
required to conduct or obtain a right of referetecall of the preclinical studies and adequatewaeali-controlled clinical trials
necessary to demonstrate safety and effectiveness.

Orphan Drug Designation

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiarg designation to drugs intended to treat adeease or
condition, which is generally a disease or conditimat affects fewer than 200,000 individuals ia tnited States, or more than
200,000 individuals in the United States and forcllthere is no reasonable expectation that theafateveloping and making
available in the United States a drug for this tgpdisease or condition will be recovered fronesah the United States for
that drug. Orphan drug designation must be reqddsgfore submitting an NDA. After the FDA grantploan drug designation,
the identity of the therapeutic agent and its paénrphan use are disclosed publicly by the FD#phan drug designation
does not convey any advantage in or shorten tregtidarof the regulatory review and approval process

If a product that has orphan drug designation sylesatly receives the first FDA approval for theedise for which it has
such designation, the product is entitled to orphraaluct exclusivity, which means that the FDA may approve any other
applications to market the same drug for the sadieation, except in very limited circumstances,Seven years. Orphan drug
exclusivity, however, could also block the appravabne of our products for seven years if a coitgredbtains approval of the
same drug as defined by the FDA or if our drug adate is determined to be contained within the oetibgr’s product for the
same indication or disease. Competitors may re@peoval of different products for the indicatimn which the orphan
product has exclusivity and may obtain approvatliersame product but for a different indicatidra drug or drug product
designated as an orphan product ultimately recenageting approval for an indication broader thdrat was designated in its
orphan product application, it may not be entitieéxclusivity.

Pediatric Exclusivity and Pediatric Use

Under the Best Pharmaceuticals for Children AcBBCA, certain drugs may obtain an additional sonths of
exclusivity, if the sponsor submits information uegted in writing by the FDA, or a Written Requeslating to the use of the
active moiety of the drug in children. The FDA mragt issue a Written Request for studies on unapgutav approved
indications or where it determines that informatielating to the use of a drug in a pediatric papah, or part of the pediatric
population, may not produce health benefits in gogtulation.

We have not received a Written Request for suclhepéastudies, although we may ask the FDA toéssWritten Request
for such studies in the future. To receive thersbath pediatric market exclusivity, we would hagedceive a Written Request
from the FDA, conduct the requested studies in@zowe with a written agreement with the FDA othére is no written
agreement, in accordance with commonly accepteshfic principles, and submit reports of the sasdiA Written Request
may include studies for indications
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that are not currently in the labeling if the FDétermines that such information will benefit théjixihealth. The FDA will
accept the reports upon its determination thasthdies were conducted in accordance with andesonsive to the original
Written Request or commonly accepted scientifiagifles, as appropriate, and that the reports cpmijph the FDA's filing
requirements.

In addition, the Pediatric Research Equity ACtP&EA, requires a sponsor to conduct pediatric stuftir most drugs and
biologicals, for a new active ingredient, new iradion, new dosage form, new dosing regimen or reeserof administration.
Under PREA, original NDAs, biologics license apption and supplements thereto, must contain a pedéssessment unless
the sponsor has received a deferral or waiver.régeired assessment must assess the safety activefiess of the product for
the claimed indications in all relevant pediattibgopulations and support dosing and administrdtioeach pediatric
subpopulation for which the product is safe andaite. The sponsor or FDA may request a defefrpédiatric studies for
some or all of the pediatric subpopulations. A delemay be granted for several reasons, includifigding that the drug or
biologic is ready for approval for use in adult$dve pediatric studies are complete or that additicafety or effectiveness data
needs to be collected before the pediatric stuzbgi. After April 2013, the FDA must send a nomapdiance letter to any
sponsor that fails to submit the required assessrkeep a deferral current or fails to submit auesy for approval of a pediatric
formulation.

As part of the FDASIA, Congress made a few revisitnBPCA and PREA, which were slated to expir&eptember 30,
2012, and made both laws permanent.

Regulation Outside of the United States

In addition to regulations in the United States,wiltbe subject to regulations of other countrigserning clinical trials
and commercial sales and distribution of our préslud/hether or not we obtain FDA approval for adorct, we must obtain
approval by the comparable regulatory authoritfesoontries outside of the United States beforecarecommence clinical
trials in such countries and approval of the reguaof such countries or economic areas, sucheagtiropean Union, before
we may market products in those countries or afigas approval process and requirements governagdhduct of clinical
trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursemery greatly from place to place, and the timeyiin@ longer or shorter than
that required for FDA approval.

Under European Union regulatory systems, a compaay submit marketing authorization applicationbeitunder a
centralized or decentralized procedure. The cemt@iprocedure, which is compulsory for medicinexipced by
biotechnology or those medicines intended to #¢BS, cancer, neurodegenerative disorders or désbatd optional for those
medicines which are highly innovative, providestfoe grant of a single marketing authorization thatalid for all European
Union member states. The decentralized procedenedas for mutual recognition of national approgatisions. Under this
procedure, the holder of a national marketing aightion may submit an application to the remainimgmber states. Within
90 days of receiving the applications and assesgsmeport, each member state must decide whethrectgnize approval. If a
member state does not recognize the marketing azdiion, the disputed points are eventually reféito the European
Commission, whose decision is binding on all mensates.

As in the United States, we may apply for desigmatf a product as an orphan drug for the treatrkatspecific
indication in the European Union before the appilicafor marketing authorization is made. Orphangdrin Europe enjoy
economic and marketing benefits, including up toytears of market exclusivity for the approved dadion unless another
applicant can show that its product is safer, nefiective or otherwise clinically superior to thepban-designated product.

ATU

We may apply to make OCA available for use undesteort Autorisation Temporaire d’Utilisation, or mporary
Authorization for Use, or ATU, in France. Under&hU, the French Health Products Safety Agency, fesaps, allows the use
of a drug in France before marketing approval lestobtained in France in order to treat seriouarerdiseases for which no
other treatment is available in that country. Afsswill only grant an ATU where the benefit of {m@duct outweighs the risk.
An ATU is granted for one year and may be reneweth ATU is granted for OCA, we will be requiredl gather and analyze
data concerning OCA's use and submit a periodiontep Afssaps. We also will be responsible formitbng
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pharmacovigilance reports, as necessary. An ATU beayodified, suspended, or withdrawn for reasdrmublic health or if
the conditions under which the ATU was grantedreréonger met. We believe the granting of an ATWd anbsequent use by
patients in France prior to marketing approval reagible us to begin recognizing some product selenue for OCA prior to
its approval in the United States and the remainfléte European Union.

Reimbursement

Sales of our products will depend, in part, ongkient to which the costs of our products will logered by third-party
payors, such as government health programs, comahgrsurance and managed healthcare organizaffdrese third-party
payors are increasingly challenging the pricesgdmfor medical products and services. Additionahlg containment of
healthcare costs has become a priority of federlséate governments and the prices of drugs hese & focus in this effort.
The U.S. government, state legislatures and forgirernments have shown significant interest inlémgnting cost-
containment programs, including price controlstriesons on reimbursement and requirements fosstuttion of generic
products. Adoption of price controls and cost-comteent measures, and adoption of more restrictdleips in jurisdictions
with existing controls and measures, could furtimit our net revenue and results. If these thiedty payors do not consider
our products to be cost-effective compared to difkerapies, they may not cover our products afipraved as a benefit under
their plans or, if they do, the level of paymentymat be sufficient to allow us to sell our produioh a profitable basis.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, andibtaization Act of 2003, or the MMA, imposed newugements
for the distribution and pricing of prescriptioruds for Medicare beneficiaries. Under Part D, Madideneficiaries may enroll
in prescription drug plans offered by private éasitwhich will provide coverage of outpatient prgstion drugs. Part D plans
include both stand-alone prescription drug benméihs and prescription drug coverage as a suppletmédmedicare Advantage
plans. Unlike Medicare Part A and B, Part D covermgnot standardized. Part D prescription drug pfgonsors are not
required to pay for all covered Part D drugs, amchedrug plan can develop its own drug formulaat thentifies which drugs
it will cover and at what tier or level. HowevegrPD prescription drug formularies must includagh within each therapeutic
category and class of covered Part D drugs, thooghecessarily all the drugs in each categoryassc Any formulary used
by a Part D prescription drug plan must be develap® reviewed by a pharmacy and therapeutic caeeniGovernment
payment for some of the costs of prescription dmgy increase demand for our products for whichreeeive marketing
approval. However, any negotiated prices for oodpcts covered by a Part D prescription drug plénikely be lower than
the prices we might otherwise obtain. Moreover,levthe MMA applies only to drug benefits for Mediedeneficiaries,
private payors often follow Medicare coverage pohnd payment limitations in setting their own pa&yrates. Any reduction
in payment that results from the MMA may resulaisimilar reduction in payments from non-governrakpayors.

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 20@¥ides funding for the federal government to caregthe
effectiveness of different treatments for the s@mess. A plan for the research will be developgdhe Department of Health
and Human Services, the Agency for Healthcare Relsead Quality and the National Institutes for lgaand periodic
reports on the status of the research and relaghéitures will be made to Congress. Althoughréseilts of the comparative
effectiveness studies are not intended to mandaterage policies for public or private payorssihot clear what effect, if any,
the research will have on the sales of any prodiuatyy such product or the condition that it iseimded to treat is the subject of
a study. It is also possible that comparative éffeness research demonstrating benefits in a ctimpe product could
adversely affect the sales of our product candgdatehird-party payors do not consider our praduo be cost-effective
compared to other available therapies, they magowetr our products as a benefit under their ptaing they do, the level of
payment may not be sufficient to allow us to sell products on a profitable basis.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Acam&nded by the Health Care and Education Affordglitleconciliation
Act of 2010, collectively referred to as the ACAaeted in March 2010, is expected to have a simifiimpact on the health
care industry. ACA is expected to expand coveragée uninsured while at the same time contaiowerall healthcare costs.
With regard to pharmaceutical products, among dtiegs, ACA is expected to expand and increasesitg rebates for drugs
covered under
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Medicaid programs and make changes to the coveeaggrements under the Medicare Part D programcéaot predict the
impact of ACA on pharmaceutical companies, as nadriie ACA reforms require the promulgation of diethregulations
implementing the statutory provisions which hasyeitoccurred. In addition, although the Unitedt&eSupreme Court
recently upheld the constitutionality of most of thCA, some states have indicated that they intemt implement certain
sections of the ACA, and some members of the UdBgess are still working to repeal parts of theAAThese challenges add
to the uncertainty of the legislative changes esthess part of ACA.

ACA required pharmaceutical manufacturers to trearain financial arrangements with physicians tadhing hospitals,
including any “transfer of value” made or distribdtto such entities, as well as any investmentdsts held by physicians and
their immediate family members. Manufacturers wergiired to begin tracking this information in 204r&d to report this
information to CMS beginning in 2014.

In addition, in some non-U.S. jurisdictions, thegwsed pricing for a drug must be approved betarey be lawfully
marketed. The requirements governing drug priciay widely from country to country. For exampleg tBuropean Union
provides options for its member states to resthietrange of medicinal products for which theiiiorél health insurance
systems provide reimbursement and to control tleegiof medicinal products for human use. A mensibeie may approve a
specific price for the medicinal product or it magtead adopt a system of direct or indirect cdston the profitability of the
company placing the medicinal product on the markieere can be no assurance that any country #saptice controls or
reimbursement limitations for pharmaceutical pradweill allow favorable reimbursement and pricirgaagements for any of
our products. Historically, products launched ie European Union do not follow price structureshef United States and
generally tend to be significantly lower.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had 136 employeeshafwd2 employees were in our drug developmentatjuoers, 18
employees were in our commercial group and 26 eyegl®were in our corporate group. As of DecembgefB14, one
employee was based in Europe and the rest werd bratiee United States. None of our employeesepeesented by a labor
union and we consider our employee relations tgduel.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in the State of Delaware gte®eber 4, 2002. Our principal executive offices lacated at 450
West 15" Street, Suite 505, New York, NY 10011, and ourpietne number is (646) 747-1000.

Our corporate website addressvisw.interceptpharma.corm@ur Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reporidcorm
10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendmentsgorts filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and )1&fthe Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchageafe available free of charge on our websiteoas as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file such matiewith, or furnish it to, the Securities and Eadge Commission. The
Securities and Exchange Commission maintains annet site that contains our public filings witle tBecurities and Exchange
Commission and other information regarding our canyp atwww.sec.govT hese reports and other information concerning our
company may also be accessed at the SecuritieBxaménge Commission’s Public Reference Room atF18@eet, NE,
Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain infaiioraon the operation of the Public Reference Ragroalling the
Securities and Exchange Commission at 1-800-SE©-03% contents of these websites are not incomdiato this Annual
Report. Further, our references to the URLs fos¢heebsites are intended to be inactive textualeate only.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time we are party to legal proceedingbe course of our business in addition to thdesscribed below. We
do not, however, expect such other legal procesdingpave a material adverse effect on our busifiessicial condition or
results of operations.

On February 21, 2014 and February 28, 2014, pwedatareholder class actions, sty&ebt H. Atwood v. Intercept
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. et gindGeorge Burton v. Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inalet respectively, were filed in the United
States District Court for the Southern DistriciNg#fw York, naming us
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and certain of our officers as defendants. Thessuds were filed by stockholders who claim to bang on behalf of anyone
who purchased or otherwise acquired our secubitéseen January 9, 2014 and January 10, 2014. [aimtiffs seek
unspecified monetary damages on behalf of the ipatalass and an award of costs and expensesdinglattorney’s fees. The
lawsuits allege that we made material misrepreiensaand/or omissions of material fact in our pubisclosures during the
period from January 9, 2014 to January 10, 2014iolation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Séms Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated théeeuThe alleged improper disclosures relate taJanuary 9, 2014
announcement that the FLINT trial had been stomgaety based on a pre-defined interim efficacy asialySpecifically, the
lawsuits claim that our January 9, 2014 announcémas misleading because it did not contain infdiamaregarding certain
lipid abnormalities seen in the FLINT trial in OQFeated patients compared to placebo. On ApribB24, two individuals
each moved to consolidate the cases and a leadifflaias subsequently appointed by the Court. @me27, 2014, the lead
plaintiff filed an amended complaint on behalf loé tputative class as contemplated by the ordéreo€ourt. On August 14,
2014, the defendants filed a motion to dismissctiraplaint, which has been opposed by the leadtfffai@ral arguments on
the motion to dismiss were held on February 24520b decision has been made by the Court on theemto dismiss. The
lead plaintiff seeks unspecified monetary damagelsatalf of the putative class and an award ofscaisti expenses, including
attorneys’ fees.

We believe that we have valid defenses to the dainthe lawsuit and intend to deny liability arefehd ourselves
vigorously. At this time, no assessment can be naade the likely outcome of these lawsuits or \Wwhethe outcome will be
material to us. Therefore, we have not accruearigrloss contingencies related to these lawsuits.
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Item 1A.Risk Factors

Except for the historical information contained éigr, this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains fomdviooking
statements that involve risks and uncertaintiegs€rstatements include projections about our adéogiand finances, plans
and objectives for the future, future operating @&wdnomic performance and other statements reggriiture performance.
These statements are not guarantees of futurenpeaftce or events. Our actual results could diffatenally from those
discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Inguatrfactors that could cause or contribute to thd#fferences include, but
are not limited to, those discussed in the follaysection, as well as those discussed in Partdinl7 entitled “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition d@elults of Operations” and elsewhere throughowg ftinual Report on
Form 10-K.

You should consider carefully the following riskttars, together with all of the other informatiarciuded in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. If any of the following riski#ther alone or taken together, or other risks pasently known to us or
that we currently believe to not be significantyelep into actual events, then our business, firdmondition, results of
operations or prospects could be materially advigra#fected. If that happens, the market pricewwf@mmon stock could
decline, and stockholders may lose all or partheitinvestment.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need foAdditional Capital

We have never been profitable. Currently, we haweproducts approved for commercial sale, and toedete have not
generated any revenue from product sales. As a lieswr ability to reduce our losses and reach pitability is unproven,
and we may never achieve or sustain profitability.

We have never been profitable and do not expeut orofitable in the foreseeable future. We haueyabsubmitted any
product candidates for approval by regulatory atties in the United States or elsewhere for oadladication, primary
biliary cirrhosis, or PBC, or any other indicatiamcluding nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, or NASHe Wave incurred net losses
in each year since our inception, including neséssof $43.6 million, $67.8 million and $283.2 ioifl for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectivelylat®, we have financed our operations primarilgugh private
placements of our convertible preferred stock, eotilvie notes and warrants to purchase common spatiic offerings of our
common stock and payments received under our licgrad collaboration agreements with Sumitomo [pgion Pharma Co.
Ltd., or Sumitomo Dainippon, and Les Laboratoiresvigr and Institut de Recherches Servier, whiehcatlectively referred to
as Servier. At December 31, 2014, we had $239.[fomih cash, cash equivalents and investment gexurin February 2015,
we completed a follow-on public offering of 1,15000shares at a public offering price of $176.00gbeare. After underwriting
discounts and commissions and estimated offeripgreses, we estimate that the net proceeds frorRedaruary 2015 follow-
on equity offering were approximately $191.2 mitlio

We have devoted substantially all of our resoutocesur development efforts relating to our prodeambdidates, including
conducting clinical trials of our product candidatproviding general and administrative supportli@se operations, protecting
our intellectual property and engaging in actigtie prepare for the commercialization of our paidiandidates. We do not
have any products approved for sale and have mergid any revenues from product sales. We efpeantinue to incur
losses for the foreseeable future, and we expesetlosses to increase as we continue our devetbmf&nd seek regulatory
approvals for, obeticholic acid, or OCA, which isrdead product candidate, and our other produudicates, prepare for and
begin the commercialization of any approved prosiuahd add infrastructure and personnel in theedrttates and Europe to
support our product development and commerciatinagfforts and operations as a public company. kieipate that any such
losses could be significant for the next severatyas we continue our confirmatory clinical outesrtrial of OCA in PBC,
continue our long-term safety extension phasesiotlnical trials of OCA in PBC, commence our P&&sclinical program of
OCA in nonalcoholic steatohepatitis, or NASH, coo# our Phase 2 clinical trial of OCA for primaglesosing cholangitis, or
PSC, and finalize other planned activities for tatnry submission and approval of OCA in PBC. Wapaxpect that
continuing the development of OCA in additionaledises, such as biliary atresia, a rare pedias@ade characterized by
deficient bile duct development. We also plan atidting a clinical trial to assess the lipid mettb effects of OCA and the
effects of concomitant statin administration in NABatients
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during 2015. Furthermore, we plan to complete INfadding studies of INT-767, an earlier stage prodandidate for which
we plan to initiate, Phase 1 clinical trial by #&d of 2015. Our expenses could increase if weeapgired by the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration, or FDA, or the European Medis Agency, or EMA, to perform studies or trialgddition to those
currently expected, or if there are any delaysoimleting our clinical trials or the developmentaofy of our product
candidates. We also anticipate that we will corgitniincrease our product development, scientibiopmercial and
administrative personnel significantly and expandfacilities and infrastructure in the United $tatind abroad as part of our
growth strategy.

Our ability to generate profits from operations dedome profitable will depend on our ability tdaih marketing approval
for, and commercialize, our product candidates.dé/@ot expect to generate significant revenuessgrdad until we obtain
marketing approval for, and commercialize, OCAtfur treatment of PBC and other indications. Thisneguire us to be
successful in a range of challenging activities|uding:

« obtaining approval to market OCA for the treatingiPBC, NASH and other indications and patierpydations;
¢ expanding our manufacturing of commercial sugptyOCA,

« establishing sales, marketing and distributiopatulities to effectively market and sell OCA iretbinited States and
Europe; and

¢ negotiating and securing reimbursement from tpady payors for OCA.

If OCA or any of our other product candidates failglinical trials or does not gain regulatory epl, or if our product
candidates do not achieve market acceptance, wenenagy become profitable. Our net losses and negedish flows have had,
and will continue to have, an adverse effect onsteckholders’ equity and working capital. Becaokthe numerous risks and
uncertainties associated with pharmaceutical prodiexelopment and commercialization, we are unttbéecurately predict
the timing or amount of increased expenses or wireif, we will be able to achieve profitability h€ amount of future net
losses will depend, in part, on the rate of fuymewth of our expenses and our ability to generatenues.

We will require substantial additional funding, whh may not be available to us on acceptable terarsat all, and, if not so
available, may require us to delay, limit, reduceaease our operations.

We are currently advancing OCA through clinical elepment for multiple indications and other prodeatdidates through
preclinical development. Developing pharmaceutizabucts, including conducting preclinical stuckesl clinical trials, is
expensive. In December 2014, we initiated a rolNA submission for OCA in PBC under the FDA's decated approval
pathway. We also plan to submit an applicatiomfiarketing approval for OCA in PBC in Europe. Werpla complete our
filings for marketing approval of OCA in PBC in thinited States and Europe within the first hal26i5. If the FDA or EMA
requires that we perform preclinical studies anichl trials in addition to those contemplated onducted by us, our expenses
would further increase beyond what we currentlyeex@and the anticipated timing for the completiboour potential NDA or
MAA filing would likely be delayed. In addition, ive receive marketing approval from regulatory atitles, we plan to
initiate the commercial launch of OCA in PBC in tbeited States and certain European countries 16 20/e anticipate
incurring significant expenses as we prepare fepibtential commercialization of OCA in PBC, indhgl significant expenses
to establish our sales, marketing and distributi@pabilities and increase our drug manufacturitiyities. We will require
substantial additional future capital in order ¢onplete clinical development and commercialize O@#d to conduct the
research and development and clinical and regylaittivities necessary to bring other product cdaigtis to market. We also
anticipate incurring significant expenses in comieacwith our planned increase in our product depeient, scientific,
commercial and administrative personnel and expari our facilities and infrastructure in the WadtStates and abroad.

As of December 31, 2014, we had $239.7 milliondslt cash equivalents and investment securitieedfifmate that the
net proceeds from our February 2015 follow-on gqoffering were approximately $191.2 million, afterderwriting discounts
and commissions and estimated offering expensexuiently project adjusted operating expenselarrange of $180
million to $200 million in the fiscal year endingePember 31, 2015, which excludes stock-based casapien and other non-
cash items. These expenses are
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planned to support the clinical development progf@an©CA in PBC, NASH and PSC, the expansion ofdumical,

regulatory, medical affairs and commercial infrasture in the United States and Europe, increasgdl @anufacturing
activities, as well as the continued developmenNd-767 and other preclinical pipeline programse Ahticipate that stock-
based compensation expense will represent the sigysficant non-cash item that is excluded in ajdoperating expenses as
compared to operating expenses under U.S. genaeaBpted accounting principles, or GAAP. Adjusipdrating expense is a
financial measure not calculated in accordance GAAP. See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for manéirmation.
Accordingly, we will continue to require substahtaditional capital to continue our clinical dempinent and
commercialization activities. Because successfuéligment of our product candidates is uncertagmave unable to estimate
the actual funds we will require to complete reskamnd development and commercialize our produudgudevelopment.

Due to the many variables inherent to the developraed commercialization of novel therapies, sigtha risks described
in this “Risk Factors” section, and our rapid grbvand expansion, we currently cannot accuratefyrecisely predict the
duration beyond 2015 over which we expect our eashcash equivalents (including the net proceexs fur February 2015
follow-on equity offering) to be sufficient to fur@ur operating expenses and capital expenditutgrergents. However, we
currently believe that our cash and cash equivaleagether with the net proceeds from our Febr@dp follow-on equity
offering, will be sufficient for us to:

e expand our clinical, regulatory, medical affarsd commercial infrastructure in the United Stated Europe;

e continue and expand our clinical development o for OCA in PBC, NASH and PSC, such as initatnd/or
continuing, but not completing, our planned Phasércal program for OCA in NASH, our planned dtial trial
characterizing lipid metabolic effects of OCA arilesterol management effects of concomitant statministration
in NASH patients, our ongoing Phase 2 clinicallmfaOCA for PSC, and our ongoing confirmatory @&l outcomes
trial of OCA in PBC;

¢ advance the continued development of INT-767uitiag the completion of IND-enabling preclinicalidies for INT-
767 and the initiation of a Phase 1 clinical tréaid other preclinical compounds;

« complete the filings of our NDA and MAA for OCA PBC, but not complete our filings for marketingherization in
any other indication;

* increase OCA manufacturing activities, includingdsting in supply chain and product developmergparing for PB(
commercial launch and planning for the continuatibour clinical program in NASH, but not manufagtihe supply
needed for any potential commercial launch of OGAASH; and

* prepare for and, if we obtain marketing appravak timely basis, initiate the commercial launE®E€A in PBC in
both the United States and certain European casnitti2016, but not commercially launch OCA in PB®ther
countries across the world.

Accordingly, we will continue to require substahtidditional capital to continue our clinical demeient,
commercialization and other activities. Becausesssful development and commercialization of oodpct candidates is
uncertain, we are unable to estimate the actualsfuve will require to complete research and devatag and commercialize
our products under development.

The amount and timing of our future funding requiests will depend on many factors, including:

* the willingness of the FDA and EMA to accept B@ISE trial, which is our completed phase 3 clihidal for PBC, as
well as our other completed and planned clinical mreclinical studies and other work, as the bfasiseview and
marketing approval of OCA for PBC,;

» the progress, costs, results of and timing ofreaently initiated confirmatory clinical outcomeml of OCA for the
treatment of PBC, the completion of which we expatitnot be a condition to the receipt of marketiapproval in the
United States or the European Union;
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¢ the design of our planned Phase 3 clinical prnogi@ OCA in NASH and the progress, costs, resafiisnd timing of
the Phase 3 program and other supporting trialsardies necessary to support anticipated filiogsrfarketing
approval in NASH, including the sufficiency of opivotal clinical trial for marketing approval ordtacceptability of a
surrogate endpoint for accelerated approval of @@Ahe treatment of NASH;

« the progress, costs, results of and timing oficdil development of OCA for other indications,liding our Phase 2
trial of OCA in PSC and biliary atresia;

» the significant expansion of our operations, penel and the size of our company and our needritirwe to expand;
« the outcome, costs and timing of seeking andinibg FDA, EMA and any other regulatory approvals;

» the number and characteristics of product canegdat we pursue, including our product candglatereclinical
development, such as INT-767 and INT-777;

» the ability of our product candidates to progrseugh pre-clinical and clinical development sssfully and in a
timely manner;

« the expansion of our research and developmeivitaes;

» the costs and timing of commercialization aciggt including product sales, marketing and distidn, for any of our
product candidates that receive marketing approval,

« the costs associated with securing and estabjghianufacturing capabilities and procuring theemals necessary for
our product candidates;

* market acceptance of our product candidates;
» the costs of acquiring, licensing or investindgiursinesses, products, product candidates anddieches;

e our ability to maintain, expand and defend thepgcof our intellectual property portfolio, includi the amount and
timing of any payments we may be required to maké¢hat we may receive, in connection with ther®iag, filing,
prosecution, defense and enforcement of any pabemther intellectual property rights;

* our need and ability to hire additional managemsxtigntific and medical, commercial and other digalipersonnel ar
the substantial cost of retaining such additioraispnnel;

» the effect of competing technological and madetelopments;

e our need to implement and maintain internal systesoftware and infrastructure, including thosagsist in our
financial and reporting, clinical development awthenercialization efforts and to support our exigtamd expanding
personnel; and

» the economic and other terms, timing of and ssE©é our existing licensing arrangements and afigoration,
licensing or other arrangements into which we matgrein the future.

We may seek additional funding through a combimatibequity offerings, debt financings, governmenother third-party
funding, marketing and distribution arrangements atiner collaborations, strategic alliances aneh&gng arrangements.
Additional funding may not be available to us onegutable terms or at all. In addition, the termamyf financing may
adversely affect the holdings or the rights of stackholders. In addition, the issuance of additiahares by us, or the
possibility of such issuance, may cause the mamket of our shares to decline.

If we are unable to obtain funding on a timely bagie may be required to significantly curtail planned activities,
including research and development programs andnaoialization activities. We also
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could be required to seek funds through arrangesneitih collaborative partners or otherwise that meguire us to relinquish
rights to some of our technologies or product cdaidis or otherwise agree to terms unfavorable.to us

Our revenues to date have been generated throughamllaboration agreements and we may not receivy additional
revenues under such agreements.

To date, our sources of revenue have been the pagmezeived under our collaboration and licenseexgents with
Sumitomo Dainippon and Servier. Additional paymantder each of the Sumitomo Dainippon and Sengezements are
based on the exercise of optional rights held bycollaborators under the agreements or the acinemeof various research,
development, regulatory and commercial sales noitest and royalty payments based on the sales pfdideicts covered by
such agreements. Future payments from Sumitomaifipain and Servier under their respective collabonend license
agreements are uncertain because Sumitomo DaingppBervier, as the case may be, may choose meoettise their optional
rights under the agreements or continue researdeva@lopment activities for the product candidateder license in their
licensed territory, the product candidates maybeoapproved for the proposed indications or, eany product candidate is
approved for one or more indications, it may notbmmercially successful. If we are unable to depelnd commercialize one
or more of our product candidates, either aloneithr collaborators, or if revenues from any suchatmration product
candidate that receives marketing approval ardfiognt, we will not achieve profitability. Evelfiwe achieve profitability, we
may not be able to sustain or increase profitgbilit

We have a limited operating history and we expectumber of factors to cause our operating resultsfluctuate on a
quarterly and annual basis, which may make it dfilt to predict our future performance.

We are a development stage biopharmaceutical compitin a limited operating history. Our operatidndate have been
limited to developing our technology and undertglgameclinical studies and clinical trials of ouoguct candidates and
engaging in pre-commercial activities for OCA in®BNe have not yet obtained regulatory approvalsufy of our product
candidates. Consequently, any predictions madetahwduture success or viability may not be asigate as they could be if
we had a longer operating history or approved petsdon the market. Our financial condition and afiag results have varied
significantly in the past and are expected to caito significantly fluctuate from quarter-to-qgugaror year-to-year due to a
variety of factors, many of which are beyond ountcal. Factors relating to our business that maytridoute to these
fluctuations include:

e any delays in regulatory review and approvalafproduct candidates in clinical development,udahg our ability to
receive approval from the FDA and the EMA for Ok the treatment of PBC based on our POISE tmad,@ur other
completed and planned clinical and preclinical Esiénd other work, as the basis for review andaya of OCA for
PBC;

* delays in the commencement, enrollment and tiroinginical trials;

« difficulties in identifying and treating patientsféering from our target indications, including gedue to PBC and P<
being rare diseases and NASH currently requiringneasive liver biopsy for diagnosis;

» the success of our clinical trials through alépébs of clinical development, such as the sucdemsymivotal Phase 3
clinical trial of OCA in NASH we may conduct;

* potential side effects of our product candidaites could delay or prevent approval or cause gnoyed drug to be
taken off the market;

« the required timeframe for us to receive andyaetata from our clinical trials;
e our ability to obtain additional funding to desplour product candidates;
e our ability to identify and develop additionabpiuct candidates;

* market acceptance of our product candidates;
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« our ability to establish an effective sales aratkmting infrastructure directly or through collaatons with third
parties;

« competition from existing products or new produtttat may emerge;

» the ability of patients or healthcare provider®btain coverage or reimbursement for our prodactsthe extent to
which such coverage or reimbursement will be predijd

* our ability to adhere to clinical trial requirente directly or with third parties such as contr&stearch organizations, or
CROs;

« our dependency on third-party manufacturers taufecture our products and key ingredients;
« our ability to establish or maintain collaborats licensing or other arrangements;

« the costs to us, and our ability and our thirdypaollaborators’ ability to obtain, maintain aptbtect our intellectual
property rights;

» costs related to and outcomes of potential iet#lial property, securities and other litigation;
e our ability to adequately support future growth;

e our ability to attract and retain key personmefrtanage our business effectively;

e our ability to build and improve our company’s$rastructure, systems and controls;

* potential product liability claims; and

e our ability to obtain and maintain adequate iasge coverage.

Risks Related to Regulatory Review and Approval o®ur Product Candidates

We cannot be certain that OCA or any of our otheopuct candidates will receive regulatory approvahd without
regulatory approval we will not be able to marketcdacommercialize our product candidates.

We are initially developing OCA for the treatmefipatient populations with chronic liver and otliéseases, with a current
principal focus on PBC, NASH and PSC, and our essrcurrently depends entirely on the successfidldement and
commercialization of OCA. Our ability to genera¢@enue related to product sales, if ever, will depen the successful
development and regulatory approval of OCA, paldidy for the treatment of PBC and NASH, and ourestproduct
candidates.

We currently have no products approved for salevemdannot guarantee that we will ever have mabkefaroducts. The
development of a product candidate and issuesmglt its approval and marketing are subject temsive regulation by the
FDA in the United States, the EMA in Europe andutatpry authorities in other countries, with redigdas differing from
country to country. We are not permitted to mardkat product candidates in the United States or fiitontil we receive
approval of an NDA from the FDA or an MAA from tlMA, respectively. We have not submitted any manigeapplications
for any of our product candidates.

NDAs and MAAs must include extensive preclinicatlatinical data and supporting information to eBtdibthe product
candidate’s safety and effectiveness for eachetbgandication. NDAs and MAAs must also include diigant information
regarding the chemistry, manufacturing and confimishe product. Obtaining approval of an NDA arMAA is a lengthy,
expensive and uncertain process, and we may maidmessful in obtaining approval. The FDA and tMAReview processes
can take years to complete and approval is nevemagteed. If we complete our submission of an NB#he FDA, the FDA
must decide whether to accept or reject the sulbmniger filing. We cannot be certain that any sussions will be accepted for
filing and review by the FDA. Regulators of otherigdictions, such as the EMA, have their own pdoces for approval of
product candidates. Even if a product is approtleel FDA or the EMA, as the case may be, may lihetindications for which
the product may be marketed, require extensive imgsron the product labeling or require expensiwe time-consuming
clinical trials or reporting as conditions of appab Approvals may also be conditional upon the plation of one or more
clinical trials. Regulatory authorities in coungrieutside of the United States and Europe also repgrements for approval of
drug
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candidates with which we must comply prior to mérigin those countries. Obtaining regulatory apptdor marketing of a
product candidate in one country does not ensatenth will be able to obtain regulatory approvaaity other country. In
addition, delays in approvals or rejections of netirig applications in the United States, Europetber countries may be based
upon many factors, including regulatory requestsfiiitional analyses, reports, data, precliniaadies and clinical trials,
regulatory questions regarding different interpietes of data and results, changes in regulatoligypduring the period of
product development and the emergence of new irgthom regarding our product candidates or othedyets. Also,

regulatory approval for any of our product candédanay be withdrawn. Regulatory approval is algmeddent on successfully
passing regulatory inspection of our company, dinical sites and key vendors and to ensure compdiavith applicable good
clinical, laboratory and manufacturing practicegulation. Critical findings could jeopardize or aglthe approval of the NDA
or MAA.

We expect to complete our filings for marketing egyal of OCA in PBC in the United States and Eurdpeng the first
half of 2015. We have completed a randomized, plaa®ntrolled Phase 3 trial of OCA in PBC patiemtjch we refer to as
the POISE trial, and two randomized, placebo-cdietid®hase 2 trials of OCA in PBC patients, onédnv@CA in combination
with ursodiol and one with OCA as monotherapy, wedare finalizing other preclinical and clinicalidies required to
complete the filings. Furthermore, we will neecctomplete a number of clinical trials and other &eador the continued
development of OCA in indications other than PB@x. &ample, we are currently planning for our Pi&sknical program of
OCA in NASH, together with a number of supportitigdées and trials such as a Phase 2 trial chaiaicigithe lipid metabolic
effects of OCA and cholesterol management effeict®ocomitant statin administration in NASH patirin each of these
cases, our ability to obtain the approvals necgdsatommercialize our product candidates will depen our ability to
conduct and complete these additional trials as agehssemble various other data to complete guitatory filings for OCA in
the relevant indication or patient population.

There can be no assurance that we will be ablertgtete our regulatory filings on a timely basighwat, even if the filings
are completed, that the FDA or EMA will provide rketing approval for OCA in PBC. We cannot predittether our trials
and studies as to NASH or any other indicationairegmt population will be successful or whetherutatprs will agree with our
conclusions regarding the preclinical studies dimical trials we have conducted to date or requsdo conduct additional
studies or trials. For example, while OCA receibeelakthrough therapy designation from the FDA muday 2015 for the
treatment of NASH patients with liver fibrosis, Wave not yet completed our discussions with regnjegencies on the
design of our Phase 3 clinical program for NASHwinich we are seeking to incorporate an interimmagate endpoint. We do
not know if one pivotal clinical trial will be suéfient for marketing approval or if regulators vajree to a surrogate endpoint
for accelerated approval of OCA for the treatmdmtASH. While the interim histological endpoint ttaould serve as the basis
for accelerated approval is expected to be sintvldinat in the Phase 2b clinical trial for the treant of NASH, known as the
FLINT trial, sponsored by the U.S. National Inditwf Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney DiseaseN|DDK, a part of the
National Institutes of Health, our Phase 3 clinfmadgram for NASH will likely have different trialesigns and include primary
outcomes endpoints for full approval.

If we are unable to obtain approval from the FD#e EMA or other regulatory agencies for OCA andather product
candidates, or if, subsequent to approval, we aable to successfully commercialize OCA or our pgfreduct candidates, we
will not be able to generate sufficient revenubdoome profitable or to continue our operations.

We are developing product candidates for the treatrof rare diseases or diseases for which there ao or limited
therapies and for some of which there is littlerital experience, and our development approach ilves new endpoints and
methodologies. As a result, there is increased tis&t we will not be able to gain agreement wittgratory authorities
regarding an acceptable development plan, the oateoof our clinical trials will not be favorable othat, even if favorable,
regulatory authorities may not find the results ofir clinical trials to be sufficient for marketingapproval.

Currently, there are no approved therapies for NABRSC. In PBC, although ursodiol is the stanaéchre, studies have
shown that up to 50% of PBC patients fail to reshadequately to treatment, meaning
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that they continue to be at significant risk ofgnessing to liver failure even with treatment. Assult, the design and conduct
of clinical trials for these diseases and otheiciatibns we may pursue will be subject to increassd

The FDA generally requires two pivotal clinicakts to approve an NDA. Furthermore, for full appbef an NDA, the
FDA requires a demonstration of efficacy based ofingcal benefit endpoint. Under Subpart H regiolas, the FDA can grant
accelerated approval based on a surrogate reagdikay to predict clinical benefit. In Decembed™4, we submitted the non-
clinical sections of a rolling NDA submission farcelerated approval of OCA as a treatment for ptgieith PBC who have an
inadequate response to or intolerant of ursodisétdan the POISE trial. The POISE primary endgsiatsurrogate endpoint
that we believe is reasonably likely to predichidal benefit, therefore meeting the FDA’s Subparequirements for
consideration under its accelerated approval réigulawhile the FDA has officially accepted ourling submission of the
NDA, formal review of the NDA will not commence Wri0 days after submission of the last sectionalvhs$ planned for June
2015. It is unlikely we will receive definitive vitén guidance from the FDA prior to formal reviehwarr NDA as to the
acceptability of the POISE trial surrogate endptorgupport an approval of OCA for the treatmenPBfC. Although the results
from our POISE trial are highly significant and popted by two controlled Phase 2 trials, our POti&dt and our regulatory
submissions package may nonetheless not be safftciesupport approval in the United States. Wécgnate that similar risks
will apply to other indications for which we intetal seek marketing approval for our product canéslander accelerated
approval regulations. For example, we will facesthesks for OCA for the treatment of NASH becaofeur plan to seek
accelerated approval based on a trial design thatdaincorporate an interim surrogate endpoint.

In order to support the clinical utility of the sogate endpoint for OCA as a treatment for PBChene sponsored an
independent study pooling and analyzing long-teB Patient data from a number of leading PBC acédeenters, which
are referred to as the Global PBC Study Group Heamore, an academic consortium in the United Kamgdhas published the
results of another large observational study in PB@ents in the United Kingdom. Although we beéighe results of both
studies are supportive of the clinical utility afrcsurrogate endpoint for the use of OCA in PB&,ghpporting data may still
not be accepted by the FDA in its consideratiothefadequacy of our surrogate endpoint under an RIDACA for the
treatment of PBC. In addition to the risk aroune #tceptability of the surrogate biochemical enulptoi support accelerated
approval, there are quality assurance risks arthdata supporting assessment of the biochermidglaint. It is possible that
key parameters such as the validation of the amsdyonsistency across laboratories will not beptable to FDA and could
delay or jeopardize approval of the NDA.

The FDA has also informed us that, even if it pdeg us an accelerated approval for OCA, we willdagiired to conduct a
post-approval clinical outcomes trial to confirne ttlinical benefit of OCA in PBC by demonstratihg tcorrelation of
biochemical therapeutic response in patients takifg\ with a significant reduction in adverse claioutcomes over time.
Following discussions with the FDA, we initiatectliial in December 2014. There can be no assutthiat®ur clinical
outcomes confirmatory trial will confirm that thersogate endpoints used for accelerated approveéventually show an
adequate correlation with clinical outcomes. If tfimical outcomes confirmatory trial fails to shewch adequate correlation,
we may not be able to maintain our previously grdmharketing approval for OCA in PBC.

Likewise, we will not receive definitive feedbaaki the EMA prior to formal review of our MAA as tbe acceptability
of the POISE trial endpoint to support a marketnghorization of OCA for the treatment of PBCsliiso possible that any
marketing authorization we receive from the EMA @CA for the treatment of PBC could be conditiomalpost-approval
studies and not considered a full approval. Ouitato obtain and maintain conditional marketingfsorization in the
European Union, will be limited to specific circurasces and subject to several conditions and dldig if obtained at all,
including the completion of a clinical outcomesitkto confirm the clinical benefit of OCA in PBCo@ditional marketing
authorizations based on incomplete clinical datg beagranted for a limited number of listed medatiproducts for human
use, including products designated as orphan nrediproducts under European Union law, if (1) tkk-benefit balance of the
product is positive, (2) it is likely that the ajmaint will be in a position to provide the requiresmprehensive clinical trial data,
(3) unmet medical needs will be fulfilled and (B¢ tbenefit to public health of the immediate avaligy on the market of the
medicinal product outweighs the risk inherent
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in the fact that additional data are still requirgecific obligations, including with respect b@tcompletion of ongoing or new
studies, and with respect to the collection of pleovigilance data, may be specified in the comd#i marketing
authorization. Conditional marketing authorizatiems valid for one year, and may be renewed annufthe risk-benefit
balance remains positive, and after an assessrhtrg need for additional or modified conditions.

In NASH, we currently anticipate that we will needconduct either two pivotal trials or at leasedPhase 3 clinical
outcomes trial providing a highly significant derstmation of clinical efficacy prior to applying fonarketing approval for
OCA in NASH. We expect a Phase 3 clinical outcotnaswould incorporate an interim surrogate endpthat may serve as
the basis for a supplemental NDA filing for accated approval in the United States and approvBuiope. Accelerated
approval in the United States and conditional apgirm the European Union for OCA in NASH are sabj® similar risks as
discussed above in relation to OCA for PBC. Thenpriy endpoint in the Phase 2b FLINT trial of OCANASH patients was
based on liver biopsy and was defined as an impnew of two or more points in the NAFLD activityose (a system of
scoring the histopathological features in the fweith no worsening of liver fibrosis. Currentlyther biopharmaceutical
companies are enrolling or have initiated trialséntain subpopulations of NASH patients basedifferdnt endpoints from the
one used in the FLINT trial. Although the FDA ackredged at recent workshops the possibility of irapaccelerated
approval for NASH therapies using surrogate endppimith potential examples including histologigaprovement, using the
NAS or another scoring system, histological resofubf NASH, or improvements in fibrosis in prestiotic patients with
NASH, the FDA did not provide any formal regulatgyidance on approvable endpoints and may not aecgyrrogate
endpoint for OCA for the treatment of NASH.

The FDA generally requires two pivotal clinicakts to approve an NDA. Therefore, even if we achi@vorable results in
a single Phase 3 clinical trial, the FDA may nategat this one trial as an adequate basis for appemd require that we
conduct and complete a second Phase 3 clinicab&fare considering an NDA for any of the indicas for which we may
seek marketing approval for our product candidddes.NDA for OCA for the treatment of PBC patiemtiso have an
inadequate response to or are intolerant of ursediicbe based on the results of three clinicaly — the POISE trial and two
Phase 2 trials. It is possible that our final NDAmission for regulatory approval will not be adegpby the FDA for review
or, even if it is accepted for review, that thergyrbe delays in the FDA’s review process and thiafRDA may determine that
our NDA does not merit the approval of OCA for treatment of PBC, in particular because we havg omhducted a single
Phase 3 clinical trial of OCA for the treatmen®RBC, in which case the FDA may require that we cehdnd/or complete
additional clinical trials and preclinical studiesfore it will reconsider our application for appah A similar risk applies if we
seek marketing approval of OCA for NASH based single Phase 3 pivotal trial. Our regulatory pathfiaa OCA for the
treatment of NASH will depend upon our discussiaith the FDA and EMA. As a result, we may face idiffty in designing
an acceptable registration strategy around thgydesiany follow-on trials to the FLINT trial. Irddition, it is likely that the
primary and possibly other endpoints in futureickhtrials of OCA for NASH will be different frorthose of the FLINT trial.
The use of different endpoints, or other trial dasthanges, would increase the risk that the sfithese future trials would
differ from the FLINT results.

The EMA and regulatory authorities in other cowsgrin which we may seek approval for, and mark&AQ@r our other
product candidates may require additional predinstudies and/or clinical trials prior to grantiagproval. It may be expensive
and time consuming to conduct and complete additipreclinical studies and clinical trials that fieA, EMA and other
regulatory authorities may require us to perform.stich, any requirement by the FDA, EMA or othgutatory authorities that
we conduct additional preclinical studies or clalitrials could materially and adversely affect business, financial condition
and results of operations. Furthermore, even ifeeeive regulatory approval of OCA for the treatir&frany of our targeted
indications, the labeling for our product candidatethe United States, Europe or other countriashich we seek approval
may include limitations that could impact the comaied success of our product candidates.
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Delays in the commencement, enroliment and comppletof clinical trials could result in increased ctsto us and delay or
limit our ability to obtain regulatory approval foOCA and our other product candidates.

Delays in the commencement, enrollment and conapiedf clinical trials could increase our productelepment costs or
limit the regulatory approval of our product caratis. We initiated our clinical outcomes confirmmgtivial in PBC in
December 2014. We also initiated our Phase 2itriBISC in December 2014. We anticipate that wenei#td to conduct at
least one Phase 3 clinical trial prior to applyfagmarketing approval for NASH. We are planning tiee finalization of the
design of our Phase 3 clinical program in NASHha second quarter of 2015, subject to the completimur regulatory
discussions with the FDA and EMA. The results frih@se trials may not be available when we expeateomay be required to
conduct additional clinical trials or preclinicatdies not currently planned to receive approvaldJ@A as a treatment for the
related indication, in which case we would requaidelitional funding. In addition, our clinical pra@gns are subject to a number
of variables and contingencies, such as the restiither trials or regulatory interactions thatymesult in a change in timing.
As such, we do not know whether any future trialstadies of our other product candidates, inclgdaiar clinical outcomes
trial of OCA, will begin on time or will be compled on schedule, if at all.

The commencement, enroliment and completion ofadirtrials can be delayed or suspended for a yaoiereasons,
including:

¢ inability to obtain sufficient funds required forchnical trial or lack of adequate funding to conie the clinical trial du
to unforeseen costs or other business decisions;

« inability to reach agreements on acceptable tevitisprospective CROs and trial sites, the terfnstdch can be
subject to extensive negotiation and may vary ficantly among different CROs and trial sites;

« clinical holds, other regulatory objections taraaencing or continuing a clinical trial or the inlé to obtain
regulatory approval to commence a clinical triat@untries that require such approvals;

e discussions with the FDA or non-U.S. regulategarding the scope or design of our clinical trials

* inability to identify and maintain a sufficienumber of trial sites, many of which may alreadyebgaged in other
clinical trial programs, including some that mayfbethe same indications targeted by our prodaoddates;

« the delay in receiving results from or the fadlio achieve the necessary results in other clitrieds;
e inability to obtain approval from institutionaview boards, or IRBs, to conduct a clinical taatheir respective sites;

* severe or unexpected drug-related adverse efgperienced by patients or any determinationdtdinical trial
presents unacceptable health risks;

* abreach of the terms of any agreement withppafy other reason by, current or future collatoysathat have
responsibility for the clinical development of amiyour product candidates, including Sumitomo Dgmoin and Servier
or investigators leading clinical trials on our guat candidates;

* inability to timely manufacture sufficient quatigs of the product candidate required for a chhtdal;

« difficulty recruiting and enrolling patients t@gicipate in clinical trials for a variety of reass, including meeting the
enroliment criteria for our trial, the risks of pexures that may be required as part of the igh as a liver biopsy,
and competition from other clinical trial prografos the same indications as our product candidated;

* inability to retain enrolled patients after anatial trial is underway.
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For example, in the past, we experienced delagsiirPhase 2 clinical trial of OCA given as a moeodipy to patients with
PBC because we were unable to find and enrollfecgrit number of trial patients who met the spieadinrollment criteria in
accordance with our anticipated trial schedule. @an to finalize the design of our Phase 3 progi@n®CA in NASH in the
second quarter of 2015 is dependent upon our ssfotlgscompleting regulatory discussions.

Changes in regulatory requirements and guidanceatsayoccur and we or any of our collaborators mesd to amend
clinical trial protocols to reflect these changeathvappropriate regulatory authorities. Amendmengy require us or any of our
collaborators to resubmit clinical trial protoctds|RBs for re-examination, which may impact thstsptiming or successful
completion of a clinical trial.

In addition, if we or any of our collaborators aeguired to conduct additional clinical trials dher preclinical studies of
our product candidates beyond those contemplatedghulity to obtain regulatory approval of thegeduct candidates and
generate revenue from their sales would be simgitztmed.

Clinical failure can occur at any stage of clinicalevelopment. The results of earlier clinical triahre not necessarily
predictive of future results and any product candig we, Sumitomo Dainippon, Servier or our potetfiature collaborators
advance through clinical trials may not have favdske results in later clinical trials or receive regatory approval.

Clinical failure can occur at any stage of ouriclith development. Clinical trials may produce négabr inconclusive
results, and we or our collaborators may decideggulators may require us, to conduct additiohiaiaal trials or preclinical
studies. In addition, data obtained from trials ahdlies are susceptible to varying interpretatians regulators may not
interpret our data as favorably as we do, which delgty, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Stesa preclinical studies
and early clinical trials does not ensure that sgbent clinical trials will generate the same ariksir results or otherwise
provide adequate data to demonstrate the efficadysafety of a product candidate. A number of cargsain the
pharmaceutical industry, including those with geeaesources and experience than us, have sufigneificant setbacks in
Phase 3 clinical trials and at other stages ofaalrdevelopment, even after seeing promising tesalearlier clinical trials.

In addition, the design of a clinical trial can@®hine whether its results will support approvahgfroduct and flaws in the
design of a clinical trial may not become appateniil the clinical trial is well-advanced. We mag bnable to design and
execute a clinical trial to support regulatory apyad. Further, clinical trials of potential prodsaiften reveal that it is not
practical or feasible to continue development é$tdf OCA or our other product candidates are tbtmbe unsafe or lack
efficacy, we will not be able to obtain regulatagproval for them, the prospects for approval oAQ@uld be materially and
adversely affected and our business would be harmed

In some instances, there can be significant vditiain safety and/or efficacy results between eliéint trials of the same
product candidate due to numerous factors, inctudiranges or differences in trial protocols, défeses in composition of the
patient populations, adherence to the dosing regiamnel other trial protocols and the rate of drogoubng clinical trial
participants. We do not know whether any Phasé@s® 3 or other clinical trials we or any of oultalmorators may conduct
will demonstrate consistent or adequate efficacy safety to obtain regulatory approval to marketmnoduct candidates. If we
are unable to bring any of our current or futuredoict candidates to market, or to acquire any ntedkg@reviously approved
products, our ability to create long-term stockleoldalue will be limited.

We believe that the results of our POISE trial andlong-term safety extension trials in PBC pasewhich include
patients who currently have been on OCA therapyrfore than four years, demonstrate that OCA proglaaturable
therapeutic response. Based on these results, menty expect to complete our filings for marketiapproval of OCA in PBC
in the United States and the European Union dutiedirst half of 2015. We cannot assure you thetROISE trial results will
result in our receiving marketing approval for OBAPBC or that our planned clinical outcomes conétory trial of OCA in
PBC will demonstrate a correlation of biochemiterapeutic response in patients taking OCA witlgaificant reduction in
adverse clinical events over time.
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In December 2014, we received comprehensive datéset the FLINT trial. The Phase 2 trial in NASHrently being
conducted in Japan by our collaborator Sumitomaipabn involves different doses of OCA being adstigried to the trial
subjects than those utilized in FLINT. As a resthilg positive efficacy results seen in FLINT may be replicated in the
Japanese trial or any future trial we may condu®ASH. While we continue to work towards finaligithe design of our
Phase 3 clinical program in NASH in the second guanf 2015, this remains subject to the completibaur regulatory
discussions with the FDA and EMA. We currently beé that we will conduct at least one Phase 3adlrtrial of OCA in
NASH patients. We expect the trial design for amgtsPhase 3 trial would incorporate an interimagaite endpoint that may
serve as the basis for filing for accelerated aygdrim the United States and approval in EuroperBhough OCA has been
granted breakthrough therapy designation by the Ri2Ado not know if one pivotal clinical trial witle sufficient for
marketing approval or if requlators will agree tewarogate endpoint for accelerated approval of @@Ahe treatment of
NASH. As a result, it may take longer than antitégeto complete the design and initiation of oua$th3 program in NASH.

Our product candidates may have undesirable sideaf which may delay or prevent marketing approwa, if approval is
received, require our product candidates to be takef the market, require them to include safety méngs or otherwise
limit their sales.

A substance that binds to a receptor of a celltagders a response by that cell is called an ago®ICA has been shown to
be a potent agonist of the farnesoid X receptoEXdR. With the exception of the endogenous huméndiiid CDCA, which
has been approved to treat cholesterol gallstassollition and a rare lipid storage disease, thera@approved FXR agonists
and the adverse effects from long-term exposutkisadrug class are unknown. Unforeseen side affeatn any of our product
candidates could arise either during clinical depeient or, if approved, after the approved protastbeen marketed.

The most common side effects observed in clinidgalstof OCA in PBC were pruritus, or itching, fatie, headaches,
nausea, constipation and diarrhea. In our Phag2dRnical trial of OCA in combination with ursaalj approximately 8% of
the patients enrolled in the 10 mg and 25 mg doseps withdrew from the trial due to severe pritét the 50 mg dose,
approximately 25% of the patients withdrew from thial due to severe pruritus. In our POISE tnalyritus, generally mild to
moderate, was the most frequently reported adwarset associated with OCA treatment and was obdenv@8% of patients
on placebo, 68% of patients in the 10 mg OCA grang 56% of patients in the OCA titration group (§ t@ 10 mg). Eight
patients discontinued due to pruritus, of whom neeee in the placebo group, seven (10%) patiente wethe 10 mg OCA
group and one (1%) patient was in the OCA titratiooup (in a patient who had titrated up to 10 nRglritus also has been
observed in other clinical trials of OCA.

Based on information in the manuscript for the FLIfdal published in November 2014, pruritus ocedrmore frequently
in the OCA treatment group than in the placebattneat group (23% vs. 6%, p < 0.001) and at a hignede (predominately
moderate pruritus), but resulted in only one patitscontinuation in the OCA treatment group. le BLINT trial, OCA
treatment was associated with changes in seruthlépels, including increases in total cholestarad LDL cholesterol and a
decrease in HDL cholesterol, that were observedimit2 weeks of initiating treatment, peaked arhttiecreased in
magnitude while on treatment, and reversed furdiieing the 24-week post-treatment period. As presipdisclosed, these
changes in cholesterol levels, along with achievirggpre-defined efficacy criteria, played a raoid¢hie decision of the FLINT
data and safety monitoring board to terminate tbattnent phase of FLINT, and the publication of RFhéNT results has noted
the need for further study of these changes. Wanéhto initiate a Phase 2 trial characterizinglifid metabolic effects of OCA
and cholesterol management effects of concomitatinsadministration in NASH patients in 2015. Téaerere two patient
deaths in the FLINT trial that were previously dised in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for theryeaded December 31,
2013, and neither death was considered relatecCi®d @eatment.

Additional or unforeseen side effects from thesaror of our other product candidates could arigeeeiduring clinical
development or, if approved, after the approvedipcohas been marketed. If new side effects anedfoluring the
development of OCA for any indication, if known sidffects are shown to be more severe than prdyiobserved or if OCA
is found to have other unexpected characteristiesnay need to abandon our development of OCABSE,MNASH, PSC,
biliary atresia and other potential indications.
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The range and potential severity of possible sffbets from systemic therapies is significant. Tasults of future clinical
trials may show that our product candidates caunslesirable or unacceptable side effects, whichdcmtérrupt, delay or halt
clinical trials, and result in delay of, or failute obtain, marketing approval from the FDA andeotregulatory authorities, or
result in marketing approval from the FDA and otteggulatory authorities with restrictive label wigs.

In addition, our drug candidates are being develasepotential treatments for severe, life threatediseases and, as a
result, our trials will necessarily be conducte@ ipatient population that will be more prone tti@general population to
exhibit certain disease states or adverse evemtsy be difficult to discern whether certain eweot symptoms observed
during our trials were due to our drug candidateglacebo, resulting in our company and our develpt programs being
negatively affected even if such events or symptarasultimately determined to be unlikely relatestr drug candidates. We
further cannot assure you that additional or mekese adverse side effects with respect to OCAnwilldevelop in future
clinical trials, which could delay or preclude régfory approval of OCA or limit its commercial use.

If any of our product candidates receives markegipgroval and we or others later identify unded&ralo unacceptable side
effects caused by such products:

* regulatory authorities may require the additiomateling statements, specific warnings, a contiaatthn or field alert
to physicians and pharmacies;

* we may be required to change instructions regagrtlie way the product is administered, conducitiatal clinical
trials or change the labeling of the product;

* we may be subject to limitations on how we maynpote the product;

« sales of the product may decrease significantly;

¢ regulatory authorities may require us to takeapproved product off the market;
* we may be subject to litigation or product ligikclaims; and

e our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us, Sumitomo ippen, Servier or our potential future collaboratémom achieving or
maintaining market acceptance of the affected pbducould substantially increase commercializaiosts and expenses,
which in turn could delay or prevent us from getiagasignificant revenues from the sale of our praid.

Breakthrough therapy designation for OCA may notle to faster development or regulatory processesdues it increase
the likelihood that OCA will receive marketing appval for NASH.

If a drug is intended for the treatment of a sesioulife-threatening condition and preliminarynadial evidence indicates
that the drug may demonstrate substantial imprownémeer existing therapies on one or more clinycaignificant endpoints,
such as substantial treatment effects observed ieazlinical development, the FDA may grant a bteeough therapy
designation. Breakthrough therapy designationtenided to facilitate the development, and expetigeeview of such drugs,
but the breakthrough therapy designation doessstra any such qualification or ultimate marketpgroval by the FDA.

In January 2015, we received breakthrough theragigdation for OCA in the treatment of NASH patgewith fibrosis.
There is no guarantee that the receipt of breakgirdherapy designation will result in a fasterelepment process, review or
approval for OCA in fibrotic NASH patients or inage the likelihood that OCA will be granted mankgtapproval for fibrotic
NASH patients. Likewise, any future breakthrougéréipy designation for any other potential indicatid OCA neither
guarantees a faster development process, revieypsoval nor improves the likelihood of the grahimarketing approval by
FDA for any such potential indication of OCA comgaito drugs considered for approval under conveatiBDA procedures.

In addition, the FDA may withdraw any breakthrodgarapy designation at any time. We may seek &bmeaugh therapy
designation for other of our product candidates thel FDA may not grant this status to any of awppsed product candidates.
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We may not be able to obtain or maintain orphan drexclusivity for our product candidates, if appred, which would
cause our revenues to suffer.

Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictions, imthg the United States and Europe, may designatgsdind biologics for
relatively small patient populations as orphan drugnder the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may desigagteoduct as an orphan
drug if it is a drug or biologic intended to treatare disease or condition, which is generallynaeff as a patient population of
fewer than 200,000 individuals annually in the E@diStates.

Generally, if a product with an orphan drug desigmasubsequently receives the first marketing apalrfor the indication
for which it has such designation, the produchiitied to a period of marketing exclusivity, whiphecludes the EMA or the
FDA from approving another marketing applicationtfee same product for that time period. The applie period is seven
years in the United States and ten years in Euffipe European exclusivity period can be reducesidgears if a product no
longer meets the criteria for orphan drug desigmatir if the product is sufficiently profitable #uat market exclusivity is no
longer justified. Orphan drug exclusivity may betld the FDA or EMA determines that the requestdesignation was
materially defective or if the manufacturer is uleao assure sufficient quantity of the productrieet the needs of patients with
the rare disease or condition. In addition, itasgible that orphan drug designation in Europe matlbe maintained following
approval if the EMA determines that the productsoet satisfy the requisite criteria including derstoation of significant
clinical benefit.

Even if we obtain orphan drug exclusivity for aguot, that exclusivity may not effectively protéiee product from
competition because different products can be agorfor the same condition. Even after an orphaig @& approved, the FDA
can subsequently approve the same product foratine sondition if the FDA concludes that the latedpict is clinically
superior in that it is shown to be safer, moreaiie or makes a major contribution to patient care

Reimbursement decisions by third-party payors mayé an adverse effect on pricing and market acceptof our product
candidates, if approved. If there is not sufficiergimbursement for our products or they are not eved at all, it is less likely
that they will be widely used.

Market acceptance and sales of OCA or any othelyastacandidates that we develop, if approved, défpend on
reimbursement policies and may be affected by éuhgalthcare reform measures. Government authwaitid third-party
payors, such as private health insurers and hesthtenance organizations, decide which drugswikkgover and establish
payment levels. We cannot be certain that reimiooese will be available for OCA or any other prodoahdidates that we
develop. Also, reimbursement policies could redheedemand for, or the price paid for, our produteeimbursement is not
available or is available on a limited basis, weymat be able to successfully commercialize OC/Amy other product
candidates that we develop.

In the United States, the Medicare PrescriptiongDlmprovement, and Modernization Act of 2003, dviM, changed the
way Medicare covers and pays for pharmaceuticalymis. The legislation established Medicare Paxtiiich expanded
Medicare coverage for outpatient prescription dsugchases by the elderly but provided authoritylifoiting the number of
drugs that will be covered in any therapeutic clage MMA also introduced a new reimbursement medhagy based on
average sales prices for physician-administeredsdriny negotiated prices for our products covédned Part D prescription
drug plan will likely be lower than the prices weégint otherwise obtain. Moreover, while the MMA ajesl only to drug
benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payaften follow Medicare coverage policy and paymenitations in setting
their own payment rates. Any reduction in paymbat tesults from the MMA may result in a similaduetion in payments
from non-governmental payors.

The United States and several other jurisdictioescansidering, or have already enacted, a nunfegislative and
regulatory proposals to change the healthcarersyistevays that could affect our ability to sell quoducts profitably. Among
policy makers and payors in the United States #s@lvdere, there is significant interest in promgtihanges in healthcare
systems with the stated goals of containing heafthcosts, improving quality and/or expanding este$ealthcare. In the
United States, the pharmaceutical industry has beggarticular focus of these efforts and has begmfieantly affected by
major legislative initiatives. We expect to expade pricing pressures in connection with the safe@A and any other
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products that we develop, due to the trend towaadaged healthcare, the increasing influence otthezdintenance
organizations and additional legislative proposals.

In March 2010, the Patient Protection and AfforéaBhare Act, as amended by the Health Care and Educstfordability
Reconciliation Act, or collectively, ACA, becamenlan the United States. The goal of ACA is to regltize cost of health care
and substantially change the way health care &nfiad by both governmental and private insurersleMre cannot predict
what impact on federal reimbursement policies léggslation will have in general or on our businspscifically, the ACA may
result in downward pressure on pharmaceutical reisgment, which could negatively affect market atanece of OCA or any
future product candidates. In addition, althoughlthnited States Supreme Court upheld the constitality of most of the
ACA, some states have indicated that they intembtamplement certain sections of the ACA, and senembers of the U.S.
Congress are still working to repeal the ACA. Weraat predict whether these challenges will contiouether proposals will
be made or adopted, or what impact these effor{shaae on us.

If we market products in a manner that violates Htéecare fraud and abuse laws, or if we violate gowment price reporting
laws, we may be subject to civil or criminal penad.

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pimaceutical products, several other types of stattfederal healthcare
laws, commonly referred to as “fraud and abuse’ldvave been applied in recent years to restritdicemarketing practices in
the pharmaceutical industry. Other jurisdictionstsas Europe have similar laws. These laws inclalde claims and anti-
kickback statutes. If we market our products andpsaducts are paid for by governmental progratrs,possible that some of
our business activities could be subject to chgkemnder one or more of these laws.

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person fkamowingly presenting, or causing to be presentddisa claim for
payment to the federal government or knowingly mgkbr causing to be made, a false statement ta fg$e claim paid. The
federal healthcare program anti-kickback statutdipits, among other things, knowingly and willfubffering, paying,
soliciting or receiving remuneration to inducejroreturn for, purchasing, leasing, ordering oaaging for the purchase, lease
or order of any healthcare item or service covéretfledicare, Medicaid or other federally financeghlthcare programs. This
statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangesnbetween pharmaceutical manufacturers on théhané and prescribers,
purchasers or formulary managers on the othero@iih there are several statutory exemptions andategy safe harbors
protecting certain common activities from prosemutithe exemptions and safe harbors are drawnwlgtrand practices that
involve remuneration intended to induce prescribmgchasing or recommending may be subject tdisgrif they do not
qualify for an exemption or safe harbor. Most ftatkso have statutes or regulations similar tdeHeral anti-kickback law and
federal false claims laws, which apply to items aediices covered by Medicaid and other state progr or, in several states,
apply regardless of the payor. Administrative, lcwvid criminal sanctions may be imposed under tfesderal and state laws.

Over the past few years, a number of pharmacewiwhbther healthcare companies have been progdacutier these laws
for a variety of promotional and marketing actiedtj such as: providing free trips, free goods, sbamsulting fees and grants
and other monetary benefits to prescribers; reppitiflated average wholesale prices that were tisex by federal programs
to set reimbursement rates; engaging in off-labefrtion; and submitting inflated best price infation to the Medicaid
Rebate Program to reduce liability for Medicaidatels.

If the FDA and EMA and other regulatory agencies dwt approve the manufacturing facilities of our fure contract
manufacturers for commercial production on a timebasis or at all, we may not be able to commeraalany of our product
candidates or commercialization of our product caddtes could be delayed.

We do not intend to manufacture the pharmaceypicaducts that we plan to sell. We currently haveamgents with a
contract manufacturer for the production of thévacpharmaceutical ingredients and the formulatibsufficient quantities of
drug product for the confirmatory outcomes triadl dhe long-term safety extension phase of the P@igEor OCA in PBC,
our Phase 3 NASH program for OCA and the
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other trials and preclinical studies that we pladnduct prior to seeking regulatory approvabuf contract manufacturer
should cease to provide services to us for anyreasge likely would experience delays in advanang clinical trials while we
identify and qualify one or more replacement sugpliand we may be unable to obtain replacementisagm terms that are
favorable to us.

We do not have agreements for commercial suppfi€CA or any of our other product candidates andweg not be able
to reach agreements with these or other contractifaaturers for sufficient supplies to commercial@CA if it is approved.
Additionally, the facilities used by any contracamufacturer to manufacture OCA or any of our offreduct candidates must
be the subject of a satisfactory inspection befloee=DA or the regulators in other jurisdictionpagve the product candidate
manufactured at that facility. We are completelpetalent on these third-party manufacturers for diamge with the
requirements of U.S. and non-U.S. regulators femtfanufacture of our finished products. If our nfanturers cannot
successfully manufacture material that conformunspecifications and current good manufacturiragfice requirements of
any governmental agency whose jurisdiction to wiehare subject, our product candidates will noajyeroved or, if already
approved, may be subject to recalls.

Reliance on third-party manufacturers entails riskahich we would not be subject if we manufaatitfee product
candidates, including:

« the possibility that we are unable to enter mtmanufacturing agreement with a third party to afiacture our product
candidates;

« the possible breach of the manufacturing agre&srisnthe third parties because of factors beyamndontrol; and

« the possibility of termination or nonrenewal bétagreements by the third parties before we dectalarrange for a
qualified replacement third-party manufacturer.

Any of these factors could cause the delay of aggdror commercialization of our product candidatesjse us to incur
higher costs or prevent us from commercializingmaduct candidates successfully. Furthermorepyfaf our product
candidates are approved and contract manufactiaiets deliver the required commercial quantittédinished product on a
timely basis and at commercially reasonable prceswe are unable to find one or more replacemeantufacturers capable of
production at a substantially equivalent costubssantially equivalent volumes and quality ancadimely basis, we would
likely be unable to meet demand for our products@uld lose potential revenue. It may take sewgrats to establish an
alternative source of supply for our product caatid and to have any such new source approvecelgotlernment agencies
that regulate our products.

Even if our product candidates receive regulatorgmoval, we will still be subject to strict regutaly requirements governing
manufacturing and marketing of our products and, asresult, we could face future development andukdory difficulties.

Our product candidates, if approved, will also bkjsct to ongoing regulatory requirements for latgelpackaging, storage,
advertising, promotion, record-keeping and subroissif safety and other post-market informationadidition, approved
products, manufacturers and manufacturers’ fagslitire required to comply with extensive FDA andAEquirements and
requirements of other similar agencies, includinguging that quality control and manufacturing eheres conform to current
Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMPs. As suchamgtour contract manufacturers are subject tarassitreview and
periodic inspections to assess compliance with c&Mecordingly, we and others with whom we work teentinue to
expend time, money and effort in all areas of raguy compliance, including manufacturing, prodoctand quality control.
We will also be required to report certain adveesctions and production problems, if any, to tbé&\Rand EMA and other
similar agencies and to comply with certain requieats concerning advertising and promotion formoducts. Promotional
communications with respect to prescription drugssaibject to a variety of legal and regulatoryrietsons and must be
consistent with the information in the product'pegved label. Accordingly, we may not promote oppr@ved products, if
any, for indications or uses for which they are aygproved.
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If a regulatory agency discovers previously unkng@rwblems with a product, such as adverse eventsanticipated
severity or frequency, or problems with the fagilithere the product is manufactured, or disagretstine promotion,
marketing or labeling of a product, it may imposstrictions on that product or us, including remgiiwithdrawal of the
product from the market. If our product candiddggisto comply with applicable regulatory requirent& a regulatory agency
may:

e issue warning letters;

« mandate modifications to promotional materialsemuire us to provide corrective information t@hiecare
practitioners;

* require us or our collaborators to enter intmasent decree or permanent injunction, which celude imposition of
various fines, reimbursements for inspection castglired due dates for specific actions and piesaior
noncompliance;

* impose other administrative or judicial civil ciiminal penalties;
¢ withdraw regulatory approval,

« refuse to approve pending applications or supptemto approved applications filed by us, Sumitdadmippon,
Servier or our potential future collaborators;

* impose restrictions on operations, including lyoséw manufacturing requirements; or

e seize or detain products.

Risks Related to the Commercialization of Our Prodats

Even if approved, our product candidates may nohewve broad market acceptance among physiciansigués and
healthcare payors, and as a result our revenueseated from their sales may be limited.

If we receive marketing approval from regulatoryrewities, we plan to initiate the commercial lalare§ OCA in PBC in
the United States and certain European countrig®16. The commercial success of OCA or our othedyct candidates, if
approved, will depend upon their acceptance amioagrtedical community, including physicians, heatire payors and
patients. For PBC, the current standard of cavesisdeoxycholic acid, which is available generical ursodiol. In order for
OCA to be commercially successful, we will neediémonstrate that it is safe and effective for teattment of patients who
have an inadequate response to or who are unatiietate ursodiol, referred to as second linettneat, and is more effective
than any other alternatives that may be developedsecond line treatment for PBC, particularlyegithe much higher price
that we anticipate charging for OCA compared topttiee of generically available ursodiol. In NASH®BPSC, since there are
currently no approved therapies, we do not knowdégree to which OCA will be accepted as a therapgn if approved.

The degree of market acceptance of our productidates will depend on a number of factors, inclgdin
» limitations or warnings contained in our prodoahdidates’ FDA or EMA-approved labeling;

« changes in the standard of care or availabilitgltefrnative therapies at similar or lower coststi@r targeted indicatioi
for any of our product candidates, such as ursddiche treatment of PBC;

« limitations in the approved clinical indicatiofts our product candidates;

» demonstrated clinical safety and efficacy comg@aceother products;

» lack of significant adverse side effects;

* sales, marketing and distribution support;

* availability of reimbursement from managed cdemp and other third-party payors;
« timing of market introduction and perceived effeeness of competitive products;

» the degree of cost-effectiveness;
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» availability of alternative therapies at simitarlower cost, including generics and over-the-¢euproducts;

« the extent to which our product candidates apg@ped for inclusion on formularies of hospitalglananaged care
organizations;

» whether our product candidates are designatedripitysician treatment guidelines for the treatnoémhe indications
for which we have received regulatory approval;

e adverse publicity about our product candidatefworable publicity about competitive products;
e convenience and ease of administration of oudyebcandidates; and
« potential product liability claims.

If our product candidates are approved, but danbieve an adequate level of acceptance by phygsigiatients, the
medical community and healthcare payors, sufficieménue may not be generated from these prododteia may not become
or remain profitable. In addition, efforts to edtecthe medical community and third-party payorsrenbenefits of our product
candidates may require significant resources andmager be successful.

We have no sales, marketing or distribution experde and we will have to invest significant additiaresources to develop
those capabilities or enter into acceptable thirdsfy sales and marketing arrangements.

We have no sales, marketing or distribution expegeand have only recently started the initial peasf developing an
internal commercial organization. We plan to esséibbur own sales and marketing capabilities andipte OCA for PBC in
the United States and Europe with a targeted $ales if and when it is approved and may utilize services of third-party
collaborators in certain jurisdictions. To develnfernal sales, distribution and marketing captiedj we will have to invest
significant additional amounts of financial and mgement resources, some of which will be committéat to any
confirmation that OCA or any of our other produahdidates will be approved. For example, recruiéind training a sales
force is expensive and time consuming and couldydahy product launch. For product candidates wiverdecide to perform
sales, marketing and distribution functions oursgler through third parties, we could face a nunobedditional risks,
including:

e we or our third-party sales collaborators maylmgble to attract and build an effective markgtinsales force;
» the cost of securing or establishing a marketingales force may exceed the revenues generat@aytyyroducts; and
« our direct sales and marketing efforts may nosloecessful.

We have entered into an agreement with Sumitomaipen for the development and commercializatio®GfA in Japan,
China, South Korea and potentially other Asian ¢oes, if approved, and have entered into an ageeémith Servier to assist
in the development and commercialization of certdiour earlier stage agonists of a dedicateddild receptor called TGR5
outside of the United States and Japan, if approved may elect to seek additional strategic coliators for our product
candidates. We may have limited or no control dkiersales, marketing and distribution activitieshefse third parties. Our
future revenues may depend heavily on the sucdebe efforts of these third parties.

If any of our current strategic collaborators failto perform its obligations or terminates its agmeent with us, the
development and commercialization of the produchdalates under such agreement could be delayedeamtnated and our
business could be substantially harmed.

We currently have strategic collaborations in plesating to certain of our product candidates. &iitered into an exclusive
license agreement with Sumitomo Dainippon regarttiegdevelopment and commercialization of OCA fBCPand NASH in
Japan, China and South Korea and provided Sumiiangippon with an option to extend its exclusiveehse to different
indications as well as certain other Asian coustri¥fe entered into a strategic collaboration wighvir initially focused on the
identification and
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optimization of novel TGR5 agonists for the treatinef type-2 diabetes and other associated diserdéese strategic
collaborations may not be scientifically or comniaitg successful due to a number of important fesstoncluding the
following:

Sumitomo Dainippon and Servier have significanteion in determining the efforts and resources &ach will appl
to their strategic collaboration with us. The tignand amount of any cash payments, milestonescyadties that we
may receive under such agreements will dependmang other things, the efforts, allocation of reses and
successful development and commercialization ofppoduct candidates by Sumitomo Dainippon and 8ervider
their respective agreements;

Our agreement with Servier provides it with witiscretion in deciding which novel compounds toatbe through the
preclinical and clinical development process. hassible for Servier to reject certain compourtdng point in the
research, development and clinical trial procesbauit triggering a termination of their agreemeithws. In the event
of any such decision, our business and prospectdmadversely affected due to our inability togress such
compounds ourselves;

Our agreement with Sumitomo Dainippon restricfsom developing or commercializing any FXR agomdstreat PBC
or NASH during the term of the agreement other marsuant to the Sumitomo Dainippon agreement and o
agreement with Servier restricts it from developingommercializing any TGR5 receptor agonist dyitime term of th
agreement other than pursuant to the Servier agmeteiBubject to these restrictions, it is posdibég Sumitomo
Dainippon or Servier may develop and commerciakfther alone or with others, or be acquired bpmpgany that has,
products that are similar to or competitive witk firoduct candidates that they license from us;

Sumitomo Dainippon or Servier may change the $atfitheir development and commercialization effant pursue
higher-priority programs;

Sumitomo Dainippon or Servier may, under spedifiscumstances, terminate their strategic collations with us on
short notice and for circumstances outside of ontrol, which could make it difficult for us to edtt new strategic
collaborators or adversely affect how we are pgezkin the scientific and financial communities;

Sumitomo Dainippon and Servier have, under aeacumstances, the right to maintain or defendimtellectual
property rights licensed to them in their terriésri and, although we may have the right to asshenmaintenance and
defense of our intellectual property rights if atrategic collaborators do not, our ability to donsay be compromised
by our strategic collaborators’ acts or omissions;

Sumitomo Dainippon or Servier may utilize our iteetual property rights in such a way as to inlittgation that coulc
jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual propeights or expose us to potential liability; a

Sumitomo Dainippon or Servier may not comply vathapplicable regulatory requirements, or faitéport safety data
in accordance with all applicable regulatory regmoients.

If either Sumitomo Dainippon or Servier fails tové®p or effectively commercialize OCA or any TGE&mpounds,
respectively, we may not be able to replace theth another collaborator. We may also be unablétain, on terms
acceptable to us, a license from such strategialmmiator to any of its intellectual property tihaay be necessary or useful for
us to continue to develop and commercialize a prodandidate. Any of these events could have anabtalverse effect on
our business, results of operations and our atidigchieve future profitability, and could cause stock price to decline.
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We may not be successful in establishing and maiinitag development and commercialization collabomatis, which could
adversely affect our ability to develop certainadr product candidates and our financial conditiceind operating results.

Because developing pharmaceutical products, coimduciinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvekpanding
manufacturing capabilities and marketing approvexdipcts are expensive, we have entered into, arydseek to enter into,
collaborations with companies that have more egpeg and resources than we have. For example, weeehéered into
collaborations with Sumitomo Dainippon for OCA &delrvier for our earlier stage TGR5 program. We establish additional
collaborations for development and commercializatib OCA in territories outside of those licensgd3umitomo Dainippon
or for our earlier stage TGR5 program in the Uniiates or Japan and for other product candidattsemsearch programs,
including INT-767 and INT-777. Additionally, if angf our product candidates receives marketing aggbreve may enter into
sales and marketing arrangements with third pawni#tsrespect to our unlicensed territories. If are unable to maintain our
existing arrangements or enter into any new su@ngements on acceptable terms, if at all, we neayriable to effectively
market and sell our products in our target mark&fs.expect to face competition in seeking appro@riallaborators.
Moreover, collaboration arrangements are complektiame consuming to negotiate, document and impteraed they may
require substantial resources to maintain. We nodye successful in our efforts to establish anglément collaborations or
other alternative arrangements for the developrofatr product candidates.

When we collaborate with a third party for devel@mnand commercialization of a product candidatecan expect to
relinquish some or all of the control over the fetsuccess of that product candidate to the trartypFor example, Sumitomo
Dainippon has the exclusive rights to OCA in Jajztnina and South Korea and a right of first refusdicense OCA in several
other Asian countries. Our collaboration partney mat devote sufficient resources to the commaemzitibn of our product
candidates or may otherwise fail in their comméizasion. The terms of any collaboration or otheaagement that we
establish may not be favorable to us. In additéony, collaboration that we enter into, including oalaborations with
Sumitomo Dainippon and Servier, may be unsuccegsthe development and commercialization of owdpict candidates. In
some cases, we may be responsible for continuiagjipical and initial clinical development of a pect candidate or research
program under a collaboration arrangement, angalyenent we receive from our collaboration partnay e insufficient to
cover the cost of this development. If we are uaablreach agreements with suitable collaboratorsdr product candidates,
we would face increased costs, we may be forcdéichtothe number of our product candidates we cammercially develop or
the territories in which we commercialize them arelmight fail to commercialize products or prograimswhich a suitable
collaborator cannot be found. If we fail to achiewuecessful collaborations, our operating resultsfanancial condition will be
materially and adversely affected.

If we fail to develop OCA for additional indicatias) our commercial opportunity will be limited.

To date, we have focused the majority of our dgwelent efforts on the development of OCA for theoseldine treatment
of PBC. One of our strategies is to pursue clinitealelopment of OCA for other orphan and more comindications, to the
extent that we have sufficient funding.

PBC is a rare disease for which we plan to seeketiag approval for OCA as a second-line treatnagmt, as a result, the
market size for treatments of PBC is limited. Farthore, because a significant proportion of PBGep# do not exhibit any
symptoms at the time of diagnosis, PBC may beaulefiagnosed for a significant period of time. Doghese factors, our
ability to grow revenues will be dependent on duility to successfully develop and commercializeOfGr the treatment of
additional indications, including NASH. In partiem) we believe that our future success will degerdrge part on the results
of our development of OCA for the treatment of NAHthough NASH is believed to be one of the mastvalent chronic
liver diseases worldwide, NASH may be left undiaggfor a long time and a definitive diagnosis #3¥ is currently based
on a histological assessment of a liver biopsychvitinpacts the ability to easily identify patierfesirthermore, even if we are
successful in developing and obtaining marketirngreygal of OCA for the treatment of NASH, we may betable to
commercialize OCA successfully.
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The completion of development, securing of apprewveal commercialization of OCA for additional indicas will require
substantial additional funding and is prone toribks of failure inherent in drug development. Véaot provide you any
assurance that we will be able to successfully aclvany of these indications through the developimetess. Even if we
receive FDA or EMA approval to market OCA for thedatment of any of these additional indications,caenot assure you that
any such additional indications will be succesgfabmmercialized, widely accepted in the marketplacmore effective than
other commercially available alternatives. If we anable to successfully develop and commerci@Zé for these additional
indications, our commercial opportunity will be lted and our business prospects will suffer.

Risks Related to Our Business and Strategy

We face competition from other biotechnology andgpmaceutical companies and our operating resultdlwsuffer if we fail
to compete effectively.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriesraemsely competitive and subject to rapid andificant technological
change. We have competitors in the United Stateye and other jurisdictions, including major rimational pharmaceutical
companies, established biotechnology companiesjapepharmaceutical and generic drug companiesuariversities and
other research institutions. Many of our competitoave greater financial and other resources, asitdrger research and
development staff and more experienced marketidgn@amnufacturing organizations. Large pharmaceuticaipanies, in
particular, have extensive experience in clinieating, obtaining regulatory approvals, recruifi@gients and manufacturing
pharmaceutical products. These companies alsodigniicantly greater research, sales and marketipgbilities and
collaborative arrangements in our target marketh {gading companies and research institutionsldished pharmaceutical
companies may also invest heavily to acceleratodery and development of novel compounds or ticemse novel
compounds that could make the product candidatgsmé develop obsolete. As a result of all of thfeséors, our competitors
may succeed in obtaining patent protection andipk Br EMA approval or discovering, developing armenercializing drugs
for the chronic liver and other diseases that veetangeting before we do. Smaller or early-stagepanies may also prove to
be significant competitors, particularly throughlaborative arrangements with large, establishedpamies.

Some of the pharmaceutical and biotechnology compame expect to compete with include Albireo ABisBl-Myers
Squibb Company, Conatus Pharmaceuticals Inc., &k Fharma GmbH, Eli Lilly, Exelixis, Inc., FF Pnaaceuticals BV,
Galectin Therapeutics Inc., Galmed Medical Resehtdh Genfit SA, Genkyotex SA, Gilead Sciences, JilaxoSmithKline,
Immuron Ltd., Kadmon Corporation LLC, Kalypsys, lalla Pharmaceutical Company, Madrigal Pharmacaigtiénc.,
Mochida Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., NasVax Ltd., NBMpharmaceuticals, Novimmune SA., Novo Nordisk ARaptor
Pharmaceutical Corp., Shire plc, Takeda Pharmaz@@o Ltd, Tioga Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Tobirar@peutics, Inc., Viking
Therapeutics, Inc. and Virobay, Inc. Each of Gil&aiences, Inc. and Genfit SA has publicly statethiention to announce
Phase 2 clinical trial results for the treatmenN&{SH in 2015. In addition, many universities anivate and public research
institutes may become active in our target diseasas. The results from our POISE and FLINT ttiage brought more
attention to our targeted indications and bile atidmistry. As a result, we believe that additicc@hpanies and organizations
may seek to compete with us in the future. Our catitgyrs may succeed in developing, acquiring @rlgng on an exclusive
basis, technologies and drug products that are efteetive or less costly than OCA or any otherduret candidates that we are
currently developing or that we may develop, whiolild render our products obsolete and noncomypetiti

Off-label uses of other potential treatments maytlthe commercial potential of our product cantkdaespecially given
the anticipated pricing for our product candidakes. example, off-label use of fibrate drugs hasnbeported in PBC, though
many fibrates are specifically contraindicatedudse in PBC due to potential concerns over acutdangiterm safety in this
patient population. In NASH, a number of treatmeimsiuding vitamin E (an antioxidant), insulin sétizers (such as
metformin), antihyperlipidemic agents (such as dgbrotil), pentoxifylline and ursodiol, are used-tdbel. Although none of
these treatments have been clearly shown in clitieds to alter the course of the disease, imewipus study conducted by the
NASH Clinical Research Network, similar improvenetd those observed with OCA in the FLINT trial
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in certain histological measures of NASH were régobwith vitamin E and pioglitazone. Various ottreatments, both
approved and unapproved, have been used in theintlieations we are targeting.

We believe that our ability to successfully competédepend on, among other things:

« the results of our and our strategic collabosdtdlinical trials and preclinical studies;

e our ability to recruit and enroll patients forratlinical trials;

« the efficacy, safety and reliability of our pradeandidates;

« the speed at which we develop our product catetida

« our ability to design and successfully executerapriate clinical trials;

« our ability to maintain a good relationship witigulatory authorities;

« the timing and scope of regulatory approvalany;

« our ability to commercialize and market any of ptoduct candidates that receive regulatory aprov
e the price of our products;

¢ adequate levels of reimbursement under privategawernmental health insurance plans, includinglivie;
e our ability to protect intellectual property rigtrelated to our products;

e our ability to manufacture and sell commerciahuities of any approved products to the marked; an
* acceptance of our product candidates by physiaaud other health care providers.

If our competitors market products that are mofeatifve, safer or less expensive than our futucelpets, if any, or that
reach the market sooner than our future producasyy, we may not achieve commercial success. ditiad, the
biopharmaceutical industry is characterized bydagchnological change. Because our research agpnogegrates many
technologies, it may be difficult for us to stayedist of the rapid changes in each technologyelfai to stay at the forefront
of technological change, we may be unable to coengfééctively. Technological advances or produetgetbped by our
competitors may render our technologies or prodantlidates obsolete, less competitive or not ecaram

We depend on third-party contractors for a substiahportion of our operations and may not be abke ¢ontrol their work as
effectively as if we performed these functions oeifses.

We outsource and plan to continue to outsourcetantial portions of our operations to third-parégnsce providers,
including the conduct of preclinical studies andichl trials, collection and analysis of data ananufacturing. We will likely
use the services of third-party vendors in relatmour commercialization activities, including gret sales, marketing and
distribution. Our agreements with third-party seevproviders are on a study-by-study and/or prdjgeproject basis.
Typically, we may terminate the agreements withagoand are responsible for the supplier’s previoieurred costs. In
addition, a number of third-party service providérat we retain will be subject to the FDA'’s and EBlregulatory
requirements and similar standards outside of thieed States and Europe and we do not have canteslcompliance with
these regulations by these providers. Consequefithgse providers do not adhere to applicableeguing practices and
standards, the development and commercializatimupproduct candidates could be delayed or stgppeith could severely
harm our business and financial condition.

Because we have relied on third parties, our imerapacity to perform these functions is limitedrtanagement oversight.
Outsourcing these functions involves the risk thatl parties may not perform to our standards, matyproduce results in a
timely manner or may fail to perform at all. Sevemars ago, we experienced difficulties with adkparty contract
manufacturer for OCA, including delays in receivadequate clinical trial supplies as requestedimitie requested time
periods. We subsequently replaced this manufactitbrother third-party contract manufacturers@eA. It is possible that
we could experience
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similar difficulties in the future. In addition, éruse of third-party service providers requiretoudisclose our proprietary
information to these parties, which could increimerisk that this information will be misapprofdd. There are a limited
number of third-party service providers that spiezeaor have the expertise required to achieveboisiness objectives.
Identifying, qualifying and managing performancetofd-party service providers can be difficultné consuming and cause
delays in our development programs. We currentiiel@small number of employees, which limits therimal resources we
have available to identify and monitor third-passrvice providers. To the extent we are unabldeatify, retain and
successfully manage the performance of third-psetyice providers in the future, our business newdversely affected. We
may further be subject to the imposition of civilasiminal penalties if their conduct of clinicaidls violates applicable law.

Our third-party service providers generally are prathibited from providing their services to ottsopharmaceutical
companies, including companies that currently oy mahe future compete with us. For example, éeré our third-party
service providers and consultants may be ableveldg intellectual property to which we are notitted under our agreements
which may eventually be used to develop produasdbmpete with our products. Although we generadlye confidentiality
and non-disclosure agreements in place with oud{barty service providers and consultants, sucH trarties may be able to
provide services to other companies without viakathe terms of our agreements. In addition, ajhoue may seek to enter
into non-compete arrangements with our key thindypservice providers, such arrangements are diffio negotiate and we
may be unable to successfully enter into such gaaents.

A variety of risks associated with our internatiohlusiness operations and our planned internatiortausiness relationships
could materially adversely affect our business.

We have recently formed a wholly-owned subsidiarthe United Kingdom which we anticipate will seagour
headquarters for our operations in Europe andigati building out our European operations. We aigeently have an Italian
subsidiary that acts as our legal representativedoclinical trials in the European Union to sétiEuropean Union regulatory
requirements. In addition, we have entered intagnreement with Sumitomo Dainippon for the developineé OCA and with
Servier for our earlier stage TGR5 program, andnag enter into agreements with other third paftieshe development and
commercialization of OCA or our other product caladés in international markets. Our internatiorp@rations and business
relationships subject us to additional risks thayymmaterially adversely affect our ability to attair sustain profitable
operations, including:

« differing regulatory requirements for drug appatsvinternationally;
« potentially reduced protection for intellectuabperty rights;
« potential third-party patent rights in countr@sgside of the United States;

« the potential for so-called “parallel importingyhich is what occurs when a local seller, facethwelatively high local
prices, opts to import goods from another jurigdicwith relatively low prices, rather than buyitigem locally;

* unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriersragdlatory requirements;

e economic weakness, including inflation, or poltiinstability, particularly in non-U.S. economisd markets,
including several countries in Europe;

« compliance with tax, employment, immigration dalor laws for employees traveling abroad;
» taxes in other countries;

« foreign currency fluctuations, which could resalincreased operating expenses and reduced revand other
obligations incident to doing business in anotfemtry;

« workforce uncertainty in countries where laborast is more common than in the United States;

» production shortages resulting from any everfexcihg raw material supply or manufacturing capids abroad; and
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« business interruptions resulting from geo-pdditiactions, including war and terrorism, or natutighsters, including
earthquakes, volcanoes, typhoons, floods, hurricand fires.

We have been significantly expanding our operaticarsd the size of our company and will need to cont our expansion.
We may experience difficulties in managing our sifjpant growth.

From December 31, 2013 to December 31, 2014, optagme base has grown from 40 to 136 employeeth&136
employees as of December 31, 2014, 92 employeesiweur development group, 18 employees were ircommercial
group and 26 employees were in our corporate gratipecember 31, 2014, one employee was basedriopEuAs we
advance our programs for OCA in PBC, NASH and P& seek regulatory approval in the United Statesedsewhere,
increase the number of ongoing product developmragrams and advance our product candidates thnotggtinical studies
and clinical trials, we will need to increase owguct development, scientific and administratieadicount to manage these
programs. We will also need to grow our commercégdabilities, which will require us to hire additad personnel, both for our
ongoing pre-commercial activities and for the lduaad ongoing marketing and sale of any produatlicate for which we
obtain marketing approval. In addition, to meet obligations as a public company and to supporttiteipated growth in the
other functions at our company, we will need toéase our general and administrative capabiltés are also expanding our
operations geographically and have recently forenadholly-owned subsidiary in the United Kingdom wathiwe anticipate will
serve as our headquarters for our operations ingeuand anticipate building out our European opmrat Our management,
personnel and systems currently in place may nadeguate to support this future growth.

Our need to effectively manage our operations, gr@md various projects requires that we:

e successfully attract and recruit new employeasoosultants with the expertise and experience ileaguire in the
United States and Europe;

* manage our clinical programs effectively, which anticipate being conducted at numerous clinited sicross the
world, and advance our other development efforts;

» develop and expand our marketing and sales infictsre; and
e continue to improve our operational, financiatlananagement controls, reporting systems and pooesd

If we are unable to successfully manage this gramithincreased complexity of operations, our bissimeay be adversely
affected.

We may not be able to manage our business effeltifave are unable to attract and retain key perstel and consultants.

We may not be able to attract or retain qualifiedspnnel and consultants across our organizatieriaithe intense
competition for qualified personnel and consultamsng biotechnology, pharmaceutical and othemlesskes. If we are not
able to attract and retain necessary personnet@mslltants to accomplish our business objectivesnay experience
constraints that will significantly impede the aml@ment of our development and commercial objestivar ability to raise
additional capital and our ability to implement dwsiness strategy.

Our industry has experienced a high rate of turnofenanagement personnel in recent years. Weightyldependent on
the development, regulatory, commercialization lmsiness development expertise of Mark Pruzanskico-founder and
president and chief executive officer; David Shapaur chief medical officer; Barbara Duncan, ohietfinancial officer and
treasurer; Luciano Adorini, our chief scientifidioér; Rachel McMinn, our chief business and stygtefficer; Lisa Bright, our
chief commercial and corporate affairs officer; @ other key employees and consultants, and $sofdroberto Pellicciari,
our co-founder who provides ongoing consulting esto us. If we lose one or more of our execubfffieers or key
employees or consultants, our ability to implenmmntbusiness strategy successfully could be sdyitasmed. Any of our
executive officers or key employees or consultamy terminate their employment at any time. Replgexecutive officers,
key employees and consultants may be difficult mag take an extended
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period of time because of the limited number ofvitilials in our industry with the breadth of skiled experience required to
develop, gain regulatory approval of and commeim@gbroducts successfully. Competition to hire setdin employees and
consultants from this limited pool is intense, arelmay be unable to hire, train, retain or motitatse additional key
personnel and consultants.

We have scientific and clinical advisors and cotasi$, such as our co-founder Professor Robertw&tati, who assist us
in formulating our research, development and ciihgtrategies. These advisors are not our emplayesnay have
commitments to, or consulting or advisory contragith, other entities that may limit their availbtyi to us and typically they
will not enter into non-compete agreements withliua.conflict of interest arises between their kéor us and their work for
another entity, we may lose their services. Intaldi our advisors may have arrangements with atberpanies to assist those
companies in developing products or technologiasrtay compete with ours.

Failure to establish and maintain adequate finan@grastructure and accounting systems and contraisuld impair our
ability to comply with the financial reporting anahternal controls requirements for publicly tradecbmpanies.

As a public company, we operate in an increasidgiyanding regulatory environment, which requiremwmply with
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and the relatessrahd regulations of the Securities and Exchangentission, expanded
disclosure requirements, accelerated reportingireaents and more complex accounting rules. Compasponsibilities
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act include esthainigsand maintaining corporate oversight and adegungernal control over
financial reporting and disclosure controls andcpdures. Effective internal controls are neceskarys to produce reliable
financial reports and are important to help preVewncial fraud.

Our compliance with Section 404 of the SarbanesPAlct has required and will continue to requirattive incur
substantial accounting expense and expend signifrnanagement efforts. Our testing, or the tedtingur independent
registered public accounting firm, may reveal deficies in our internal controls that we would bguired to remediate in a
timely manner so as to be able to comply with #wpuirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-OxlgyeAch year. If we are
not able to comply with the requirements of Sect6d of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a timely manreheyear, we could be
subject to sanctions or investigations by the Sgesrand Exchange Commission, the NASDAQ StockKdtor other
regulatory authorities which would require addiabfinancial and management resources and couldrsely affect the market
price of our common stock. Furthermore, if we cdrprovide reliable financial reports or preventdaour business and
results of operations could be harmed and investmud lose confidence in our reported financi&imation.

Our employees may engage in misconduct or otherriomer activities, including noncompliance with re¢atory standards
and requirements and insider trading, which coul@ysificantly harm our business.

We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud ceratisconduct. Misconduct by employees could inelindentional
failures to comply with the regulations of the F2Ad non-U.S. regulators, provide accurate inforomatio the FDA and non-
U.S. regulators, comply with health care fraud abdse laws and regulations in the United Statesabrmhd, report financial
information or data accurately or disclose unaugear activities to us. In particular, sales, marigtind business arrangements
in the health care industry are subject to extenkiws and regulations in the United States andaabintended to prevent
fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-dealing and o#imisive practices. These laws and regulationsrestyict or prohibit a
wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing amdrpotion, sales commission, customer incentive r@og and other business
arrangements. Employee misconduct could also imvitie improper use of information obtained in therse of clinical trials,
which could result in regulatory sanctions andaesiharm to our reputation. We have adopted a ebdenduct, but it is not
always possible to identify and deter employee amideict, and the precautions we take to detect eswbpt this activity may
not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanagieks or losses or in protecting us from govemtakinvestigations or
other actions or lawsuits stemming from a faileomply with these laws or regulations. If anytsactions are instituted
against us, and we are not successful in deferalirgelves or asserting our rights, those actionildeave a significant impact
on our business, including the imposition of sigmint fines or other sanctions.
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We face potential product liability exposure, arfdsuiccessful claims are brought against us, we niragur substantial
liability for a product candidate and may have tixit its commercialization.

The use of our product candidates in clinical $rihd the sale of any products for which we magiobharketing approval
expose us to the risk of product liability clairRsoduct liability claims may be brought againsbusur collaborators by
participants enrolled in our clinical trials, patis, health care providers or others using, adteinigy or selling our products. If
we cannot successfully defend ourselves againssacly claims, we would incur substantial liabiti®Regardless of merit or
eventual outcome, product liability claims may tesu

« withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

« termination of clinical trial sites or entiredtiprograms;

e costs of related litigation;

« substantial monetary awards to patients or atlz@mants;

« decreased demand for our product candidatesoascf revenues;

« impairment of our business reputation;

« diversion of management and scientific resoufic@a our business operations; and
¢ the inability to commercialize our product caraties.

We have obtained limited product liability insurerzoverage for our clinical trials in the Unite@t®s and in selected other
jurisdictions where we are conducting clinicallsigDur product liability insurance coverage fanidal trials in the United
States is currently limited to an aggregate of filllon and outside of the United States we haweecage for amounts that
vary by country. As such, our insurance coveragg ineé reimburse us or may not be sufficient to fainse us for any
expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreover, insareoverage is becoming increasingly expensive,iaritie future, we may
not be able to maintain insurance coverage atsonedle cost or in sufficient amounts to protechgainst losses due to
product liability. We intend to expand our insuramoverage for products to include the sale of cersial products if we
obtain marketing approval for our product candidatedevelopment, but we may be unable to obtammnercially reasonable
product liability insurance for any products appdvJor marketing. Large judgments have been awardeldss action lawsuits
based on drugs that had unanticipated side effécaccessful product liability claim or seriesotdims brought against us,
particularly if judgments exceed our insurance cage, could decrease our cash resources and aghegfifeet our business.

Our insurance policies are expensive and only pidtas from some business risks, which will leaveexposed to significant
uninsured liabilities.

We do not carry insurance for all categories & tigt our business may encounter. Some of theipslive currently
maintain include general liability, employment giees liability, property, auto, workers’ compernsat products liability and
directors’ and officers’ insurance. We do not kntnyvever, if we will be able to maintain insurangéh adequate levels of
coverage. Any significant uninsured liability maguire us to pay substantial amounts, which wodleesely affect our
financial position and results of operations. Fenthore, our significant increase in stock price @wedeased volatility may
result in us being required to pay substantialghler premiums for our directors’ and officers’ irmuce than those to which we
are currently subject, and may even lead a largebeu of underwriters to be unwilling to cover us.

If we engage in an acquisition, reorganization oubiness combination, we will incur a variety of kis that could adversely
affect our business operations or our stockholders.

From time to time we have considered, and we wifitmue to consider in the future, strategic bussniaitiatives intended
to further the expansion and development of ouiness. These initiatives may include acquiring besses, technologies or
products or entering into a business combinatiah amother company. If we pursue such a strategycauld, among other
things:

e issue equity securities that would dilute ourent stockholders’ percentage ownership;
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* incur substantial debt that may place strainswmnoperations;

» spend substantial operational, financial and mameent resources to integrate new businessesolegies and
products;

e assume substantial actual or contingent liabditi
» reprioritize our development programs and evessealevelopment and commercialization of our prodaedidates; or

¢ merge with, or otherwise enter into a businesshination with, another company in which our stauklers would
receive cash and/or shares of the other compangroms that certain of our stockholders may not ddesirable.

Although we intend to evaluate and consider actjoiiss, reorganizations and business combinatiotiseiuture, we have
no agreements or understandings with respect t@eguyisition, reorganization or business combimaibthis time.

Our business and operations would suffer in the avef system failures.

Despite the implementation of security measuresjrdarnal computer systems, and those of our C&@sother third
parties on which we rely, are vulnerable to danfagm computer viruses, unauthorized access, natisasters, terrorism, war
and telecommunication and electrical failuresuflsan event were to occur and cause interrupioasr operations, it could
result in a material disruption of our drug devetemt programs. For example, the loss of clinidal ttata from completed or
ongoing or planned clinical trials could resuldielays in our regulatory approval efforts and digantly increase our costs to
recover or reproduce the data. To the extent tmatiasruption or security breach were to result loss of or damage to our
data or applications, or inappropriate disclosdreomfidential or proprietary information, we codifecur liability and the
further development of our product candidates cbeldlelayed.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

It is difficult and costly to protect our propriety rights, and we may not be able to ensure theiotection. If our patent
position does not adequately protect our produchd@ates, others could compete against us moreatlye which would
harm our business, possibly materially.

Our commercial success will depend in part on olrigiand maintaining patent protection and trasdeeterotection of our
current and future product candidates and the rdstbeed to manufacture them, as well as succesdifiénding these patents
against third-party challenges. Our ability to stijpd parties from making, using, selling, offegito sell or importing our
product candidates is dependent upon the extemliith we have rights under valid and enforceabtenga or trade secrets that
cover these activities.

The patent positions of biotechnology and pharm@écaicompanies can be highly uncertain and invelveplex legal and
factual questions for which important legal prinegremain unresolved. No consistent policy regeydhe breadth of claims
allowed in pharmaceutical patents has emergedtidahe United States or in many jurisdictionssade of the United States.
Changes in either the patent laws or interpretatafrpatent laws in the United States and othentt@ms may diminish the
value of our intellectual property. Accordingly, wannot predict the breadth of claims that mayrifereed in the patents that
may be issued from the applications we currentlsnay in the future own or license from third pasti€urther, if any patents
we obtain or license are deemed invalid and unee#dyle, our ability to commercialize or license maohnology could be
adversely affected.

Others have filed, and in the future are likelyil®, patent applications covering products andhtexdogies that are similar,
identical or competitive to ours or important ta business. We cannot be certain that any pateaiicapion owned by a third
party will not have priority over patent applicat®filed or in-licensed by us, or that we or ogetisors will not be involved in
interference, derivation, opposition or invalidggoceedings before U.S. or non-U.S. patent offices.
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The degree of future protection for our proprietagits is uncertain because legal means afforg lonited protection and
may not adequately protect our rights or permitougain or keep our competitive advantage. For gam

» others may be able to develop a platform simtdaor better than, ours in a way that is not ceudsy the claims of our
patents;

« others may be able to make compounds that aii&asitm our product candidates but that are noeced by the claims
of our patents;

« we might not have been the first to make themtiees covered by our pending patent applications;

« we might not have been the first to file patgmplacations for these inventions;

» others may independently develop similar or alitive technologies or duplicate any of our techgigls;
e any patents that we obtain may not provide uh watity competitive advantages;

¢ we may nhot develop additional proprietary tecbgas that are patentable; or

» the patents of others may have an adverse effectir business.

As of December 31, 2014, we were the owner of gtobover 110 issued or granted U.S. and non-Uagns relating to
OCA with claims directed to pharmaceutical compaynqharmaceutical compositions, methods of makiegeé compounds,
and methods of using these compounds in variousdtidns. We were also the owner at that date afreeof 28 pending U.S.
and non-U.S. patent applications relating to OC#hese areas.

In addition, as of December 31, 2014, we were thieeo of record of over 145 issued or granted Un8l.r=on-U.S. patents
relating to our product candidates other than O@i#y claims directed to pharmaceutical compountdsymaceutical
compositions, methods of making these compoundsraitlods of using these compounds in various itidics. We were also
the owner of record of over 40 pending U.S. and-dd®. patent applications relating to such othedpct candidates in these
areas.

Patents covering the composition of matter of OQpire in 2022 if the appropriate maintenance rerearauity, or other
government fees are paid. We expect that the p#itents and patent applications, if issued, ifQB& portfolio, and if the
appropriate maintenance, renewal, annuity or ajbeernmental fees are paid, would expire from 2022033. We expect the
issued INT-767 composition of matter patent inlthited States, if the appropriate maintenance wahennuity or other
governmental fees are paid, to expire in 2029. Weet the other patents and patent applicationssufed, in the INT-767
portfolio, and if the appropriate maintenance, vesigannuity or other governmental fees are paigxpire from 2027 to 2033.
We expect the issued INT-777 composition of mgitgent in the United States, if the appropriatentesiance, renewal,
annuity or other governmental fees are paid, tarexip 2030. We expect the other patents and patgpitcations, if issued, in
the INT-777 portfolio, and if the appropriate maimance, renewal, annuity or other governmentaldezpaid, to expire from
2028 to 2029.

Without patent protection on the composition of terabf our product candidates, our ability to asear patents to stop
others from using or selling our product candidates non-pharmaceutically acceptable formulatiay oe limited.

Due to the patent laws of a country, or the densiaf a patent examiner in a country, or our owndistrategies, we may
not obtain patent coverage for all of our produstdidates or methods involving these candidatéseiparent patent
application. We plan to pursue divisional patergligations or continuation patent applicationsha tUnited States and other
countries to obtain claim coverage for inventiorisol were disclosed but not claimed in the paratémt application.
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If we do not obtain protection under the Hatch-Waxan Act and similar legislation outside of the UnileStates by extending
the patent terms and obtaining data exclusivity four product candidates, our business may be matiyiharmed.

Depending upon the timing, duration and specificS[@A marketing approval of OCA and our other prodeandidates, if
any, one or more of our U.S. patents may be ebdibd limited patent term restoration under thedRrice Competition and
Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, referred tthasHatch-Waxman Act. The Hatch-Waxman Act permaipatent
restoration term of up to five years as compensdtio patent term lost during product developmet the FDA regulatory
review process. However, we may not be grantedkamsion because of, for example, failing to appithin applicable
deadlines, failing to apply prior to expirationrefevant patents or otherwise failing to satisfplagable requirements.
Moreover, the applicable time period or the scdpgatent protection afforded could be less tharregiest. If we are unable to
obtain patent term extension or restoration ottéhe of any such extension is less than we reqgtresperiod during which we
will have the right to exclusively market our pretiwill be shortened and our competitors may obégiproval of competing
products following our patent expiration, and cawanue could be reduced, possibly materially. énethent that we are unable
to obtain any patent term extensions, the issuatposition of matter patents for OCA are expecteejuire in 2022 assuming
they withstand any challenge. We expect that therqtatents and patent applications for the OCAfqan, if issued, and if the
appropriate maintenance, renewal, annuity or ajbgernmental fees are paid, would expire from 2@22033.

We may incur substantial costs as a result of lit@n or other proceedings relating to patent anther intellectual property
rights.

If we choose to go to court to stop another padynfusing the inventions claimed in any patentoiain, that individual
or company has the right to ask the court to fude such patents are invalid or should not be ertbagainst that third party.
These lawsuits are expensive and would consumeaideaesources and divert the attention of manalgeand scientific
personnel even if we were successful in stoppiegrifringement of such patents. In addition, thera risk that the court will
decide that such patents are not valid and thatowsot have the right to stop the other party fugimg the inventions. There is
also the risk that, even if the validity of suchequds is upheld, the court will refuse to stopdtieer party on the ground that
such other party’s activities do not infringe oights to such patents. In addition, the U.S. Supr€uurt has recently modified
some tests used by the U.S. Patent and Trademéde Qfr USPTO, in granting patents over the pasy&ars, which may
decrease the likelihood that we will be able tcagbpatents and increase the likelihood of challesfgany patents we obtain or
license.

We may infringe the intellectual property rights afthers, which may prevent or delay our product dipment efforts and
stop us from commercializing or increase the costxommercializing our product candidates.

Our success will depend in part on our ability per@te without infringing the proprietary rightstbird parties. We cannot
guarantee that our products, or manufacture oofisar product candidates, will not infringe thipdsty patents. Furthermore, a
third party may claim that we or our manufacturargcommercialization collaborators are using ini@rg covered by the third
party’s patent rights and may go to court to stefrom engaging in our normal operations and & including making or
selling our product candidates. These lawsuit€astly and could affect our results of operationd divert the attention of
managerial and scientific personnel. There iskathat a court would decide that we or our comnadiation collaborators are
infringing the third party’s patents and would ards or our collaborators to stop the activitiesered by the patents. In that
event, we or our commercialization collaboratory mat have a viable way around the patent and reay to halt
commercialization of the relevant product. In aiddit there is a risk that a court will order usoar collaborators to pay the
other party damages for having violated the otlaetyfs patents. In the future, we may agree tormaié/ our commercial
collaborators against certain intellectual propérfsingement claims brought by third parties. r&rmaceutical and
biotechnology industries have produced a proliferadf patents, and it is not always clear to induparticipants, including us,
which patents cover various types of products dhous of use. The coverage of patents is subjentégoretation by the
courts, and the interpretation is not always umifor

59




TABLE OF CONTENTS

If we are sued for patent infringement, we woulddé demonstrate that our products or methoderaith not infringe the
patent claims of the relevant patent or that thergaclaims are invalid, and we may not be abl@aohis. Proving invalidity is
difficult. For example, in the United States, prayinvalidity requires a showing of clear and caring evidence to overcome
the presumption of validity enjoyed by issued peteBven if we are successful in these proceedimgsnay incur substantial
costs and divert management’s time and attentiguisuing these proceedings, which could have anmaéadverse effect on
us. If we are unable to avoid infringing the pateégiits of others, we may be required to seekembe, which may not be
available, defend an infringement action or chakethe validity of the patents in court. Patemgdition is costly and time
consuming. We may not have sufficient resourcesita) these actions to a successful conclusioadttition, if we fail to
obtain a license, develop or obtain non-infringieghnology or defend an infringement action sudoéigsor have infringed
patents declared invalid, we may incur substantiahetary damages, encounter significant delaysimging our product
candidates to market and be precluded from manufagtor selling our product candidates.

We cannot be certain that others have not filedrgatpplications for technology covered by our preg@pplications, or
that we were the first to invent the technologycaiese:

¢ some patent applications in the United States beapaintained in secrecy until the patents areeiss
e patent applications in the United States arechlpi not published until 18 months after the ptiodate; and
* publications in the scientific literature ofteaglbehind actual discoveries.

Our competitors may have filed, and may in therlfile, patent applications covering technologyitir to ours. Any such
patent application may have priority over our paggplications, which could further require us biain rights to issued patents
covering such technologies. If another party hasl fa U.S. patent application on inventions simiteours, we may have to
participate in an interference or derivation pralieg declared by the USPTO to determine priorityneention in the United
States. The costs of these proceedings could tetasital, and it is possible that such efforts widug unsuccessful if,
unbeknownst to us, the other party had indepenglantived at the same or similar invention prioota own invention,
resulting in a loss of our U.S. patent positionhwiéspect to such inventions. Other countries saméar laws that permit
secrecy of patent applications, and such patericagipns may be entitled to priority over our apgtions in such jurisdictions.

Some of our competitors may be able to sustaicadlsts of complex patent litigation more effectiviign we can because
they have substantially greater resources. In iaddiany uncertainties resulting from the initiatiand continuation of any
litigation could have a material adverse effecban ability to raise the funds necessary to comtiaur operations.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depds on compliance with various procedural, docurhenbmission, fee
payment and other requirements imposed by governtakpatent agencies, and our patent protection abile reduced or
eliminated for non-compliance with these requiremntsn

Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annwgty dad various other governmental fees on pataedfs@applications will
be due to be paid to the USPTO and various govartahpatent agencies outside of the United Statssveral stages over the
lifetime of the patents and/or applications. Weéhaystems in place to remind us to pay these &esywe employ an outside
firm and rely on our outside counsel to pay thess fdue to non-U.S. patent agencies. The USPT®aaiwis non-U.S.
governmental patent agencies require compliandeawtumber of procedural, documentary, fee paymuettother similar
provisions during the patent application process.aMploy reputable law firms and other profess®t@help us comply, and
in many cases, an inadvertent lapse can be curpdyoyent of a late fee or by other means in accmelaith the applicable
rules. However, there are situations in which nemgliance can result in abandonment or lapse opé#tent or patent
application, resulting in partial or complete lagpatent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. brck an event, our competitors
might be able to enter the market and this circants would have a material adverse effect on osinbss.
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We may be subject to claims that our employees hasengfully used or disclosed alleged trade secitsheir former
employers. If we are not able to adequately prevdistlosure of trade secrets and other proprietarformation, the value of
our technology and products could be significantiiminished.

As is common in the biotechnology and pharmacelitichustries, we employ individuals who were prexdty employed at
other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companieduding our competitors or potential competitorse Way be subject to
claims that these employees, or we, have inadvwgrtenotherwise used or disclosed trade secretdhmr proprietary
information of their former employers. Litigationajmbe necessary to defend against these claima.iEwe are successful in
defending against these claims, litigation couklifein substantial costs and be a distractionanagement.

We rely on trade secrets to protect our proprietacinologies, especially where we do not belieatent protection is
appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secretslifficult to protect. We rely in part on confitkéality agreements with our
employees, consultants, outside scientific collatws, sponsored researchers and other advispreterct our trade secrets and
other proprietary information. These agreements nmeffectively prevent disclosure of confidentid@bormation and may not
provide an adequate remedy in the event of unai@tftbdisclosure of confidential information. In &ézh, others may
independently discover our trade secrets and ptapyi information. For example, the FDA, as pait®f ransparency
Initiative, is currently considering whether to neadditional information publicly available on aitime basis, including
information that we may consider to be trade seaebther proprietary information, and it is ntetas at the present time how
the FDA's disclosure policies may change in therfeyif at all. Enforcing a claim that a third pailtegally obtained and is
using any of our trade secrets is expensive anel timmsuming, and the outcome is unpredictableddiitian, courts outside the
United States are sometimes less willing to praracte secrets. Moreover, our competitors may ieddently develop
equivalent knowledge, methods and know-how. Casily time-consuming litigation could be necessamrimrce and
determine the scope of our proprietary rights, faildre to obtain or maintain trade secret protectould adversely affect our
competitive business position.

We have not yet registered all of our trademarksddailure to secure those registrations could adsely affect our business.

We have applied for a number of trademarks andaemarks to further protect the proprietary positof our products.
We have approximately ten pending trademark andcgemark applications in the United States. OCadémark applications
may not be allowed for registration or our registetrademarks may not be maintained or enforcednBtrademark
registration proceedings, we may receive rejectidithough we are given an opportunity to respanthbse rejections, we
may be unable to overcome such rejections. In iatdiin the USPTO and in comparable agencies inynoétmer jurisdictions,
third parties are given an opportunity to opposedpgg trademark applications and to seek to canecgstered trademarks.
Opposition or cancellation proceedings may be figdinst our trademarks, and our trademarks magureive such
proceedings. If we do not secure registration®fortrademarks, we may encounter more difficultgmfiorcing them against
third parties than we otherwise would.

Trademark protection varies in accordance withll®&, and continues in some countries as londgh@srademark is used
and in other countries as long as the trademadgistered. Trademark registrations generally ardxed but renewable terms.
We cannot provide any assurances that any tradsmasdervice marks will be sufficient to preventngeetitors from adopting
similar names. The adoption of similar names by petitors could impede our ability to build braneédity and lead to
customer confusion, which could adversely affectsales or profitability.

In addition, we have not yet received approval fregulatory authorities for a proprietary namedoy of our product
candidates, including OCA, in any jurisdiction. Apsoprietary name we propose to use with OCA inUh#éed States and
Europe must be approved by the FDA and EMA, respelgt regardless of whether we have registerearigpplied to register
it, as a trademark. The FDA and EMA typically cooda review of proposed product names, including\aiuation of
potential for confusion with other product naméshé FDA or EMA objects to any of our proposedmietary product names,
we may be required to expend significant additioraburces in an effort to identify a suitable pieiary product name that
would qualify under applicable trademark laws, infiinge the existing rights of third parties anel dicceptable to the FDA.
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Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

An active trading market in our common stock maytrize maintained.

The trading market in our common stock has beererasdly volatile. The quotation of our common stockThe NASDAQ
Global Select Market does not assure that a mefjrmgnsistent and liquid trading market will exig/e cannot predict
whether an active market for our common stock beélimaintained in the future. An absence of an adtading market could
adversely affect our stockholders’ ability to salf common stock at current market prices in stio periods, or possibly at
all. Additionally, market visibility for our commostock may be limited and such lack of visibilitaynhave a depressive effect
on the market price for our common stock. As of &eber 31, 2014, approximately 39.6% of our outstapghares of
common stock was held by our officers, directoes)dficial owners of 5% or more of our securitiehéo than FMR LLC,
Carmignac Gestion and their respective affiliateg] their respective affiliates, which adversefget the liquidity of the
trading market for our common stock, in as mucfedsral securities laws restrict sales of our shhgethese stockholders. If
our affiliates continue to hold their shares of coom stock, there will be limited trading volumedar common stock, which
may make it more difficult for investors to selethshares or increase the volatility of our stpdke.

We are currently subject to securities class actligigation and may be subject to similar or othétigation in the future,
which may divert management’s attention.

On February 21, 2014 and February 28, 2014, pwedatareholder class actions, styfebt H. Atwood v. Intercept
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. et éindGeorge Burton v. Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inalet respectively, were filed in the United
States District Court for the Southern DistriciNgw York, naming us and certain of our officerglagendants. These lawsuits
were filed by stockholders who claim to be suingoehalf of anyone who purchased or otherwise aedwur securities
between January 9, 2014 and January 10, 2014. [&meifis seek unspecified monetary damages onlbehthe putative class
and an award of costs and expenses, includinghaitts fees. The lawsuits allege that we made naterisrepresentations
and/or omissions of material fact in our publicottisures during the period from January 9, 2013atauary 10, 2014, in
violation of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Sd@sgiExchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Rulé&Iffomulgated
thereunder. The alleged improper disclosures rétabeir January 9, 2014 announcement that the FltifdThad been stopped
early based on a pre-defined interim efficacy asialySpecifically, the lawsuits claim that our Jaryu9, 2014 announcement
was misleading because it did not contain inforamategarding certain lipid abnormalities seen mEINT trial in OCA-
treated patients compared to placebo. On AprieB24, two individuals each moved to consolidatecthees and a lead plaintiff
was subsequently appointed by the Court. On Jun2®4, the lead plaintiff filed an amended complain behalf of the
putative class as contemplated by the order o€that. On August 14, 2014, the defendants filedbtion to dismiss the
complaint, which has been opposed by the leadtffai@ral arguments on the motion to dismiss wee&d on February 24,
2015. No decision has been made by the Court omthi®n to dismiss. The lead plaintiff seeks ungjest monetary damages
on behalf of the putative class and an award dsasd expenses, including attorneys’ fees.

While we believe we have meritorious defenses, avaot predict the outcome of these lawsuits. Theg be additional
suits or proceedings brought in the future. Momitprand defending against legal actions, whethebmeritorious, is time-
consuming for our management and detracts fronability fully to focus our internal resources orr tuisiness activities, and
we cannot predict how long it may take to resohese matters. In addition, we may incur substalgggl fees and costs in
connection with litigation. Although we have insnica, coverage could be denied or prove to be iicgerit. We are not
currently able to estimate the possible cost tiam these lawsuits, as they are currently at aly stage, and we cannot be
certain how long it may take to resolve these laissar the possible amount of any damages that sehme required to pay.
We have not established any reserves for any patdiability relating to these lawsuits. It is miBle that we could, in the
future, incur judgment or enter into settlementlaims for monetary damages. A decision adverseitonterests on either of
these lawsuits could result in the payment of sautigl damages and could have a material advefieset eh our business,
results of operations and financial condition. didi&ion, the uncertainty of the currently pendiag/éuits could lead to more
volatility in our stock price.
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Our stock price has been and may in the future ldatile, which could cause purchasers of our commstock to incur
substantial losses.

The trading price of our stock price has been,iatifely to continue to be, highly volatile andutd be subject to wide
fluctuations in response to various factors, somehich are beyond our control. Since our initiabfic offering which
occurred in October 2012, the price of our comntonkson The NASDAQ Global Select Market has ranfyech $17.96 per
share to $497.00 per share. In addition to therdéwtors discussed in this “Risk Factors” sectithese factors include:

e adverse results or delays in our clinical trials;
« inability to obtain additional funding;

e any delay in filing an IND, NDA, MAA or comparabkubmission for any of our product candidatesaamdadverse
development or perceived adverse development egthact to the regulatory review of such submission;

« failure to successfully develop and commercia@@A and any of our other product candidates;
« failure to maintain our existing strategic allias or enter into new alliances;

« inability to obtain adequate product supply fa@®and our future product candidates or the inghit do so at
acceptable prices;

« results of clinical trials of our competitors'quiucts;

* regulatory actions with respect to our productewr competitors’ products;

« changes in laws or regulations applicable tofoture products;

« failure to meet or exceed financial projectiores mway provide to the public;

« failure to meet or exceed the estimates and gtiojes of the investment community;

e actual or anticipated fluctuations in our finaal@ondition and operating results;

e actual or anticipated changes in our growth reli@ive to our competitors;

e actual or anticipated fluctuations in our comjpesi’ operating results or changes in their grovatie;
e competition from existing products or new produttiat may emerge;

e announcements by us, our collaborators or oumpatitors of significant acquisitions, strategiclabbrations, joint
ventures, collaborations or capital commitments;

e issuance of new or updated research or reporsetyrities analysts;

« fluctuations in the valuation of companies pereediby investors to be comparable to us;

» share price and volume fluctuations attributablenconsistent trading volume levels of our shares
* additions or departures of key management onsfiepersonnel;

« disputes or other developments related to prtgsieights, including patents, litigation mattersd our ability to obtain
patent protection for our technologies;

e announcement or expectation of additional finag@fforts;
* significant lawsuits, including patent or stoclder litigation, involving us;
¢ sales of our common stock by us, our insidemsuorother stockholders;

« failure to adopt appropriate information secusygtems, including any systems that may be redjtirsupport our
growing and changing business requirements;
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« market conditions for biopharmaceutical stockgéneral; and
« general economic, industry and market conditions.

Furthermore, the stock markets in general and tu&en for biotechnology companies in particularénaxperienced
extreme price and volume fluctuations that havecéd and continue to affect the market pricesjaftg securities of many
companies. These fluctuations often have beenaterktbr disproportionate to the operating perforeasf those companies.
These broad market and industry fluctuations, dsagegeneral economic, political and market cdodg such as recessions,
interest rate changes or international currenastdlations may negatively impact the market pricstares of our common
stock, regardless of our actual operating perfomeatm the past, companies that have experiendetilitg in the market price
of their stock have been subject to securitiesscasion litigation. We are currently subject tasd action securities lawsuits
and may be the target of this type of litigatiorthie future, which could result in substantial scatd divert our management’'s
attention from other business concerns, which ceatibusly harm our business. As a result of tblatility, our stockholders
could incur substantial losses.

We have a significant stockholder, which will limytour ability to influence corporate matters and maive rise to conflicts
of interest.

Genextra S.p.A., together with its affiliates, wham refer to collectively as Genextra, is our latggockholder. As of
December 31, 2014, Genextra owned 6,454,953 sh&ms common stock. The shares of common stockeaviny Genextra
represented approximately 30.1% of our outstandamgmon stock as of December 31, 2014. Accordirgsnextra exerts and
will continue to exert significant influence oves and any action requiring the approval of the éidaf our common stock,
including the election of directors and amendmémtsur organizational documents, such as incraasasr authorized shares
of common stock and approval of significant corp@tsansactions. This concentration of voting pomekes it less likely that
any other holder of common stock or directors aftmusiness will be able to affect the way we areaged and could delay or
prevent an acquisition of us on terms that othaldtolders may desire.

In addition, if Genextra obtains a majority of @ammon stock, Genextra would be able to contrainaliters submitted to
our stockholders for approval, as well as our marent and affairs. For example, Genextra woulddbeta control the
election of directors, amendments to our orgaropati documents and approval of any merger, coretdia, sale of all or
substantially all of our assets or other businessisnation or reorganization. In addition, if Getrexobtains a majority of our
common stock, we would be deemed a “controlled @mwpwithin the meaning of the NASDAQ Listing Rulé$nder the
NASDAQ Listing Rules, a company of which more tf#%6 of the voting power is held by another persogroup of persons
acting together is a “controlled company” and miggenot to comply with certain NASDAQ Listing Rsleegarding corporate
governance, including: (i) the requirement thatagamty of our board of directors consist of indegent directors, (ii) the
requirement that the compensation of our officerslbtermined or recommended to the board by a cosagien committee
that is composed entirely of independent directans, (iii) the requirement that director nomineessblected or recommended
to the board by a majority of independent directora nominating committee that is composed egtoéindependent
directors.

Furthermore, the interests of Genextra may notysveaincide with your interests or the intereststhier stockholders, and
Genextra may act in a manner that advances itsriiesests and not necessarily those of other btadkrs, including seeking a
premium value for its common stock, and might gffee prevailing market price for our common std@kir board of directors,
which consists of nine directors, including twoilaffed with Genextra, has the power to set the memof directors on our
board from time to time.

Our disclosure controls and procedures may not pewvor detect all errors or acts of fraud.

We are subject to the periodic reporting requireimefithe Exchange Act. Our disclosure controls mmdedures are
designed to reasonably assure that informationimedjto be disclosed by us in reports we file dwrsit under the Exchange
Act is accumulated and communicated to managementrded, processed, summarized and reported vifthitime periods
specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. Wéebelthat
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any disclosure controls and procedures or interoafrols and procedures, no matter how well cormtband operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assuraratetth objectives of the control system are met.

These inherent limitations include the realitiest fudgments in decision-making can be faulty dvad breakdowns can
occur because of simple error or mistake. Additignaontrols can be circumvented by the individaats of some persons, by
collusion of two or more people or by an unautredibverride of the controls. Accordingly, becaukthe inherent limitations
in our control system, misstatements or insufficiaclosure due to error or fraud may occur artchecdetected.

You may experience future dilution as a result eftéire equity offerings.

In the future, we may offer additional shares af cammon stock or other securities convertible mtexchangeable for
our common stock in order to raise additional @pilVe cannot assure you that we will be able licsbares or other securities
in any other offering at a price per share thajsal to or greater than the price per share yalifpaour shares. Investors
purchasing shares or other securities in the futaud have rights, preferences or privileges setsithose of existing
stockholders and you may experience dilution. Y@y incur additional dilution upon the exercise ny @utstanding stock
options or vesting of restricted stock units or eisa

If securities or industry analysts cease publishingsearch or reports about us, our business or ooarket, or if they publish
inaccurate or unfavorable reports about our stodkge price of our stock and trading volume could diee.

The trading market for our common stock depengsaih on the research and reports that securitieslastry analysts
publish about our company. We do not have any obatrer these analysts, and there can be no assutiaat analysts will
continue to cover us or provide favorable coveréfgene or more of the analysts who cover us dowdgrour common stock or
publish inaccurate or unfavorable research aboubosiness, our stock price would likely declirfeorie or more of the
analysts covering us fail to regularly publish nép@n us, demand for our common stock could degiihich could cause our
stock price and trading volume to decline.

Anti-takeover provisions in our restated certifi@abf incorporation and our restated by-laws, as g provisions of
Delaware law, might discourage, delay or preventtange in control of our company or changes in ooranagement and,
therefore, depress the trading price of our commstock.

Provisions in our restated certificate of incorpimraand restated by-laws, as well as provisionBafware law, contain
provisions that may discourage, delay or prevaneeger, acquisition or other change in control gtatkholders may consider
favorable, including transactions in which you ntigtherwise receive a premium for your shares ofcomnmon stock. These
provisions may also prevent or frustrate attemptsur stockholders to replace or remove our managén®ur corporate
governance documents include provisions:

« authorizing the issuance of “blank check” coniadetpreferred stock, the terms of which may bal&hed and shares
of which may be issued without stockholder apprpval

« prohibiting stockholder action by written consehereby requiring all stockholder actions to &lkeh at a meeting of
our stockholders, to the extent that no stockholbgrether with its affiliates, holds more than 56#@ur voting stock;

« eliminating the ability of stockholders to calspecial meeting of stockholders;

e permitting our board of directors to acceler&i testing of outstanding equity awards upon aettansactions that
result in a change of control; and

« establishing advance notice requirements for natians for election to the board of directorsargroposing matters
that can be acted upon at stockholder meetings.
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In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we areexilip provisions of Delaware law, including SeetRD3 of the Delaware
General Corporation Law, or DGCL, which preventsisastockholders holding more than 15% of our ontitey common
stock from engaging in certain business combinatisithout approval of the holders of substantiallyof our outstanding
common stock. Any provision of our restated cagife of incorporation or restated by-laws or Del@anaw that has the effect
of delaying or deterring a change in control cdirtdt the opportunity for our stockholders to reaeia premium for their shares
of our common stock, and could also affect theeptiiat some investors are willing to pay for oumemon stock.

The existence of the foregoing provisions and &k&over measures may also frustrate or prevenatempts by our
stockholders to replace or remove our current mamagt or members of our board of directors anddchmit the price that
investors might be willing to pay in the future &irares of our common stock. They could also gettantial acquirers of our
company, thereby reducing the likelihood that yould receive a premium for your common stock iraequisition.

Claims for indemnification by our directors and affers may reduce our available funds to satisfy sessful stockholder
claims against us and may reduce the amount of mpagailable to us.

As permitted by Section 102(b)(7) of the DGCL, cestated certificate of incorporation limits theddility of our directors
to the fullest extent permitted by law. In additias permitted by Section 145 of the DGCL, ouratest certificate of
incorporation and restated bylaws provide that kadl sndemnify, to the fullest extent authorizedtbg DGCL, each person
who is involved in any litigation or other proceeglibecause such person is or was a director aeoffif our company or is or
was serving as an officer or director of anothditgat our request, against all expense, los&bility reasonably incurred or
suffered in connection therewith. Our restatedifogate of incorporation provides that the rightimlemnification includes the
right to be paid expenses incurred in defendingmogeeding in advance of its final dispositiorgyaded, however, that such
advance payment will only be made upon deliveryg@f an undertaking, by or on behalf of the dweor officer, to repay all
amounts so advanced if it is ultimately determitteat such director is not entitled to indemnifioati If we do not pay a proper
claim for indemnification in full within 60 daystaf we receive a written claim for such indemnifica, except in the case of a
claim for an advancement of expenses, in which sash period is 20 days, our restated certifichtaamrporation and our
restated bylaws authorize the claimant to bring@&tion against us and prescribe what constitutkefense to such action.

Section 145 of the DGCL permits a corporation tteimnify any director or officer of the corporatiagainst expenses
(including attorney’s fees), judgments, fines ambants paid in settlement actually and reasonatalyried in connection with
any action, suit or proceeding brought by reasahefact that such person is or was a directaffarer of the corporation, if
such person acted in good faith and in a mannéhtheeasonably believed to be in, or not opposethe best interests of the
corporation, and, with respect to any criminal@cir proceeding, if he or she had no reason fex®his or her conduct was
unlawful. In a derivative action (i.e., one brougktor on behalf of the corporation), indemnificatimay be provided only for
expenses actually and reasonably incurred by aegtdr or officer in connection with the defensesettlement of such an
action or suit if such person acted in good fait s a manner that he or she reasonably believbd tn, or not opposed to,
the best interests of the corporation, exceptribahdemnification shall be provided if such persball have been adjudged to
be liable to the corporation, unless and only todktent that the court in which the action or su#is brought shall determine
that the defendant is fairly and reasonably eutitteindemnity for such expenses despite such ajtidn of liability.

The rights conferred in the restated certificatenobrporation and the restated bylaws are notusiet, and we are
authorized to enter into indemnification agreemeritl our directors, officers, employees and agantto obtain insurance to
indemnify such persons. We have entered into indf@ation agreements with each of our officers diréctors.

The above limitations on liability and our indenicétion obligations limit the personal liability ofur directors and officers
for monetary damages for breach of their fiduc@uyy as directors by shifting the burden of sudsés and expenses to us.
Although we have increased the coverage undericestdrs’ and officers’ liability insurance, centdiabilities or expenses
covered by our indemnification obligations may not

66




TABLE OF CONTENTS

be covered by such insurance or the coverage tioitamounts may be exceeded. As a result, we reag to use a significant
amount of our funds to satisfy our indemnificatahligations, which could severely harm our busiress financial condition
and limit the funds available to stockholders whaymhoose to bring a claim against our company.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryfoands and certain other tax attributes may be lindte

As of December 31, 2013 and 2014, we had net apgraiss carryforwards, or NOLs, for federal incotae purposes of
$104.7 million and $208.9 million, respectively, it expire from 2024 through 2033. Our ability tidize our NOLs may be
limited under Section 382 of the Internal Revenoe&of 1986, as amended, or the Internal Revende.Qde limitations
apply if an “ownership change,” as defined by S8t882 of the Internal Revenue Code, occurs. Géypeaa ownership
change occurs when certain shareholders increaseatigregate ownership by more than 50 percemtaig¢s over their lowest
ownership percentage in a testing period (typicditge years). We have assessed whether one orawaership changes as
defined under Section 382 of the Internal Revenogethave occurred since our inception and haverdited that there have
been at least two such changes. Accordingly, atfhove believe that these ownership changes haveesgited in material
limitations on our ability to use these NOLs, ohility to utilize the aforementioned carryforwanaigy be limited due to other
reasons. Additionally, U.S. tax laws limit the timering which these carryforwards may be utilizgdiast future taxes. As a
result, we may not be able to take full advantdgbese carryforwards for federal and state taypses. Future changes in
stock ownership may also trigger an ownership chargl, consequently, a Section 382 limitation.

Item 1B.Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Iltem 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters and clinical developmpetations are located in New York, New York amad ®iego,
California, where we lease and occupy approximeé28|$26 and 47,000 square feet of space, resphctive

On February 19, 2015, we entered into an underleidheMerck Sharp & Dohme Limited for our new offiin the King's
Cross area of London, United Kingdom. The leaseiges us with approximately 6,000 rentable squeet ih London for
office space. The lease term is anticipated toieddne 2019.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
See Item 1. “Business — Legal Proceedings” of Amisual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Iltem 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty
Securities

Market Information

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Glabatket on October 11, 2012 under the symbol “ICPIIHe
following table sets forth, for the quarterly petsoindicated, the high and low sales prices petestiaour common stock as
reported on the NASDAQ Global Select Market forrequarter in the years ended December 31, 2012@il

Year Ended December 31, 2013 High Low

First quarter $ 4260 $ 334t
Second quarter 45.0( 30.3¢
Third quarter 72.6¢ 42.41
Fourth quarter 77.5¢ 46.81
Year Ended December 31, 2014 High Low

First quarter $ 497.00 $ 65.27
Second quarter 339.6° 209.0(
Third quarter 349.0¢ 208.0(
Fourth quarter 264.9: 128.5(

Stockholders

As of January 31, 2015, there were 156 stockholoferscord, which excludes stockholders whose shaege held in
nominee or street name by brokers.

Performance Graph

The following graph illustrates a comparison of tb&l cumulative stockholder return for our comnstock from October
11, 2012 through December 31, 2014 to two inditesNASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Biotediogy Index.
The graph assumes an initial investment of $100ctober 10, 2012 in our common stock, the stockspesing the
NASDAQ Composite Index, and the stocks comprisirgNASDAQ Biotechnology Index and it assumes thevestment of
dividends, if any. Historical stockholder returmist necessarily indicative of the performancedakpected for any future
periods.
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Comparison of Cumulative Total Return*
Among Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc., the NASDAQ ©@mposite Index and
the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index
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* $100 invested on 10/10/2012 in stock or indesckl Year ending December 31, 2014,

The performance graph shall not be deemed to leepocated by reference by means of any generarstatt incorporating
by reference this Form 10-K into any filing undee tSecurities Act of 1933, as amended, or Secsidta, or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Exchangeeicgpt to the extent that we specifically incorp@such information by
reference, and shall not otherwise be deemed ditel#r such acts.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid or declared any cash dividendgiocommon stock, and we do not anticipate pagmgcash
dividends on our common stock in the foreseealil@duWe intend to retain all available funds ang future earnings to fund
the development and expansion of our business fétmye determination to pay dividends will be a tliscretion of our board
of directors and will depend upon a number of fesstncluding our results of operations, financiahdition, future prospects,
contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed pyl&able law and other factors our board of doezdeems relevant.

Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by Item 5 of Form 10-K aedjing equity compensation plans is incorporatadiheyy reference
to Iltem 12 of Part |1l of this Annual Report.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

Except as previously disclosed in our Quarterly drepduring 2014, we did not sell any securitiex there not registered
under the Securities Act.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We did not purchase any of our registered equitysgées during the period covered by this AnnuapBrt on Form 10-K.
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Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

On October 10, 2012, we completed our initial pubfifering of 5,750,000 shares of our common stttck price of $15.00
per share for aggregate gross proceeds of apprtedin®86.3 million. The offer and sale of all oktkhares in the offering were
registered under the Securities Act pursuant egsstration statement on Form S-1, which was dedlaffective on October
10, 2012 (File No. 333-183706), and a registrasimement on Form S-1 filed pursuant to Rule 46@{he Securities Act
(File No. 333-184370).

We received aggregate net proceeds from the offefimpproximately $78.7 million, after deductingpeoximately $6.1
million of underwriting discounts and commissioasd approximately $1.5 million of offering expengagable by us. None of
the underwriting discounts and commissions or otifilering expenses were incurred or paid to oueadors or officers or their
associates or to persons owning ten percent or ofarer common stock or to any of our affiliates.

We invested the net proceeds from the offeringvaréety of capital preservation investments, idahg money market
funds, U.S. Treasury notes and high quality matdetdebt instruments of corporate, financial insitiins, and government
sponsored enterprises. We have broad discretitireinse of the net proceeds from our initial pubffering and could spend
the proceeds in ways that do not improve our resilbperations or enhance the value of our stock.

As of December 31, 2014, we used the net proceedsthe initial public offering for the followingusposes and amounts:
« research and development costs of $52.6 milliwiyding preclinical, regulatory and clinical opéons expenses;

» general and administrative costs of $18.8 milliwhich include personnel and benefit costs as agtiosts of
operations; and

e pre-commercialization activities of $7.3 million.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected financial data set forth below iswetifrom our audited consolidated financial statethand may not be
indicative of future operating results. The follogiselected consolidated financial data shouldebd in conjunction with ltem
7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finah€iondition and Results of Operations” and thesotidated financial
statements and the notes thereto included elsevirn#ris Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selectiedricial data in this
section are not intended to replace our consolidfitancial statements and the related notes. @Gtorital results are not
necessarily indicative of our future results.

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Licensing revenues $ — $ 1,80t $ 2,44¢ $ 1,62: $ 1,74
Operating expenses:

Research and development 12,71( 11,42¢ 16,18 27,94 80,31

General and administrative 3,644 4,20¢ 5,177 13,13: 34,60:

Total operating expenses 16,354 15,63t 21,36( 41,07 114,91.

Loss from operations (16,359 (23,830 (18,919 (39,45) (113,17()
Total other income (expense),

net 1,26€ 1,09: (24,729 (28,34) (170,056

Net loss $ (15089 $ (12,73) $ (43649 $ (67,79) $ (283,220

Dividend on preferred stock, not
declared (2,907 (3,000 (2,630 — —

Net loss attributable to commu
stockholders $ (17,989 $ (1573) $ (46,279 $ (67,79) $ (283,220

Net loss per share, basic and dilu $ (540 $ 4.79) $ (7.3¢) $ (3.7¢) ¢ (13.69)

Weighted average shares outstanding,
basic and diluted 3,329,661 3,329,66/ 6,283,23! 18,028,73 20,784,43

December 31,

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

(in thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term

investments $15,42¢ $17,70° $110,19: $144,83. $ 239,72:
Total assets 17,11¢ 19,47( 112,17¢ 150,31¢ 254,14¢
Accounts payable, accrued expenses al

other liabilities 1,58i 1,50« 3,74¢ 7,26( 13,45¢
Warrant liability 6,881 5,83¢ 30,35¢ 50,11: —
Deferred revenue — 14,60¢ 12,16: 10,54: 9,79¢
Common and preferred stock 31 31 17 1¢ 21
Additional paid-in capital 70,26¢ 72,13« 184,10( 268,30:. 700,35!
Accumulated deficit (61,809 (74,540 (118,18) (185,976 (469,207
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 8,31¢ (2,560 65,91% 82,40¢ 230,89:
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operation

You should read the following discussion and anslgsour financial condition and results of opecais together with our
consolidated financial statements and related nafgearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Fag¥K. In addition to
historical information, this discussion and anas/sbntains forward-looking statements that invalgks, uncertainties and
assumptions. Our actual results may differ matéritbm those anticipated in these forward-looksigtements as a result of
certain factors. We discuss factors that we bel@wdd cause or contribute to these differenceswelnd elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, including those settfamder Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and under “Forwaidboking
Statements” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused ondhelopment and commercialization of novel theraipsub treat
chronic liver diseases utilizing our proprietarjetacid chemistry. Our product candidates havettential to treat orphan and
more prevalent liver diseases for which there aulyere limited therapeutic solutions.

Our lead product candidate, obeticholic acid, o ®OiS a bile acid analog, a chemical substancehthata structure based
on a naturally occurring human bile acid, thatstalely binds to and activates the farnesoid X p¢oe or FXR, which we
believe has broad liver-protective properties. Gt@& been tested in five placebo-controlled clinidals, including a Phase 3
clinical trial in patients with primary biliary ainosis, or PBC, and two Phase 2 clinical trialpatients with nonalcoholic fatty
liver disease, or NAFLD, and nonalcoholic steatattitis, or NASH. OCA met the primary efficacy endmgdn each of these
trials with statistical significance.

OCA recently received breakthrough therapy designdtom the U.S. Food and Drug Administration F@A, for the
treatment of NASH patients with liver fribrosis. @®as also been granted fast track designatiohd&yDA for the treatment
of patients with PBC who have an inadequate resptmer are intolerant of ursodiol. OCA has recdigephan drug
designation in the United States and the Europeaarifor the treatment of PBC and primary sclergsiholangitis, or PSC.

Our most advanced development program for OCAri®®C as a second line treatment for patients vewe fan
inadequate response to or who are unable to telstahdard of care therapy and therefore needaditreatment. PBC is a
chronic autoimmune liver disease that, if inadeglyareated, may eventually lead to cirrhosis,tifalure and death. In March
2014, we completed a Phase 3 clinical trial, knasithe POISE trial, in which OCA achieved the pryrendpoint for the
treatment of PBC. We intend to use these resudisgawith two previously completed randomized Phasdnical trials of
OCA in PBC, as the basis for seeking the first l&iguy approvals to market OCA in the United Stated Europe. We initiated
a rolling New Drug Application or NDA, submissiontiwvthe FDA for OCA in PBC in December 2014 undex EDA’s
accelerated approval pathway. We also plan to susmmépplication for marketing approval for OCAHRBC in Europe. We
plan to complete our filings for marketing approg&lOCA in PBC in the United States and Europerdythe first half of 2015.
If we receive marketing approval from regulatoryhewities, we plan to initiate the commercial lalnraf OCA in PBC in the
United States and certain European countries i$201

OCA achieved the primary endpoint in Phase 2badirtrial for the treatment for NASH, known as #dNT trial, which
was sponsored by the U.S. National Institute obBtas and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, or NIDDgart of the National
Institutes of Health. The FLINT trial was complefadate July 2014. We are planning to finalize tlesign of our Phase 3
clinical program in NASH in the second quarter 612, subject to the completion of our regulatogcdssions with the FDA
and the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, and thiiate the clinical program. We also intendndiate a clinical trial in
2015 characterizing the lipid metabolic effectO&A and cholesterol management effects of concongét@tin administration
in NASH patients. Our collaborator, Sumitomo Dapop Pharma Co. Ltd., or Sumitomo Dainippon, haspietad enroliment
in a 200-patient Phase 2 NASH clinical trial of O@AJapan with a primary efficacy endpoint simiiathat used in our Phase
2b FLINT trial, which is anticipated to be completey the end of 2015.
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Our net losses were approximately $43.6 milliory.86million and $283.2 million for the years end@ecember 31, 2012,
2013 and 2014, respectively. As of December 3142@& had an accumulated deficit of approximatdi§2 million.
Substantially all our net losses resulted fromsasturred in connection with our research and ldgweent programs and from
general and administrative costs associated wittoperations and from the mark-to-market of ourjmesly outstanding
liability-classified warrants.

We have devoted substantially all of our resoutcesur development efforts relating to our prodearididates, including
expansion of our clinical, regulatory, and medaiirs infrastructure, conducting clinical tria§our product candidates,
expansion of our manufacturing activities, provggeneral and administrative support for our op@nat engaging in pre-
commercialization activities and protecting ouellgctual property. We do not have any products@g for sale and have
not generated any revenue from product sales. Brorinception until December 31, 2014, we have &hdur operations
primarily through the private and public sales m#fprred stock, common stock, convertible notesveaidants to purchase
common stock and payments received under our aoldibn agreements totaling $431.1 million (neissfiance costs of $22.9
million). In February 2015, we completed a follow-public offering of 1,150,000 shares at a pubffering price of $176.00
per share. After underwriting discounts and comioissand offering expenses, we estimate that thproeeeds from our
February 2015 follow-on equity offering were apgroately $191.2 million.

We expect to continue to incur significant expere®s increasing operating losses for at least éxé several years. We
anticipate that our expenses will increase subsinas we:

» complete the development of our lead product ickatd, OCA, for the treatment of PBC, and contitheedevelopment
of OCA in NASH, PSC and other patient populations;

« seek to obtain regulatory approvals for OCA f&(? NASH, PSC and other potential patient poputegjo

« prepare for the potential commercialization of i@ PBC, including establishing our sales, markgtand distribution
capabilities and increasing our drug manufactusctiyities;

» continue development of our other product candilssuch as INT-767, and engage in other reseactilevelopment
activities;

e maintain, expand and protect our intellectualperty portfolio;

* increase our product development, scientific, m@rcial and administrative personnel and expandaumilities and
operations in the United States and abroad; and

e operate as a public company.

We do not expect to generate revenue from proddes sinless and until we successfully complete ldpugent and obtain
marketing approval for one or more of our prodwsididates, which is subject to significant uncettaiAccordingly, we
anticipate that we will need to raise additionaita prior to the commercialization of OCA or aofyour other product
candidates. Until such time, if ever, as we caregatie substantial revenue from product sales, weatto finance our
operating activities through a combination of eguoifferings, debt financings, government or ottnérdtparty funding,
marketing and distribution arrangements and otbkalteorations, strategic alliances and licensimgragements. However, we
may be unable to raise additional funds or entersach other arrangements when needed on favaeabis or at all. Our
failure to raise capital or enter into such otheamgements as and when needed would have a nregafpact on our financial
condition and our ability to develop our productdaates.

We have an administrative headquarters in New Yiekwy York and an office in San Diego, California.Hebruary 2015,
we signed a lease for an office in London, Unitedgdom. The Company has a wholly-owned subsidiarfyaly which acts as
our legal representative for our clinical trialsle European Union to satisfy European Union rguay requirements, and a
wholly-owned subsidiary in the United Kingdom.
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Financial Overview

Revenue

To date, we have not generated any revenue frorsatleeof products. All our revenue has been derir@d our
collaborative agreements for the development anthoercialization of certain of our product candidal/e have entered into
an exclusive licensing agreement with Sumitomo paion for the development of OCA in Japan, Chind ldorea. Under the
terms of the agreement, we have received up-fraytnents of $16.0 million, including $1.0 millionapthe exercise by
Sumitomo Dainippon of its option to add Korea ®litensed territories, and may be eligible to nexep to approximately
$300 million in additional payments for developmergulatory and commercial sales milestones foA@CJapan, China and
Korea. As of March 2, 2015, we have achieved $1illlom of the development milestones. In August 20W/e entered into a
collaboration agreement with Servier for the digrgy research and development of bile acid-deraghists, or substances
that bind to receptors of cells and trigger resperig/ those cells, for a dedicated bile acid recegtlled TGR5. Under the
terms of the agreement, we received an up-fronteay from Servier of $1.4 million. Servier may leguired to pay us up to
an aggregate amount of approximately €108 millapptoximately $131.3 million as of December 31,480dpon the
achievement of specified development, regulatody@mmercial sales milestones, as well as royadtiesales, based on the
successful outcome of the collaboration.

For accounting purposes, the up-front payments froth transactions are recorded as deferred re\eamliemortized over
time. We recognized $2.4 million, $1.6 million a®#l.7 million in license revenue for the relevanoatization of up-front
payments during the years ended December 31, 2013, and 2014, respectively. We anticipate thatwlleecognize revenue
of approximately $1.8 million per year through 200 the amortization of the relevant up-frontlabbration payments from
Sumitomo Dainippon. We did not receive any milestpayments during 2012, 2013 or 2014 related taolleboration
agreements. In the future, we may generate revigaoea combination of license fees and other uptfpayments, research
and development payments, milestone payments, pradles and royalties in connection with our dmlations. We expect
that any revenue we generate will fluctuate frorartgr-to-quarter as a result of the timing of otliiavement of preclinical,
clinical, regulatory and commercialization milestanif at all, the timing and amount of paymentatieg to such milestones
and the extent to which any of our products are@pmul and successfully commercialized by us orcollaboration partners. If
our collaboration partners fail to develop prodeamdidates in a timely manner or obtain regulasgyroval for them, our
ability to generate future revenues, and our resaflbperations and financial position would beaadely affected.

Research and Development Expenses

Since our inception, we have focused our resownesur research and development activities, inalydonducting
preclinical studies and clinical trials, manufagigrdevelopment efforts and activities relatedegulatory filings for our
product candidates. We recognize research andaf@weht expenses as they are incurred. Our resaadctievelopment
expenses consist primarily of direct costs, persboosts and indirect costs such as the following:

Direct costs:

» fees paid to consultants and clinical researgamizations, or CROs, including in connection vathr preclinical
and clinical trials, and other related clinicahtriees, such as for investigator grants, patiergening, laboratory
work, clinical trial database management, clintcal material management and statistical commifaind analysis;

e costs related to activities associated with awogiand manufacturing OCA; and
» costs related to compliance with regulatory rezments.
Personnel costs:
» salaries and related benefit expenses for peedammesearch and development functions; and

e costs related to stock compensation grantedrsppeel in research and development functions.
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Indirect costs:
« rent and other facilities-related costs; and
e product-related legal costs.

We plan to increase our research and developmeenees for the foreseeable future as we contiraidaielopment of
OCA for the treatment of PBC, NASH and PSC androittgtications and to further advance the develogroéour other
product candidates, subject to the availabilitpdditional funding. During the year ended Decen®igr2014, we added 62
research and development personnel.

The table below summarizes our direct researctdamdlopment expenses by program for the periodsatet. We do not
allocate indirect costs related to our researchdmvetlopment function to specific product candidaiéose expenses are
included in personnel costs in the table below.

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

(in thousands)

Direct research and development expense by program:

OCA $ 10,49 $ 16,467 $ 51,31¢
INT-767 — 534 1,527
INT-777 52 49 —
Total direct research and development expense 10,547 17,05( 52,84
Personnel costs 4,947 9,85z 23,52¢
Indirect research and development expense 68¢ 1,03¢ 3,94:
Total research and development expense $ 16,18 $ 27,94 $ 80,31

The successful development of our clinical and lpreal product candidates is highly uncertain.tiis time, we cannot
reasonably estimate the nature, timing or costh@gfforts that will be necessary to completertileainder of the development
of any of our clinical or preclinical product caddtes or the period, if any, in which material ceeth inflows from these
product candidates may commence. This is due touheerous risks and uncertainties associated weitkeldping drugs,
including the uncertainty of:

« the scope, rate of progress and expense of @oimy, as well as any additional, clinical triatdeother research and
development activities;

¢ future clinical trial results; and
» the timing and receipt of any regulatory appreval

A change in the outcome of any of these variabliés respect to the development of a product candidauld mean a
significant change in the costs and timing assediatith the development of that product candidate.example, if the FDA or
another regulatory authority were to require usdnduct clinical trials beyond those that we cuityeanticipate will be
required for the completion of clinical developmeht product candidate or if we experience sigaifit delays in any of our
clinical trials, we could be required to expench#figant additional financial resources and timetioe completion of clinical
development.

OCA

The majority of our research and development ressuare focused on completing our New Drug Appbcator NDA, and
Marketing Authorization Application, or MAA, filing/for OCA for the treatment of PBC, which we cutheplan to complete
during the first half of 2015. We have incurred axgect to continue to incur significant expensesannection with these
efforts, including:

¢ We completed our POISE trial of OCA in patienitwmPBC in March 2014 and expect to continue timgiterm safety
extension phase of the trial through 2019.

*  We initiated our clinical outcomes confirmatoriat for OCA in PBC in December 2014 and expectttfed to be
completed on a post-marketing basis.
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¢ We conducted numerous Phase 1 clinical trial;yxgu2014 in support of the PBC NDA and MAA filings.

*  We have contracted with third-party manufactutergroduce the quantities of OCA needed for regwyaapproval as
well as the necessary supplies for our other coplied trials and are working to secure second fiaaturers as part
of our strategy to secure more than one approveplisn of OCA in the future. We are building commiaf supplies,
including supplies of the starting material for mgatturing OCA.

«  We have contracted with and plan to engage a ruwitconsultants and other third party vendon®iation to our
seeking of regulatory approval and have implemeatetiwill implement various electronic software aydtems in
relation to our regulatory activities.

In addition, we are evaluating OCA in other chrdiver diseases, particularly NASH and PSC. We afinalize the
design of our Phase 3 clinical program in NASH g8 in the second quarter 2015, subject to thepkagion of our regulatory
discussions with the FDA and European Medicinesnggeor EMA, and then initiate the clinical tri&lle are planning a
clinical trial characterizing lipid metabolic effiscof OCA and cholesterol management effects ofaonitant statin
administration in NASH patients. For PSC, we inétha Phase 2 clinical trial in December 2014. Assalt, we expect that our
expenditures in connection with our NASH and PS&ypams will increase significantly in future persod

INT-767, INT-777 and Other TGR5 Agonists

We intend to continue to develop INT-767 (a duaRFRGRS5 agonist) and INT-777 (a pure TGR5 agon@tirrently, we
plan to continue with preclinical development offHN67 through to the filing of an Investigationa¢W Drug, or IND,
application and, subject to the IND applicationdraing effective, plan to initiate a Phase 1 trialMT-767 in healthy
volunteers around year end 2015. We intend to eoatdevelopment of INT-777 through potential cablations with third
parties over the next several years.

Other than OCA, our product development prograrasaben early stage, and successful developmen€af and our
future product candidates from these programsgisifiuncertain and may not result in approved pot&luUCompletion dates
and completion costs can vary significantly forredure product candidate and are difficult todice We anticipate we will
make determinations as to which programs to puasdehow much funding to direct to each programmbregoing basis in
response to our ability to maintain or enter intovrstrategic alliances with respect to each prograpotential product
candidate, the scientific and clinical successaghefuture product candidate, as well as ongoisgsssnents as to each future
product candidate’s commercial potential. We waed to raise additional capital and may seek antditistrategic alliances in
the future in order to advance our various programs

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piynafrsalaries and related costs for employeex@tetive and
operational functions, including sales and markgtfimance, information technology, legal and hurmesources. Other
significant general and administrative expensesidecnon-cash stock-based compensation expengenses related to our
OCA pre-commercialization activities, facilitiessts, accounting and legal services, informatiohretogy and other expense
of operating as a public company.

Our general and administrative expenses have isedeand will continue to increase as we operatepablic company and
due to the potential commercialization of our pretctandidates. We further plan on expanding ouraimns both in the
United States and Europe, which will increase amegal and administration expenses. We believetieat activities will
result in increased costs related to the hiringigrificant additional personnel, increased feeotdside consultants, lawyers
and accountants and the addition of facilities. Wiee also incurred and may continue to incur irggdaosts to comply with
corporate governance, internal controls and simédguirements applicable to public companies wipeamding operations and
biopharmaceutical companies seeking to commereiébzproduct candidates. During the year endecidéer 31, 2014, we
added 34 corporate and commercial personnel inostippour expansion in activities.
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Other Income, Net

Other income, net consists of interest income ehameour cash, cash equivalents and investmentigesuoffset by
management fees, capital base, franchise andstaédaxes.

Revaluation of Warrants

In conjunction with various financing transaction® issued warrants to purchase shares of our constock. As of
December 31, 2014, all of the warrants have eltken exercised or expired in accordance with teeins. Certain of the
warrants that were outstanding during 2012, 201828114 included a provision that provided for auatbn in the warrant
exercise price upon subsequent issuances of aglishares of common stock for consideration parestess than the
applicable per share warrant exercise price. Theants containing this provision were deemed tdérévative instruments and
as such, were recorded as a liability and markeuddtket at each reporting period. Certain otheravds outstanding during
2012, 2013 and 2014 included a provision that reguthe shares underlying the warrants to be exgidtupon the completion
of an initial public offering. As a result, thesamants were reclassified as a liability as ofdhte of our initial public offering
and were also marked-to-market at each reportitey d&e fair value estimates of these warrants wWetermined using a
Black-Scholes option-pricing model and were bagegart, on subjective assumptions. Non-cash clagthe fair value of
the common stock warrant liability from the pria@rpd was recorded as a component of other incardegpense.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our management'’s discussion and analysis of oanéial condition and results of operations is basedur consolidated
financial statements, which we have prepared iom@ence with generally accepted accounting priesijm the United States,
or GAAP. The preparation of these consolidatediioia statements requires us to make estimateassuinptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilitiesthedlisclosure of contingent assets and liabilgiethe date of the financial
statements, as well as the reported revenues grehgas during the reporting periods. We evaluasetlestimates and
judgments on an ongoing basis. We base our essmatéistorical experience and on various othdofadhat we believe are
reasonable under the circumstances, the resulthioh form the basis for making judgments aboutdiweying value of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent frother sources. Our actual results may differ froase estimates under different
assumptions or conditions.

While our significant accounting policies are marky described in note 3 to our consolidated ficiahstatements
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on FOAK 1we believe that the following accounting p@ are the most critical
for fully understanding and evaluating our finahciandition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when the following criter muet: persuasive evidence that an arrangemens esesvices have
been rendered, the price is fixed or determinahtecllectability is reasonably assured.

We have entered into collaboration agreements Suitinitomo Dainippon and Servier. The terms of tteegeements
include nonrefundable up-front licensing fees,ddition to potential milestone payments and rogalthn any future product
sales developed by the collaborators under oundiee We assess these multiple elements in ordetéomine whether
particular components of the arrangement repressp@rate units of accounting.

We recognize up-front license payments as revepoa delivery of the license only if the license btand-alone value.
The underlying performance obligations are accalifdeseparately as the obligations are fulfillédhe license is considered
as not having stand-alone value, the arrangemextcizunted for as a single unit of accounting &editense payments and
payments for performance obligations are recogré=ecvenue over the estimated period of wheneffermance obligations
are performed.

Whenever we determine that an arrangement shouddmminted for as a single unit of accounting, etermnine the period
over which the performance obligations will be perfed and revenue will be recognized. If we cameasonably estimate the
timing and the level of effort to complete our perhance
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obligations under the arrangement, then we recegmeizenue under the arrangement on a straighbéises over the period that
we expect to complete our performance obligations.

Our collaboration agreements also provide for pigémilestone payments to us, none of which haaentreceived as of
December 31, 2014. As of March 2, 2015, we achi&e@l million of the development milestones undar apllaboration
agreement with Sumitomo Dainippon. Revenues frofastine payments, if they are non-refundable andidered
substantive, are recognized upon successful ac&impnt of the milestones. If milestones are nostered substantive,
milestone payments are initially deferred and retefd over the remaining performance obligation.

To date, we have not received any royalty paymamtisaccordingly have not recognized any relatedmes. We will
recognize royalty revenue upon the sale of thagelproducts, provided we have no remaining perémee obligations under
the arrangement.

We record deferred revenue when payments are egt@ivadvance of the culmination of the earninge@ss. This revenue
is recognized in future periods when the applicablenue recognition criteria have been met.

Valuation of Stock-Based Compensation and Warranabhility
Stock-Based Compensation

We record the fair value of stock options, restdcstock units, or RSUs, and restricted stock asyamdRSAs, issued to
employees as of the grant date as compensatiomsxpé/e recognize compensation expense over thésitecservice period,
which is the vesting period. For non-employeesalge record stock options, RSUs and RSAs at theivalue as of the grant
date. We then periodically re-measure the awardsflect the current fair value at each reportiegqd until the non-employee
completes the performance obligation or the datevlich a performance commitment is reached. Expenszognized over
the related service period.

Stock-based compensation expense has been repodedstatements of operations as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

(in thousands)

General and administrative $ 1637 $ 4,722 $ 8,41¢
Research and development 1,712 4,72¢ 11,70¢
Total stock-based compensation $ 334¢ $ 944¢ $ 20,12°

We calculate the fair value of stock-options udimg Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Bladk8es option-pricing
model requires the use of assumptions, includiagksprice volatility, the expected life of stocktimms, risk free interest rate
and the fair value of the underlying common stocktee date of grant. Our key assumptions are:

* The expected volatility was estimated based uperhistorical volatility information of peer compas for each
respective reporting period. Because there wasubbgmarket for our common stock prior to Octolhér 2012, we
lacked company-specific historical and implied ity information to estimate the volatility of ocommon stock
price. We calculated expected volatility basedeported data for selected reasonably similar plybiaded companie
for which the historical information is availableor the purpose of identifying peer companies, aresiler
characteristics such as industry, length of tradhisgpry, similar vesting terms and in-the-moneyi@pstatus.

e The assumed dividend yield is based on our egfiectof not paying dividends for the foreseeablere.

* We determine the average expected life of st@tlons based on the simplified method in accordavittethe
Securities and Exchange Commission Staff AccourBinketin Nos. 107 and 110. We expect to use thepkfied
method until we have sufficient historical exeraifsda to provide a reasonable basis upon whicktimate expected
term.
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*  We determine the risk-free interest rate by eziee to implied yields available from U.S. Treassggurities with a
remaining term equal to the expected life assun#ueadate of grant.

¢ We estimate forfeitures based on our historicalysis of actual stock option forfeitures.

We expect the impact of stock-based compensatignow in future periods due to the potential inse=ain the value of our
common stock, increased headcount and additiooek sption and other equity grants.

We are required to estimate the level of forfeisuegpected to occur and record compensation expemgéor those awards
that we ultimately expect will vest. Due to thekaxd historical forfeiture activity of our plan, wexpect to estimate our
forfeiture rate based on peer company data withacheristics similar to our company. For 2012, 2ahd 2014, we used a
forfeiture rate of five percent. There were no #igant forfeitures through December 31, 2014.

Prior to our initial public offering in October 2R.1due to the absence of an active market for oomeon stock, the fair
value of our common stock for purposes of detemgjrihe exercise price for stock option grants weterhined by our board
of directors, with the assistance and upon themaeendation of management, in good faith, basedramaber of objective
and subjective factors consistent with the methogiek outlined in the American Institute of CeetfiPublic Accountants
Practice Aid\Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Secestissued as Compensatioor the Practice Aid.

Common Stock Warrant Liability

In conjunction with various financing transaction issued warrants to purchase shares of our constock as discussed
above under “Revaluation of Warrants.” The fairueabf the underlying common stock was based oBlaek-Scholes option-
pricing model which required the use of subjectissumptions, including but not limited to stoclcprvolatility, the expected
life of the warrants and the risk free interesér&ignificant changes to the key assumptions st valuations could have
resulted in different fair values of the warrantgach valuation date. We adjusted the fair vatiése warrants at each
financial reporting period end for any changesain ¥alue until the earlier of the exercise or eafpon of the applicable
common stock warrants.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2013 204

The following table summarizes our results of opers for the years ended December 31, 2013 and, 20dether with the
changes in those items in dollars and as a pegenta

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2014 Dollar Change % Change

(in thousands)

Licensing revenue $ 1,62C $ 174 $ 12C 7%
Operating expenses:
Research and development 27,94: 80,311 52,37( 187%
General and administrative 13,13: 34,60! 21,46¢ 16%%
Loss from operations (39,45) (123,170 (73,719 187%
Warrant revaluation expense (28,44) (170,83) (142,39) 501%
Other income, net 10C 77€ 67€ 67€%
Net loss $ (67,799 $(283,22() $(215,43) 316%

Licensing Revenue

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201#omeded a total of $1.6 million and $1.7 millisaspectively, of
licensing revenue from the amortization of up-frpayments from our collaboration agreement with fammo Dainippon.
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Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses were $27.9malio $80.3 million for the years ended Decembef813 and 2014,
respectively. The net increase in research andafwent expenses was $52.4 million. This increasesearch and
development expense primarily reflects:

increased direct clinical trial costs for OCAagfproximately $22.9 million;

additional personnel on our development team toageaithe increased activities around our OCA devedop progran
resulting in increased compensation and relateéftiercosts of approximately $6.7 million;

increased non-cash stock-based compensation sxpé$7.0 million;

increased OCA manufacturing activities of appmeadely $6.4 million to support our commercial saal@nufacturing
and investment in clinical trial materials;

increased regulatory-related expenses, reseatated expenses and clinical development-relatpdreses of
approximately $5.5 million in support of our NDA&MAA filings anticipated to be completed in thesfihalf of 2015
and

increased expenses related to our research aotinical programs of $3.9 million.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were $13.loméind $34.6 million for the years ended Decen3iei2013 and 2014,
respectively. The increase in general and admatige expenses of $21.5 million was primarily doe t

increased expenses related to pre-commerciaizattivities of approximately $6.8 million;

additional personnel to manage our increasedatipeal activities, resulting in increased compénsaand related
benefit costs of approximately $5.8 million;

increased operating costs such as legal, fasldand technology-related expenses of approxim@gely million; and

increased non-cash stock-based compensation sxpémapproximately $3.7 million.

Warrant Revaluation Expense

Our previously outstanding warrants were deemdxktderivative instruments that required liabilitgssification and mark-
to-market accounting. As such, at the end of eactog, the fair values of the warrants were deteemiusing a Black-Scholes
option-pricing model, resulting in the recognitiohlosses of $28.4 million and $170.8 million fbetyears ended December
31, 2013 and 2014, respectively. These fluctuationglue were primarily due to the increase inghiee of the common stock
underlying the warrants offset by declines in théneated life of the warrants and the changes latiity of the shares of
common stock underlying the warrants.

Other Income, Net

The change in other income, net reflects an iner@amterest income primarily as the result ofleigaverage investment
balances during 2014 as compared to 2013.
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2012 2013

The following table summarizes our results of opers for the years ended December 31, 2012 an8, 20dether with the
changes in those items in dollars and as a pegenta

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 Dollar Change % Change

(in thousands)

Licensing revenue $ 244 $ 162: $ (829 (349)%
Operating expenses:
Research and development 16,18 27,941 11,75¢ 73%
General and administrative 5,177 13,13: 7,95t 154%
Loss from operations (18,919 (39,45) (20,53)) 10%%
Warrant revaluation expense (24,62¢) (28,447 (3,819 15%
Other income, net 88 10C 12
Foreign currency loss (192) — 19z
Net loss $ (43,649 $(67,79) $ (24,149 55%

Licensing Revenue

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201Raweded a total of $2.4 million and $1.6 milliaspectively, of
licensing revenue, consisting of the up-front pagtadérom our collaboration agreements.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses were $16.2malio $27.9 million for the years ended Decembef812 and 2013,
respectively. The net increase in research anddawent expenses was $11.8 million. This increasesearch and
development expense primarily reflects:

* increased non-cash stock-based compensation sxpé$3.0 million;
* increased clinical trial costs of approximatefy@®million;

* additional personnel on our development team toaganhe increased activities around our OCA deweéopt progran
resulting in increased compensation and relateéftisrof approximately $1.9 million;

e increased drug product costs including validadod analysis of approximately $1.4 million to soggur commercial
scale manufacturing;

e anincrease in expenses related to our reseattpraclinical programs of $1.2 million; and

e anetincrease in overall regulatory related expgn®search related expenses and clinical develaprelated expens
in support of our NDA and MAA filings anticipated first half of 2015 of approximately $800,000;st by

» decreased expense of $2.3 million payable by MDDK relating to milestones under the NIDDK agmeent, as all
milestones were achieved and paid in 2012.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were $5.2omiind $13.1 million for the years ended DecemliePB12 and 2013,
respectively. The increase in general and admatige expenses of $7.9 million was mainly due to:

* increased non-cash stock-based compensatiorpoddmately $3.1 million;

* additional personnel to manage the increasedi@es due to our operating as a public comparsyltang in increased
compensation, bonus, and related benefits of appaigly $1.2 million;
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* increased pre-commercialization activities redate market research of approximately $1.8 milliang
* increased operating costs related to operatirgmslic company of approximately $1.8 million.
Warrant Revaluation Expense

Our previously outstanding warrants were deemdzktderivative instruments that required liabilitgssification and mark-
to-market accounting. As such, at the end of eapbrting period, the fair values of the warrantseadetermined using a
Black-Scholes option—pricing model, resulting ie tecognition of losses of $24.6 million and $2&iflion for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

As of December 31, 2014, we had an accumulateditefi$469.2 million. We anticipate that we withtinue to incur
losses for at least the next several years. Wecexipat our research and development and genedad@ministrative expenses
will continue to increase and, as a result, we meitd additional capital to fund our operationsicivlwe may seek to obtain
through a combination of equity offerings, debgficings, government or other third-party fundingrketing and distribution
arrangements and other collaborations, strateligmeés and licensing arrangements.

We have funded our operations primarily throughgale of common stock, preferred stock, convertiloies and warrants
and payments received under our collaboration aggets totaling $431.1 million (net of issuance s@dt$22.9 million),
including $29.7 million in net proceeds from ouri8ge C financing in August 2012, $78.7 million iatrproceeds from our
initial public offering in October 2012, $61.2 nidlh in net proceeds from our follow-on public offey in June 2013, $183.5
million in net proceeds from a follow-on public effng in April 2014 and the receipt of $17.4 millim up-front payments
under our licensing and collaboration agreementis #iimitomo Dainippon and Servier. As of Decemter2®14, we had
cash, cash equivalents and investment securiti®239.7 million. In February 2015, we completeakofv-on public offering
of 1,150,000 shares at a public offering price bf&00 per share. After underwriting discounts emehmissions and offering
expenses, we estimate that the net proceeds frofretmuary 2015 follow-on equity offering were amgamately $191.2
million. Cash in excess of immediate requiremesigvested in accordance with our investment pofcynarily with a view
to liquidity and capital preservation. Currentlyrdunds are held in cash and money market banduaits and investments, all
of which have maturities of less than two years.

Cash Flows

The following table sets forth the significant stes and uses of cash for the periods set forttwbelo

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used ii

Operating activities $ (15,749 $(28,0000 $ (87,739
Investing activities (64,857 (70,219 (96,589
Financing activities 108,41t 66,07: 190,98:
Effect of exchange rate changes @) — —
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis $ 27,80F  $(32,14) $ 6,66(

Operating Activities Net cash used in operating activities of $15illan during the year ended December 31, 2012 was
primarily a result of our $43.6 million net lossdanet changes in our operating assets and ligsilaf $592,000, offset by the
add-back of non-cash expenses of $24.6 milliomfatrant liability revaluation, $3.3 million for stk-based compensation,
$210,000 for depreciation and $192,000 foreignenay loss.
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Net cash used in operating activities of $28.0iamilfor the year ended December 31, 2013 was pilyrearesult of our
$67.8 million net loss and net changes in operassggets and liabilities of $200,000 offset by té-back of non-cash expense
of $28.4 million for warrant liability revaluatio$9.4 million for stock-based compensation, $108,fa0 depreciation and the
amortization of interest premium of $1.6 million.

Net cash used in operating activities of $87.7iamilfor the year ended December 31, 2014 was pilyrearesult of our
$283.2 million net loss and net changes in opegassets and liabilities of $699,000 offset byatd-back of non-cash
expense of $170.8 million for warrant liability mduation, $20.1 million for stock-based compensati#?43,000 for
depreciation and the amortization of interest ptamof $3.4 million.

Investing Activities Net cash used in investing activities duringytbar ended December 31, 2012 primarily reflectad o
net investment of proceeds of the Series C fingnaimd the initial public offering in securitiesfs#t slightly by the
redemptions of certificates of deposits.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, net cashmugeeesting activities reflects the net investiehthe proceeds from
the June 2013 follow-on public offering of $61.2limh and expenditures for leasehold improvemefits106 million as a result
of our move to our new corporate headquarters.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, net cashmugeeesting activities reflects the net investiehthe proceeds from
the April 2014 follow-on public offering of $183rillion and expenditures for leasehold improvemet$4.6 million as a
result of the relocation of our San Diego facility.

Financing Activities Net cash provided by financing activities in ylear ended December 31, 2012 consisted primdrily o
approximately $29.7 million of net proceeds frore Hale of Series C preferred stock and $78.7 miftiom the completion of
our initial public offering.

Net cash provided by financing activities in thayended December 31, 2013 consisted primarilyebproceeds of $61.2
million from the completion of our follow-on publizffering in June 2013 and $4.8 million from thesmise of options and
warrants to purchase common stock.

Net cash provided by financing activities in thayended December 31, 2014 consisted primarilyebproceeds of $183.5
million from the completion of our follow-on publiffering in April 2014 and $7.5 million from theercise of options and
warrants to purchase common stock.

Future Funding Requirements

To date, we have not generated any revenue froduptsales. We do not know when, or if, we will geate any revenue
from product sales. We do not expect to genergtefgiant revenue from product sales unless anifl wetobtain regulatory
approval of and commercialize OCA or any of ourotbroduct candidates. At the same time, we expacexpenses to
increase in connection with our ongoing collabeeatievelopment activities, particularly as we cond the research,
development and clinical trials of, and seek reigmaapproval for, our product candidates. We haearred and expect to
incur additional costs associated with operating pablic company and further plan on expandingoparations both in the
United States and Europe. In addition, subjecbtaiaing regulatory approval of any of our prodeahdidates, we expect to
incur significant commercialization expenses fardurct sales, marketing, manufacturing and distidouiWe anticipate that we
will need substantial additional funding in conmeatwith our continuing operations.

As of December 31, 2014, we had $239.7 milliondslt cash equivalents and investment securitieedtifmate that the
net proceeds from our February 2015 follow-on gqoffering were approximately $191.2 million, afterderwriting discounts
and commissions and estimated offering expensexuiently project adjusted operating expensebarrange of $180
million to $200 million in the fiscal year endingePember 31, 2015, which excludes stock-based casapien and other non-
cash items. These expenses are planned to suppaliriical development program for OCA in PBC, NA&nd PSC, the
expansion of our clinical, regulatory, medical a§and commercial infrastructure in the Unitedt&aand Europe, increased
OCA manufacturing activities, as well as the camtith development of INT-767 and other preclinicalfine programs. We
anticipate that stock-based compensation experlbeepiesent the most significant non-cash itent haxcluded in adjusted
operating expenses as compared to operating expender U.S. generally
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accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. Adjustpdrating expense is a financial measure not cakuia accordance with
GAAP. See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for moreoimation. Accordingly, we will continue to requiseibstantial
additional capital to continue our clinical deveilmgnt and commercialization activities. Because esgftl development of our
product candidates is uncertain, we are unablstimate the actual funds required to complete reseend development and
commercialization of our products under development

Due to the many variables inherent to the develeoypraed commercialization of novel therapies andrapid growth and
expansion, we currently cannot accurately and pedcipredict the duration beyond 2015 over whichewgect our cash and
cash equivalents (including the net proceeds franmFebruary 2015 follow-on equity offering) to héfgient to fund our
operating expenses and capital expenditure regaimesnmHowever, we currently believe that our cagheash equivalents,
including the net proceeds from our February 2@llsv-on equity offering, will be sufficient for us:

expand our clinical, regulatory, medical affaared commercial infrastructure in the United Stated Europe;

continue and expand our clinical development mots for OCA in PBC, NASH and PSC, such as init@gatind/or
continuing, but not completing, our planned Phasbrgcal program for OCA in NASH, our planned dtial trial
characterizing lipid metabolic effects of OCA arilesterol management effects of concomitant statministration
in NASH patients, our ongoing Phase 2 clinicallwf2OCA for PSC, and our ongoing confirmatory @&l outcomes
trial of OCA in PBC;

advance the continued development of INT-767uitiag the completion of IND-enabling preclinicalidies for INT-
767 and the initiation of a Phase 1 clinical tréaid other preclinical compounds;

complete the filings for our NDA and MAA for OCA PBC, but not complete our filings for marketingtarization ir
any other indication;

increase OCA manufacturing activities, includingdsting in supply chain and product developmergparing for PB(
commercial launch and planning for the continuatibour clinical program in NASH, but not manufaetuhe supply
needed for any potential commercial launch of OGAIASH; and

prepare for and, if we obtain marketing appravak timely basis, initiate the commercial laun€E®€A in PBC in
both the United States and certain European c&snitti2016, but not commercially launch OCA in PB®ther
countries across the world.

Accordingly, we will continue to require substahtidditional capital to continue our clinical demeient,
commercialization and other activities. Becausesssful development and commercialization of oodpct candidates is
uncertain, we are unable to estimate the actualsfuve will require to complete research and devatg and
commercialization of our products under development

The amount and timing of our future requirement$d@pend on may factors including:

the willingness of the FDA and the EMA to acctyt POISE trial, which is our completed Phasei@adi trial for
PBC, as well as our other completed and planneiteliand preclinical studies and other work, asltasis for the
review and marketing approval of OCA for PBC;

the progress, costs, results of and timing ofreaently initiated confirmatory clinical outcomegl of OCA for the
treatment of PBC, the completion of which we expatitnot be a condition to the receipt of marketiapproval in the
United States or the European Union;

the design of our planned Phase 3 clinical pnogiar OCA in NASH and the progress, costs, resaflsnd timing of
the Phase 3 program and other supporting trialsamties necessary to support anticipated filiogsrfarketing
approval in NASH, including the sufficiency of opirotal clinical trial for marketing approval orefacceptability of a
surrogate endpoint for accelerated approval of @@Ahe treatment of NASH;
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« the progress, costs, results of and timing oficdil development of OCA for other indications,liding our Phase 2
trial of OCA in PSC and biliary atresia;

» the significant expansion of our operations, pengl and the size of our company and our needritirwe to expand;
« the outcome, costs and timing of seeking andinibg FDA, EMA and any other regulatory approvals;

» the number and characteristics of product canegdat we pursue, including our product candglatgreclinical
development, such as INT-767 and INT-777;

» the ability of our product candidates to progrseugh pre-clinical and clinical development sssfully and in a
timely manner;

¢ the expansion of our research and developmeivitaes;

» the costs and timing of commercialization aciggt including product sales, marketing and distidn, for any of our
product candidates that receive marketing approval,

« the costs associated with securing and estabtjghianufacturing capabilities and procuring theemals necessary for
our product candidates;

« market acceptance of our product candidates;
« the costs of acquiring, licensing or investindursinesses, products, product candidates anddiecfies;

e our ability to maintain, expand and defend thepgcof our intellectual property portfolio, includi the amount and
timing of any payments we may be required to maké¢hat we may receive, in connection with ther®iag, filing,
prosecution, defense and enforcement of any pabemtther intellectual property rights;

* our need and ability to hire additional managemstigntific and medical, commercial and other digalipersonnel ar
the substantial cost of retaining such additioraispnnel;

» the effect of competing technological and madetelopments;
e our plan to expand our operations into Europetaednanner in which we implement our expansion;pla

e our need to implement and maintain internal systesoftware and infrastructure, including thosagsist in our
financial and reporting, clinical development awthenercialization efforts and to support our exigtamd expanding
personnel; and

* the economic and other terms, timing of and ssEoé our existing licensing arrangements and afigtworation,
licensing or other arrangements into which we matgrein the future.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate sulisiarevenue from product sales, we expect tonfbesour cash needs
through a combination of equity offerings, debgficings, government or other third-party fundingsketing and distribution
arrangements and other collaborations, stratefigmaés and licensing arrangements. To the extette raise additional
capital through the sale of equity or convertibddidsecurities, the ownership interests of our comstockholders will be
diluted, and the terms of these securities maydeliquidation or other preferences that adveratfsct the rights of our
common stockholders. Debt financing, if availalobay involve agreements that include covenantsitignior restricting our
ability to take specific actions, such as incurrauglitional debt, making capital expenditures alaléng dividends. If we raise
additional funds through government or other thgedtty funding, marketing and distribution arrangeteer other
collaborations, strategic alliances or licensinguagements with third parties, we may have to geiish valuable rights to our
technologies, future revenue streams, researchigregor product candidates or to grant licenseemns that may not be
favorable to us.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Our long-term contractual obligations include corments and estimated purchase obligations entatedni the normal
course of business. The following table summar@essignificant contractual obligations and comri@rcommitments as of
December 31, 2014 and the effects such obligatiomgxpected to have on our liquidity and cashdlowfuture periods:

Payments Due By Period

Less than More than
Total 1 year 1-3years 3-5years 5 years

(in thousands)

Operating leases $ 2027¢ $ 189¢ $ 481( $ 50040 $ 8,56¢
Purchase obligations 16,91- 12,05 4,861 — —
Total $ 37,190 $ 1395 $ 9671 $ 500¢ $ 8,56¢

We lease general and administrative office spad¢ein York, New York and San Diego, California puastito operating
leases that expire in 2024 and 2019, respectileipctober 2013, we entered into a lease agreeiméigw York City for our
corporate headquarters, providing 11,124 squateofempace. We leased an additional 9,502 squatarfddecember 2014. The
lease for our New York City office will expire iuly 2024.

In May 2014, the Company entered into a lease aggrewith The Irvine Company LLC for approximatdly,000 square
feet in San Diego for office space. The lease am&eptember 2019; however, we have an optionrtbéuextend the lease for
an additional five year term at market rates plewg@at such time.

On February 19, 2015, we entered into an underle@heMerck Sharp & Dohme Limited for our new ofiéin the King's
Cross area of London, United Kingdom. The leaseiges us with approximately 6,000 rentable squeet ih London for
office space. The lease term is anticipated toieddne 2019. The annual rent is £470,608, paygideterly. We are also
required to pay value added tax, or VAT, on thd.rére will be responsible for a portion of the irece, certain service
charges and taxes for the building based on tloe #icea rented by us. As security for the undegleas have provided the
landlord with a rent deposit in the amount of £802, plus applicable VAT. The amount of the deposy be reduced to
£470,608 within 30 days after April 30, 2016 if there no outstanding payments due and there areateyial breaches of the
underlease that have not been unremedied in respettich a drawdown notice has been served anéxgised. The lease
became effective after December 31, 2014 and isohtded in the table above.

We are a party to license and research and develupagreements with universities and other thirtiges as well as patent
assignment agreements, under which we have obtdgted to patents, patent applications and know-hWWe enter into
contracts in the normal course of business with €ROclinical trials, clinical and commercial sippanufacturing, with
vendors for preclinical research studies and fbeoservices and products for operating purposesa@reements generally
provide for termination within 30 days of noticeich agreements are cancelable contracts and rietl@ttin the table of
contractual obligations and commitments. We hagkided as purchase obligations our commitmentsnagleements to the
extent they are quantifiable and are not cancelable

Under our agreement with Sumitomo Dainippon, werageiired to use our commercially reasonable effridevelop
OCA outside of the territories in which Sumitomoifgpon has a license under the agreement. As tireseints are not
guantifiable, they are not included in the tablewah

Under our agreement with Servier, we are obligagezbnduct and are conducting a research progradeiaify and
optimize compounds that meet certain specifie@gatsufficient for further development by Servifte are obligated under
the agreement to provide Servier with a specifiechimer of full time equivalent employees for thes@sh program and Servier
has agreed to reimburse us on a quarterly basthdaassociated costs up to a set maximum amougepe Servier has agreed
to pay for the development costs we or Servierriirteonducting certain preclinical trials and @il trials with respect to any
compound that meets specified criteria. We haveajto reimburse Servier for a certain percentaggecdevelopment costs
incurred by Servier if we enter into a partnersigpeement, or commence development or
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commercialization activities on our own, with resp® a compound in the United States. Servier anaglit a portion of any
such reimbursable development costs against amgstaile or royalty payments due and payable by &eaunider the agreement
until all such reimbursable amounts are repaicddition, if we enter into a partnership agreemétit respect to a compound
developed under the agreement solely in Japannd/&arvier have agreed to enter into good faitlotiations regarding the
terms and conditions applicable to the reimbursemfdevelopment costs. These amounts are notdedlin the table above
because they are not quantifiable or because tieegeanbursable under the agreement.

Our commitments as of December 31, 2014 under ansudting agreement with Professor Pellicciaritfee compounds
relating to the Servier agreement and our resesrdidevelopment agreement with TES Pharma Srefiexted in the table
above. In October 2013, our agreements with TESrRa&rl and our agreement with Professor Pellictarthe compounds
relating to the Servier agreement were extendeiti September 2015. All the commitments under ourstidting agreement
with Professor Pellicciari and our agreement wiESTPharma Srl, in each case, for the compound&deia the Servier
agreement are covered by the reimbursement prosgisinder our agreement with Servier.

Net Operating Losses

As of December 31, 2013 and 2014, we had fedetalperating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, for fedémaome tax
purposes of $104.7 million and $208.9 million, rmstvely, which expire from 2024 through 2032. @bility to utilize our
NOLs may be limited under Section 382 of the InéRevenue Code. The limitations apply if an “ovalép change,” as
defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue CGuxbeirs. Generally, an ownership change occurs whgain shareholders
increase their aggregate ownership by more thgrebtentage points over their lowest ownership peagee in a testing period
(typically three years). We have assessed whetieoomore ownership changes as defined underoBe282 of the Internal
Revenue Code have occurred since our inceptiorhawvel determined that there have been at leastualochanges.
Accordingly, although we believe that these ownigrshanges have not resulted in material limitation our ability to use
these NOLs, our ability to utilize the aforemengdrcarryforwards may be limited. Additionally, Ut8x laws limit the time
during which these carryforwards may be utilizediagt future taxes. As a result, we may not be tbtake full advantage of
these carryforwards for federal and state tax pepoFuture changes in stock ownership may atpgetrian ownership change
and, consequently, a Section 382 limitation.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have during the periods presented, andawnot currently have, any off-balance sheengements as defined
under Securities and Exchange Commission rules.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standarpgdadte (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contragith
Customers,” which requires entities to recognizeneie in the way it expects to be entitled forttaesfer of promised goods
or services to customers. The ASU will replace nebshe existing revenue recognition requirements iS. GAAP when it
becomes effective. This pronouncement is effedive@nnual reporting periods beginning after Decentitb, 2016, including
interim periods within that reporting period andase applied retrospectively, with early applicatnot permitted. The
Company is currently evaluating the effect thas ffionouncement will have on its financial statetsand related disclosures.

In June 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standdpdiate (“ASU”) No. 2014-10Development Stage Entities (Topic
915) — Elimination of Certain Financial Reportingduirements, Including an Amendment to Variablerbst Entities
Guidance in Topic 810, Consolidatievhich eliminates the concept of a development stengiey (DSE) in its entirety from
current accounting guidance. Previous reportingireqents for a DSE, including inception-to-datlermation, will no longer
apply. For public business entities, the amendnterdsSU 2014-10 are effective prospectively for aalrreporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2014, and interimapisriwithin those annual periods. Early applicabbéeach of the
amendments is permitted for any annual reportingpg@er interim period for which the entity’s fineial statements have not
yet been issued (public business entities) or naadéable for issuance (other entities). The Comgeas elected to early adopt
this ASU.
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Basic and Diluted Net Loss Attributable to Common ®ckholders per Share of Common Stock

Our Series A, B and C preferred stock represeragticipating securities. However, since we haveraigel at a loss since
inception, and losses are not allocated to theemed stock, the two class method did not affectoaiculation of earnings per
share. Upon the closing of our initial public offey, all outstanding shares of our preferred siweke converted into an
aggregate of 7,403,817 shares of common stock.

Dilutive common stock equivalents would include thiletive effect of convertible securities, commstock options, RSUs
and warrants to purchase common stock. Potentdilsive common stock equivalents totaled approxetya2,864,303 shares,
2,511,287 shares and 1,495,254 shares for the grdesi December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, resplgctRatentially dilutive
common stock equivalents were excluded from théetl earnings per share denominator for all pettietsuse of their anti-
dilutive effect. Therefore, the weighted averagarsh used to calculate both basic and diluted mgsrper share are the same.

Item 7A.Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk

Our primary exposure to market risk is interesbme sensitivity, which is affected by changes mdeneral level of U.S.
interest rates. We currently do not hedge inteststexposure. Because of the short-term matudfiesir cash equivalents and
investment securities, we do not believe that areimse in market rates would have any significapiict on the realized value
of our investment securities. If a 10% change farist rates were to have occurred on Decemb&(34, this change would
not have had a material effect on the fair valuewfinvestment portfolio as of that date.

We do not believe that our cash and cash equivsaberd available for sale investments have sigmificak of default or
illiquidity. While we believe our cash, cash equérds and available for sale investments do notainrexcessive risk, we
cannot provide absolute assurance that in thedudur investments will not be subject to adversangles in market value. In
addition, we maintain significant amounts of casti eash equivalents at one or more financial insbihs that are in excess of
federally insured limits.

We contract with CROs and investigational siteEimope, Canada and Australia. We are thereforeesuty fluctuations in
foreign currency rates in connection with theseeagrents. We do not hedge our foreign currency exgeheate risk.

Inflation generally affects us by increasing oustanf labor and clinical trial costs. We do notiee¢ that inflation has had a
material effect on our results of operations du@fgd?2, 2013 or 2014.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements required to be filed pansuo this Item 8 are appended to this Annual RepoForm 10-K. An
index of those financial statements is found imltE5.

Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountéon Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A.Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our principal executive officer and principal fir@al officer evaluated the effectiveness of oucltisure controls and
procedures as of December 31, 2014. The term ttigok controls and procedures,” as defined in RiBas15(e) and 15d-15
(e) under the Exchange Act means controls and ptloeedures of a company that are designed to etisar information
required to be disclosed by a company in the refbet it files or submits under the Exchange Actrorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periodHiged in the Securities and Exchange Commissiari&s and forms.
Disclosure controls and procedures include, withionitation, controls and procedures designed sueathat information
required to be disclosed by a company in the refbet it files or submits under the Exchange A@dcumulated and
communicated to the company’s management, incluigsngrincipal executive and principal financiafioérs, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required discl@sun designing and evaluating our disclosure aisind procedures, our
management recognizes that any controls and proegduw matter
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how well designed and operated, can provide ordgarable assurance of achieving the desired caiijettives, and our
management necessarily applies its judgment iruatiab the cost-benefit relationship of possiblatoms and procedures.
Based on the evaluation of our disclosure contaiots procedures as of December 31, 2014, our paheigecutive officer and
principal financial officer concluded that, as ath date, our disclosure controls and procedures agequate and effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahorting for our
company. Internal control over financial reportiaglefined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promukgatinder the Exchange
Act as a process designed by, or under the supEma$, the company’s principal executive and pipac financial officers and
effected by the company’s board of directors, manant and other personnel, to provide reasonableatce regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepaaat of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with GAAP and
includes those policies and procedures that: (fapeto the maintenance of records that, in reaklendetail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositionshef assets of the company; (i) provide reasonasdeirance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparatifinasicial statements in accordance with generalbepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendituresiotompany are being made only in accordance withagizations of
management and directors of the company; andoidiyide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition af @mpany’s assets that could have a materialtaffethe financial
statements.

Internal control over financial reporting is desgno provide reasonable assurance regarding libbiligy of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetm@nepared for external purposes in accordandegeiberally accepted
accounting principles. Because of its inherentthitions, internal control over financial reportimgy not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in condititigt the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may
deteriorate.

Our management, with the participation of our gpatexecutive officer and principal financial afir, assessed the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahc&porting as of December 31, 2014. In making #sisessment, our
management used the criteria set forth inltihernal Control — Integrated Framework (19983ued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisd#ased on its assessment, management concludezlithiaternal
control over financial reporting was effective éDecember 31, 2014 based on those criteria.

In 2013, the Committee of Sponsoring Organization$OS0O, updated its 199%&ernal Control — Integrated Framework
which is relied on to achieve compliance with tlelfaines-Oxley Act. The new framework requires Ificgples of internal
control to be present and functioning before aityeoan assess that it has adequate control ovandial reporting. We delayed
the implementation of the 2013 framework until 20p8marily because of the implementation of a rwerprise resource
planning system effective January 1, 2015. We beltbe additional time to implement the 2013 frareuwill provide us the
time to evaluate and address the risks to our azgaon in view of our changing size and globalgaece.

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Publidccounting Firm

The effectiveness of our internal control over figial reporting as of December 31, 2014 has beditealiby KPMG LLP,
an independent registered public accounting fisrstated in their report which is included in tAisnual Report on Form 10-
K.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-1&¢fj 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act), identified in connection with thekation of such internal control, that occurredmy the three months ended
December 31, 2014 that have materially affecte@rereasonably likely to materially affect, outeimal control over financial
reporting.

Item 9B.Other Information

Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

The information required by this Item 10 is incarged herein by reference to the information thiditbe contained in our
proxy statement related to the 2015 Annual Meatin§tockholders, which we intend to file with thecBrities and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our figgedr pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of FAG¥K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item 11 is incargted herein by reference to the information thiditbe contained in our
proxy statement related to the 2015 Annual Meatin§tockholders, which we intend to file with thecBrities and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our fisgedr pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of FAG¥K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @vners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

The information required by this Item 12 is incargted herein by reference to the information thiditbe contained in our
proxy statement related to the 2015 Annual Meatin§tockholders, which we intend to file with thecBrities and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our fisgedr pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of FAG¥K.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaans, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 is incar@ted herein by reference to the information thilitbe contained in our
proxy statement related to the 2015 Annual Meatin§tockholders, which we intend to file with thecBrities and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our figgedr pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of FAG¥K.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 is incarged herein by reference to the information thiitbe contained in our
proxy statement related to the 2015 Annual Meeatihn§tockholders, which we intend to file with thecBrities and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of our fisgedr pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of FAO¥K.

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as part @ thnnual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfting F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets F-4
Consolidated Statements of Operations F-5
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss F-6
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockhol&epsity (Deficit) F-7
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-8
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem F-9

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

All financial statement schedules have been omligzhuse they are not applicable, not requireHeoiriformation
required is shown in the financial statements errtbtes thereto.

(3) Exhibits. The exhibits filed as part of this#ual Report on Form 10-K are set forth on the Bikhndex
immediately following our consolidated financiahtgments. The Exhibit Index is incorporated hebgimeference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 135(t)lof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, thgi&eant has duly
caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be sigoreds behalf by the undersigned, thereunto dutharized.

INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Date: March 2, 2015 By: /s/ Mark Pruzanski, M.D.

Mark Pruzanski
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 2, 2015 By: /s/ Barbara Dunca

Barbara Duncan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10as been signed by
the following persons in the capacities indicatetbty and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

/s/ Mark Pruzanski President, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 2, 2015
(Principal Executive Officer)

Mark Pruzanski

/sl Barbara Duncan Chief Financial Officer March 2, 2015
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Barbara Duncan

/sl Jonathan Silverstein Chairman of the Board of Directors March 2, 2015

Jonathan Silverstein
/sl Srinivas Akkaraju, M.D., Ph.D. Director March 2, 2015

Srinivas Akkaraju, M.D., Ph.D.
/sl Luca Benatti, M.D. Director March 2, 2015

Luca Benatti, M.D.
/sl Paolo Fundaro Director March 2, 2015

Paolo Fundaro

/sl Sanj K. Patel Director March 2, 2015
Sanj K. Patel
/sl Glenn Sblendorio Director March 2, 2015

Glenn Sblendorio
/sl Klaus Veitlinger, M.D., Ph.D. Director March 2, 2015

Klaus Veitlinger, M.D.
/sl Nicole Williams Director March 2, 2015

Nicole Williams
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated talsineets of Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc. absidiaries as of
December 31, 2013 and 2014, and the related coasetl statements of operations, comprehensivedbasges in
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each efykars ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014e Toasolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of@mnpany’s management. Our responsibility is to espian opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on outsaudi

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighaflqUnited
States). Those standards require that we plan arfidrm the audit to obtain reasonable assurancetatiwether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. Ait mcludes examining, on a test basis, evidenpparting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit ancludes assessing the accounting principled agad significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the lbfiaemcial statement presentation. We believe tha audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly, in all materéapects, the financial
position of Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc. andsiliéries as of December 31, 2013 and 2014, ancethats of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the years endezkéer 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 in conformity witB.lgenerally accepted
accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States),
Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal contnadr financial reporting as of December 31, 20&€dl on criteria established
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (199ued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatibtise Treadway
Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 252&pressed an unqualified opinion on the effeckss of Intercept
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s internal control over ficiahreporting.

/sl KPMG LLP

New York, New York
March 2, 2015
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:

We have audited Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inthis Company’s) internal control over financial repay as of December
31, 2014, based on criteria establishethtarnal Control — Integrated Framework (1998%ued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway CommisgidSO). The Company’s management is responsible&intaining
effective internal control over financial reportingd for its assessment of the effectiveness efriat control over financial
reporting, included in the accompanying ManagensaR€port on Internal Control over Financial RepaytiOur responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Company’s intecnatrol over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8q&@nited
States). Those standards require that we plan erfidrp the audit to obtain reasonable assurancet afiwether effective
internal control over financial reporting was mained in all material respects. Our audit includbthining an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting, assiag the risk that a material weakness exists testihg and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internalrebbiased on the assessed risk. Our audit alsadadl performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the dtanoes. We believe that our audit provides a redse basis for our
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesasuregarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepaaat of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s intecoatrol over financial reporting includes thos®igies and procedures that
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records thateasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleetttiansactions and dispositions
of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasereddurance that transactions are recorded asagcés permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with gengiadcepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance withogizéitions of management and directors of the caypand (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidetgction of unauthorized acquisition, use, opalition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on thenéiral statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectivenessutuife periods are subject to the risk that contrdy become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfreompliance with the policies or procedures meteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all maleespects, effective internal control over fio&l reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on criteria establishtdémal Control — Integrated Framework (19983ued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comimis€COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bio@nited States),
the consolidated balance sheets of the Companiy@scember 31, 2013 and 2014, and the related tdated statements of
operations, comprehensive loss, changes in stodg&tglequity, and cash flows for each of the yesmded December 31, 2012,
2013, and 2014, and our report dated March 2, 28p¥essed an unqualified opinion on those congelitiinancial
statements.

/sl KPMG LLP

New York, New York
March 2, 2015
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,

2013 2014
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,363,18 $ 20,022,92
Investment securities, available-for-sale 131,468,79 219,700,89
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,732,55 6,104,01
Total current assets 147,564,53 245,827,83
Fixed assets, net 1,672,29! 5,851,75
Security deposits 1,081,74 2,469,34.
Total assets $150,318,58 $ 254,148,93
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiebil $ 7,259,80 $ 13,459,48
Short-term portion of deferred revenue 1,621,62: 1,781,62
Total current liabilities 8,881,42 15,241,10
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term portion of deferred revenue 8,918,91 8,017,30
Long-term portion of warrant liability 50,112,13 —
Total liabilities 67,912,48 23,258,41
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock. 25,000,000 and 35,000,000 sharesrat;
19,389,610, and 21,415,243 shares issued and mditsgeas of
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014, respcipag value
$0.001 per share 19,39( 21,41t
Additional paid-in capital 268,302,61 700,354,65
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net 59,85 (283,83))
Accumulated deficit (185,975,76) (469,201,71)
Total stockholders’ equity 82,406,10 230,890,522
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $150,318,58 $ 254,148,93

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsstents.
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Licensing revenue

Costs and expenses:

Research and development
General and administrative

Total costs and expenses

Other income (expense):
Revaluation of warrants

Foreign currency loss on liquidation

Other income, net

Net loss

Dividends on preferred stock, not declared
Net loss attributable to common stockholc
Net loss per share, basic and dilu

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic anediilu

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

$ 2,446,100 $ 1,62162 $ 1,7416L
16,182,56 27,941,50 80,310,53
5,177,12! 13,131,83 34,601,29
21,359,69 41,073,34 114,911,83
(24,625,59)  (28,441,06)  (170,831,87)
(191,73) — —
87,84¢ 100,37: 776,13
(24,729,48)  (28,340,69)  (170,055,74)
$(43,643,07) $(67,792,41) $(283,225,95)
(2,630,43) — —
$(46,273,50)  $(67,792,41) $(283,225,95)
$ (7.3 $ (376 $ (13.69)
6,283,23 18,028,73 20,784,43

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgstents.
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

Net loss
Other comprehensive (loss):
Unrealized gains (losses) on securities:

Unrealized holding gains (losses) arising durirgy tt
period

Reclassification for recognized gains on marketat
investment securities during the period recogni:
in other income, net

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Net unrealized gains (losses) on marketable investn
securities

Comprehensive loss

Years Ended December 31,

2012

2013

2014

$(43,643,07)

$(67,792,41)

$(283,225,95)

(21,45 81,30 (368,600

— — 24,91:

184,50( — —

$ 163,04¢ $ 81,30« $ (343,689

$(43,480,02)

$(67,711,10)

$(283,569,64)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgstents.
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Net loss

Balance — December 31, 2011

Stock-based compensation:
Directors and employees
Consultants

Private placement — August 9, 2012

Preferred shares converted to comm:
stock

Issuance of common stock from initia
public offering, net of underwriting
fees and issuance costs

Warrants converted to common stoct

Reclassification of warrants from equ
to liabilities

Other comprehensive gain

Net loss

Balance — December 31, 2012

Stock-based compensation:
Directors and employees
Consultants

Issuance of common stock from publ
offering, net of underwriting fees a
issuance costs

Warrants converted to common stoct

Net proceeds from exercise of stock
options

Other comprehensive income

Net loss

Balance — December 31, 2013

Stock-based compensation:
Directors and employees
Consultants

Issuance of common stock from publ
offering, net of underwriting fees a
issuance costs

Warrants converted to common stoct

Net proceeds from exercise of stock
options

Other comprehensive income
Net loss

Balance — December 31, 2014

INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder&quity
For the Periods December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014

Series A Series B Series C Accumulated
Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Common Stock Other
Additional Paid- Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares  Amount in Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Equity (Deficit)
_ — — — — — — — — (12,737,65) — (12,737,65)
13,888,88 $13,88¢ 13,888,88 $ 13,88¢ 3,329,66! $ 3,33( $ 72,133,89 $ (74,540,27) $ (184,50() $ (2,559,77)
— — — — — — — — 2,436,43! — — 2,436,431
—_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ 912,55¢ — — 912,55¢
15,000,00 15,00( — — 29,715,00 — — 29,730,00
(13,888,88) (13,889 (13,888,88) (13,889 (15,000,00) (15,0000 7,403,81 7,40¢ 35,37« —_ —_ —_
— — — — — — 5,750,000 5,75( 78,764,24 — — 78,769,99
—_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ 43,40: 43 1,018,17. —_ —_ 1,018,21!
— — — — — — — (915,53) — — (915,53Y)
—_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ —_ 163,04¢ 163,04¢
— — — = — — — — — (43,643,07) — (43,643,07)
— — — — — — 16,526,88 $16,527 $184,100,13 $(118,183,35) $ (21,45) $ 65,911,86
— — — — — — — — 6,818,431 — — 6,818,43
— — — — — — — — 2,627,65! — — 2,627,65
— — — — — — 1,989,501 1,99C 61,167,34 — — 61,169,33
— — — — — — 235,41¢ 23t 8,695,58! — — 8,695,82
— — — — — — 637,80t 63¢ 4,893,45 — — 4,894,08'
— — — — — — — — — — 81,30« 81,30
— — — — — — — — — (67,792,41) (67,792,41)
— — — — — — 19,389,61 $19,39( $268,302,61 $(185,975,76) $ 59,85! $ 82,406,10
— — — — — — — — 15,250,50 — — 15,250,50
_ — — — — — — — 4,876,28! — — 4,876,28!
— — — — — — 600,00( 60C 183,474,62 — — 183,475,22
— — — — — — 834,75¢ 83t 220,943,17 — — 220,944,00
— — — — — — 590,87: 591 7,507,45! — — 7,508,041
— — — — — — — — — — (343,681 (343,68)
_ — — = — — — — — (283,225,95) — (283,225,95)
—_ —_ —_ —_ —_ — 21,415,24 $21,41f $700,354,65 $(469,201,71) $ (283,83) $ 230,890,52
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,

2012

2013

2014

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (43,643,07)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usec
operating activities:

$ (67,792,41)

$ (283,225,95)

Foreign currency loss on liquidation 191,73 — —
Revaluation of warrants 24,625,59 28,441,06 170,831,87
Stock-based compensation 3,348,98! 9,446,09! 20,126,79
Amortization of investment premium 118,18l 1,614,88: 3,366,22.
Depreciation 201,32: 105,68 442,79
Loss on the disposal of property and equipment — — 20,91
Changes in:
Prepaid expenses, other current assets and
security deposits (387,69() (1,714,13) (4,759,05)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and oth
current liabilities 2,241,57! 3,514,03; 6,199,68
Deferred revenue (2,446,10) (1,621,62) (741,61))
Net cash used in operating activities (15,749,46) (28,006,40) (87,738,34)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Redemptions of certificates of deposit 3,32¢ — —
Purchases of investment securities (65,940,97)  (125,825,10) (204,343,74)
Sales of investment securities 1,119,07 57,240,67 112,401,73
Purchases of equipment, improvements, and furni
and fixtures (38,79H (1,629,141 (4,643,17)
Net cash used in investing activities (64,857,36) (70,213,56) (96,585,17)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of stock offerings, net of
issuance costs 108,499,99 61,169,33 183,475,22
Payments of capital lease obligation (81,767) — —
Proceeds from exercise of options — 4,894,08! 7,508,041
Proceeds from exercise of warrants — 8,097 —
Net cash provided by financing activities 108,418,23 66,071,52 190,983,26
Effect of exchange rate changes (7,239 — —
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 27,804,16 (32,148,45) 6,659,74.
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of period 17,707,47 45,511,64 13,363,18
Cash and cash equivalents — end of period $ 4551164 $ 13,363,118 $ 20,022,92
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash activities:
Issuance of common stock for cashless warrant
exchange $ 1,018,21! $ 8,69558 $ 220,944,00
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 4,23  $ —  $ —
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Overview of Business

Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Intercept” or t@®@mpany”), is a biopharmaceutical company focusedhe
development and commercialization of novel theréipsto treat chronic liver with high unmet medioaked utilizing its
proprietary bile acid chemistry. The Company’s prctccandidates have the potential to treat orphamaore prevalent liver
diseases for which there currently are limited dpewutic solutions.

The Company has its administrative headquarteikkeinm York, New York and an office in San Diego, @athia. In
February 2015, we signed a lease for an officeoindon, United Kingdom. The Company has a wholly-edveubsidiary in
Italy which acts as the Company’s legal represemdior its clinical trials in the European Uniamgatisfy European Union
regulatory requirements and a wholly-owned subsydiathe United Kingdom. Intercept was incorpochie Delaware in
September 2002.

On September 13, 2012, the board of directorsefbmpany approved, and on September 25, 2012dtihslders of the
Company approved, a one-for-5.7778 reverse stdiko$phe Company’s outstanding common stock, whias effected on
September 26, 2012.

The Company'’s activities are subject to significasits and uncertainties, including failing to sexadditional funding.

2. Basis of Presentation

The Company'’s financial statements have been pedparconformity with accounting principles gengraccepted in the
United States of America (GAAP). The preparatiofiimdncial statements in conformity with GAAP regas management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetezbamounts of assets and liabilities and thdaBsce of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial sta¢ers and the reported amounts of revenues and seenring the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those ewtes.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to@ants of Intercept and its subsidiaries, inclgdintercept Italia S.R.L.
and Intercept Pharma Europe LTD. The activitieghefsubsidiaries is not considered material toettiesncial statements. All
intercompany balances and transactions have beeimaied in consolidation.

B. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid securitith a maturity of three months or less at acquisito be cash
equivalents.

C. Investment Securities

Investment securities are considered to be avaifiitsale and are carried at fair value. Unredligains and losses, if any,
are reported in other comprehensive income (I38®).cost of investment securities classified adava-for-sale is adjusted
for amortization of premiums and accretion of disuts to maturity. Such amortization and accretigniacluded in interest
income. Realized gains and losses, and declineslure judged to be other-than-temporary, if ang,aso included in other
income, net. The cost of securities sold is basethe specific identification method.

D. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments, including cash and cashvedgnts, receivables, accounts payable and actiaiglities are carried
at cost which management believes approximatesdtie because of the short term maturity of thiesguments.
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — @ntinued)

E. Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subjea Bompany to concentrations of credit risk, prialipconsist of cash,
cash equivalents and investment securities. Thep@agncurrently invests its excess cash primarilgnoney market funds,
U.S. Treasury notes, and high quality, marketablg ¢thstruments of corporations, financial instdns and government
sponsored enterprises. The Company has adoptedestrinent policy that includes guidelines relativeredit quality,
diversification and maturities to preserve printignad liquidity.

F. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are stated at cost, and depreciagedrevestimated useful life of the assets. Degtieci is recorded using the
straight-line method over the estimated usefulsligéthree to seven years for equipment and sesarsyor furniture and
fixtures. Leasehold improvements are amortized tweshorter of the asset’s useful life or the dife¢he lease term.
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are ctidggexpense as incurred.

G. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets consist of fixed assets. The Gomgvaluates long-lived assets for impairment wéamts and
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouminodisset or group of assets may not be fully reable

H. Revenue Recognition

All of the Company’s revenue during the periodsezed by these financial statements has been ddrivedits research
and development and licensing collaborations. Thgseements include non-refundable up-front feestlam potential for
research, development, regulatory and commerciakione fees, as well as royalties on sales afidiee products, if and when
such product sales occur. As of December 31, 20@4Company has received only up-front fees frenc@laborations.

The Company evaluates all deliverables within aaregement to determine whether they provide vatua stand-alone
basis. Based on this evaluation, the deliverableseparated into units of accounting. The arraege¢rronsideration that is
fixed and determinable at the inception of therageanent is allocated to the separate units of atoc@ibased on relative fair
value. The Company may exercise significant judgnredetermining whether a deliverable is a seganait of accounting, as
well as in estimating the selling prices of sucltsiaf accounting. For each unit of accounting tded within an arrangement,
the Company determines the period over which thfopaance obligation occurs and recognizes themaeeising a straight-
line method.

The Company accounts for the development, regylaiod sales milestones within an arrangement iordeace with the
milestone method of revenue recognition. This me@itows for the recognition of consideration whislcontingent on the
achievement of a substantive milestone in its etytiin the period the milestone is achieved. Eattré milestone is considered
substantive if it (i) relates solely to the pastfpenance of the intellectual property to achielve iilestone; (i) is reasonable
relative to all of the deliverables and paymenti®in the arrangement; and (iii) is commensuratb either the Company’s
performance or the enhanced value of the inteliégroperty as a result of a specific outcome tagyufrom the Company’s
performance.

I. Research and Development Expenses

Research and development costs that do not haraaitve future use are charged to expense ag@tturhis includes the
cost of conducting clinical trials, compensation aelated overhead for employees and consultamtdvied in research and
development and the cost of the Company’s manufagtactivities to supply ongoing and future cliali¢rials and preclinical
studies as well as preparations for commerciatimatift OCA.
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INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — @ntinued)

J. Stock-based Compensation

The Company estimates the fair value of stock agtigsing the Black-Scholes option pricing modettendate of the grant.
Restricted stock units and restricted stock awards/alued based on the closing price of the Cogipaommon stock on the
date of the grant. The fair value of equity instamnts expected to vest are recognized and amouizedstraight-line basis over
the requisite service period of the award. Genestlick options fully vest four years from the dgrdate and have a term of ten
years. The Company recognizes stock-based compaméat consultants on a mark-to-market basis wigalpdated on a
quarterly basis.

K. Warrants to Purchase Common Stock

In conjunction with various financing transactioti'e Company issued warrants to purchase the Cofigpa@mmon stock.
Certain of the warrants included a so-called “doaund” provision that provided for a reduction retwarrant exercise price if
there were subsequent issuances of additionalsbammmon stock for consideration per sharetless the per share warrant
exercise prices and certain warrants containedwgion that required the underlying shares todugstered upon an initial
public offering (IPO). These warrants were deenoelet derivative instruments and as such, were dedoas a liability and
were marked-to-market at each reporting periodgugie Black-Scholes option pricing model. The Conypastimated the fair
values of the warrants at each reporting periodguaiBlack-Scholes option-pricing model that ugedlihputs detailed in note 9
and the contractual terms of the warrants. Manageowncluded, under the Company'’s facts and cirtamegs, that the
estimated fair values of the warrants using thelBBcholes option-pricing model approximates, Imslterial respects, the
values determined using a binomial valuation motleé estimates in the Black-Scholes option-prieimagdel and the binomial
valuation model are based, in part, on subjectbgiptions, including but not limited to stock primlatility, the expected life
of the warrants, the risk free interest rate amdf#lir value of the common stock underlying theramts. Changes in the fair
value of the common stock warrant liability fronetprior period were recorded as a component ofr dtitceme and expense.

L. Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed Wididg net income (loss) attributable to commorcktmlders
(numerator) by the weighted average number of comshares outstanding (denominator) during the geBduted net
income (loss) per share gives effect to all dilgpotential common shares outstanding during thegécluding stock
options, restricted stock units (RSUs) and regtdatock awards (RSAs) and warrants using theurgasock method.

M. Income Taxes

The Company utilizes the asset and liability metbbdccounting for income taxes. Under this methederred tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on the diffeeebetween the financial statement carrying ansoamd tax bases of assets
and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effectylears in which the temporary differences areseted to reverse. The
Company establishes a valuation allowance whealigwes it is more likely than not deferred taxeaswill not be realized.

The Company determines the need for a valuatianvalhce by assessing the probability of realizinfgided tax assets,
taking into consideration all available positivelaregative evidence, including historical operatiesults, expectations of
future taxable income, carryforward periods avaddb the Company for tax reporting purposes, warimcome tax strategies
and other relevant factors. Significant judgmeneiguired in making this assessment and to thenefiture expectations
change, the Company would have to assess the redility of its deferred assets at that time. ActBmber 31, 2013 and 2014,
the Company maintained a full valuation allowannets deferred tax assets.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — @ntinued)

At any one time the Company’s tax returns for nwusrtax years are subject to examination by UeBeril, state and
foreign taxing jurisdictions. The impact of an uria@ tax position taken or expected to be takearmimcome tax return must
be recognized in the financial statements at tftgeekt amount that is more likely than not to beaned. An uncertain income
tax position will not be recognized in the finanattements unless it is more likely than notecsbstained.

N. Segments

The Company operates in one segment. The Companliggharmaceutical company focused on discovedegeloping
and commercializing treatments for chronic lived amtestinal diseases utilizing its proprietaryeldicid chemistry.

O. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standarpgdate (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contrawith
Customers,” which requires entities to recognizeneie in the way it expects to be entitled fortthasfer of promised goods
or services to customers. The ASU will replace nobshe existing revenue recognition requirementthe U.S. GAAP when it
becomes effective. This pronouncement is effedtiveannual reporting periods beginning after Decenttb, 2016, including
interim periods within that reporting period andashe applied retrospectively, with early applicatnot permitted. The
Company is currently evaluating the effect thas fiionouncement will have on its financial statetsamd related disclosures.

In June 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standdpiate (“ASU”) No. 2014-10Development Stage Entities (Topic
915) — Elimination of Certain Financial Reportingdtirements, Including an Amendment to Variablerest Entities
Guidance in Topic 810, Consolidatierhich eliminates the concept of a development stéangiéy (DSE) in its entirety from
current accounting guidance. Previous reportingireqents for a DSE, including inception-to-dat®rmation, will no longer
apply. For public business entities, the amendnterdsSU 2014-10 are effective prospectively for aalreporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2014, and interimapisriwithin those annual periods. Early applicabbéeach of the
amendments is permitted for any annual reportingpg@er interim period for which the entity’s fineial statements have not
yet been issued (public business entities) or naadéable for issuance (other entities). The Comgeas elected to early adopt
this ASU.

4. Significant Agreement

Sumitomo Dainippon Pharma Co., Ltd. (Sumitomo Dagmion)

In March 2011, the Company entered into an excluboense agreement with Sumitomo Dainippon toaese develop
and commercialize obeticholic acid (OCA) as a thetdic for the treatment of primary biliary cirrli$PBC) and nonalcoholic
steatohepatitis (NASH) in Japan and China (exclydiaiwan). Under the terms of the license agreenteatCompany
received an up-front payment from Sumitomo Dainippb$15.0 million and may be eligible to receivkl@ional milestone
payments up to an aggregate of approximately $3dl@n in development milestones based on théati@n or completion of
clinical trials, $70.0 million in regulatory appravmilestones and $200.0 million in sales milesgofiéne regulatory approval
milestones include $15.0 million for receiving metikg approval for OCA for NASH in Japan, $10.0lioil for receiving
marketing approval for OCA for NASH in China, armgto $5.0 million for receiving marketing approvat OCA for PBC in
the United States. As of March 2, 2015, we achiede@ million of the development milestones under epllaboration
agreement with Sumitomo Dainippon. The sales nufess are based on aggregate sales amounts of QOAcude $5.0
million for achieving net sales of $50.0 milliort.&60 million for achieving net sales of $100.0 roill, $20.0 million for
achieving net sales of $200.0 million, $40.0 milli@r achieving net sales of $400.0 million and G02million for achieving
net sales of $1.2 billion. Sumitomo Dainippon iscatequired to make royalty payments ranging
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from the tens to the twenties in percent basedetisales of OCA products in the Sumitomo Dainipfesritory. In May 2014,
Sumitomo Dainippon exercised its option under ibense agreement to add Korea as part of its legbtesritories and paid the
Company a $1.0 million up-front fee. Sumitomo Dpjgon has the option to add several other Asiantcesrto its territory to
pursue OCA for additional indications. Sumitomo mppon will be responsible for the costs of deveigmand
commercializing OCA in its territories.

The Company evaluated the license agreement withit8omo Dainippon and determined that it is a reweauangement
with multiple deliverables, or performance obligat. The Company’s substantive performance obtigatunder this license
include an exclusive license to its technologyhtécal and scientific support to the developmeahmnd participation on a
joint steering committee. The Company determinedl tiflese performance obligations represent a surgteof accounting,
since, initially, the license does not have stalotk@value to Sumitomo Dainippon without the Compsitechnical expertise
and steering committee participation during theetigyment of OCA. This development period is cuilseestimated as
continuing through June 2020 and, as such, thearg-payment and the Korea option are being reaaghiatably over this
period. During the years ended December 31, 20123 2nd 2014, the Company recorded revenue of gippately $1.6
million, $1.6 million and $1.7 million, respectiyelin “Licensing Revenue” in its Consolidated Sta&nt of Operations for the
Company'’s efforts under the agreement during 22023, and 2014. The Company did not achieve atlyeomilestones
relating to the agreement and did not recognizeramgnue related to such milestones. The Compasigéizrmined that each
potential future development, regulatory and saigsstone is substantive.

5. Investments

The following table summarizes the Company’s caakh equivalents and investments as of Decemb&038, and
December 31, 2014:

As of December 31, 2013

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and money market funds $ 13,36 $ - $ — $ 13,36!
Investment securities:

Commercial paper 7,992 1 — 7,99¢
Corporate debt securities 115,70« 11F (59) 115,76l
Municipal securities 1,051 1 — 1,052
U.S. government and agency securities 6,657 6 — 6,66:

Total investments 131,40! 12Z (59 131,46

Total cash, cash equivalents and investments  $ 144,76¢ $ 12:  $ (59 $ 144,83.

As of December 31, 2014

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and money market funds $ 20,020 $ —  $ — $ 20,02:
Investment securities:
Commercial paper 7,99¢ — (€] 7,994
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5. Investments — (continued)
As of December 31, 2014

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

(in thousands)

Corporate debt securities 203,98t 19 (282) 203,72!
U.S. government and agency securities 7,99¢ — (16) 7,98:
Total investments 219,98: 19 (299) 219,70:

Total cash, cash equivalents and investments ~ $ 240,00: $ 19 $ (299 $ 239,72

The following table shows the gross unrealizeddssnd fair value of the Company'’s available-fde $avestments
aggregated by investment category and length @ timat individual securities have been in the posit

As of December 31, 2013

Less than 12 months 12 Months or greater Total

(in thousands)

Gross Gross Gross

Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses

Corporate debt securities $ 951t $ () $31,31: $ (B7) $ 40820 $ (59
Total $ 951F $ (2 $31,31: $ (57) $ 40820 $ (59

As of December 31, 2014

Less than 12 months 12 Months or greater Total

(in thousands)

Gross Gross Gross

Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses

Corporate debt securities $ 86,22: $ (63) $ 8156: $ (21¢) $167,78! $ (282)

Commercial paper 4,99/ (D) — — 4,99/ Q)
U.S. government and agency

securities — — 4,481 (16) 4,481 (16)

Total $ 91,21t $ (64 $ 86,04 $ (235 $177,25 $ (299

6. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consfdtesifollowing:

December 31,

2013 2014

(in thousands)

Prepaid expenses $ 1,277 $ 3,541
Interest receivable 834 1,45¢
Contract receivable 50€ 1,091
Certificates of deposit 78 —
Refundable tax credits 38 11
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 273 $ 6,10/
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Fixed assets are stated at cost and depreciatedatized using the straight-line method basedsafull lives as follows:

December 31,

Useful lives
(Years) 2013 2014
(in thousands)
Office equipment and software 3 $ 364 $ 79¢
Over life
Leasehold improvements of lease 1,15¢ 3,321
Furniture and fixtures 7 44t 2,41C
Subtotal 1,96t 6,53(
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (299) (679

Fixed assets, net

$ 1,672 $ 5,851

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 was $2)%006,000 and

$443,000, respectively.

8. Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and Other Lbdities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities consistetti@following:

December 31,

2013 2014

(in thousands)

Accounts payable $ 3,19¢ $ 3,12¢
Accrued employee compensation 2,15¢ 3,98¢
Accrued contracted services and other 1,90¢ 6,34¢
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitiedbil $ 7,26( $ 13,45¢

9. Warrants to Purchase Common Stock

The Company'’s activity related to warrants to pasghshares of common stock of the Company is riotix table below.

Warrants to Weighted
Purchase Average Exercise
Common Stock Price

Warrants issued and outstanding as of Decembet03P, 1,161,96! $ 9.4:%
Warrants exercised in 2013 (287,709 6.62
Warrants expired in 2013 (8,875 5.71
Warrants issued and outstanding as of Decemb&(3B 865,38: $ 10.4(
Warrants exercised in 2014 (865,38))

Warrants expired in 2014 —

Warrants issued and outstanding as of Decembe&034, - $ =

The warrants that required the underlying sharé®teegistered upon an IPO met the criteria to eravative upon the
closing of the IPO in October 2012. The fair valoéthe warrants are reflected in the accompaniaignce sheets and were
determined using the Black-Scholes option-priciragei using the following weighted average assumgtio
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9. Warrants to Purchase Common Stock — (continued)

December 31,

2012 2013
Stock price $34.2¢ $68.2¢
Expected dividend yield —% —%
Expected term (in years) 1.72 1.07
Risk free interest rate 0.22% 0.15%
Expected volatility 84.01% 57.2t%

The expected term was based on the remaining teeaob warrant. The risk free interest rate is tasethe rate for U.S.
Treasury securities for the expected term of eaaramt valued. The expected volatility was estidat@ely based on
historical volatility information of peer companitigat was publicly available in 2012 and based upbiend of the historical
volatility information of peer companies and thengxany’s own volatility for 2013.

On April 10, 2014, all the Company’s remaining veauts to purchase a total of 865,381 shares obitenon stock were
exercised on a cashless basis into 834,758 shiites Gompany’s common stock and as such no furtheduations are
required.

10. Fair Value Measurements
The carrying amounts of the Company’s receivabhespyables approximate their fair value due ta gteort maturities.

Accounting principles provide guidance for using fealue to measure assets and liabilities. Thelguie includes a three
level hierarchy of valuation techniques used tosuneafair value, defined as follows:

e Unadjusted Quoted Prices Fhe fair value of an asset or liability is basedumadjusted quoted prices in active mar
for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

* Pricing Models with Significant Observable InputsThe fair value of an asset or liability is basedinformation
derived from either an active market quoted pndeich may require further adjustment based on ttiibates of the
financial asset or liability being measured, olireactive market transaction (Level 2).

*  Pricing Models with Significant Unobservable Itgpu— The fair value of an asset or liability isrparily based on
internally derived assumptions surrounding therigraind amount of expected cash flows for the firzdmestrument.
Therefore, these assumptions are unobservabléhier in active or inactive market (Level 3).

The Company considers an active market as one ichvitansactions for the asset or liability occuttwsufficient
frequency and volume to provide pricing informat@mman ongoing basis. Conversely, the Company vawisactive market
as one in which there are few transactions foa®et or liability, the prices are not currentpidce quotations vary
substantially either over time or among market maké&/here appropriate, non-performance risk, araha counterparty, is
considered in determining the fair values of lidigit and assets, respectively.

The Company'’s cash deposits and money market faredslassified within Level 1 of the fair value fsiechy because they
are valued using bank balances or quoted markatrinvestments are classified as Level 2 instngsrigased on market
pricing and other observable inputs. None of then@any’s investments are classified within Levef $he fair value hierarchy.
The Company’s warrant liability had been valuedspant to the discussion in note 9 above and thssetuded in Level 3.

F-16




TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. Fair Value Measurements — (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities, carried at failue are classified in the tables below in onéhefthree categories described
above:

Fair Value Measurements Using

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets for Other Significant
Identical Assets or Observable Unobservable
Liabilities Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(in thousands)

December 31, 2013

Assets:

Money market funds $ 821¢ $ 8,21¢ $ — 3 =

Available for sale securities: —
Commercial paper 7,994 — 799 $ —
Corporate debt securities 115,76( — 115,76( —
U.S. government and agency securities 6,66% — 6,66% —
Municipal securities 1,052 — 1,05z —

Total financial assets: $139,68: $ 8,21¢ $ 131,46¢ $ —

Liabilities:

Warrants to purchase common stock $(50,117) $ = — $ (50,119

Total financial liabilities $(50,117) $ — 3 — $ (50,119

December 31, 2014

Assets:

Money market funds $ 2128 $ 21,28: $ — $ —

Available for sale securities:
Commercial paper 7,994 — 7,994 —
Corporate debt securities 203,72¢ — 203,72} —
U.S. government and agency securities 7,982 — 7,98 —

Total financial assets: $240,98¢ $ 21,28: $ 219,70. $ —

The estimated fair value of marketable debt seesr{tommercial paper, corporate debt securitieS, government and
agency securities, and municipal securities) d&exfember 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively, by cotuahmaturity, are as
follows:

Fair Value as of
December 31,

2013 2014

(in thousands)

Due in one year or less $ 56,04« $ 130,15¢
Due after one year through 2 years 75,42¢ 89,54
Total investments in debt securities $131,46¢ $ 219,70:

Actual maturities may differ from contractual méties because issuers may have the right to caltepay obligations
without call or prepayment penalties.
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11. Stockholders’ Equity and Preferred Stock

Common Stock
As of December 31, 2014, the Company had 35,00(0€tbrized shares of common stock, $0.001 paevadu share.

In October 2012, the Company completed the IP@afammon stock pursuant to a registration stateorefrorm S-1. In
the IPO, the Company sold an aggregate of 5,75G08fs of common stock under the registratioestant at a public
offering price of $15.00 per share. Net proceed®va@proximately $78.7 million, after deducting anariting discounts and
commissions and offering expenses payable by tmep@ay. Upon the closing of the IPO, all outstandihgres of the
Company'’s preferred stock (described below) werereded into 7,403,817 shares of common stock.

In June 2013, the Company completed a public offeof 1,989,500 shares of its common stock at éigafiering price of
$33.01 per share. The shares were registered mirsua registration statement on Form S-1. Net@eds were approximately
$61.2 million, after deducting underwriting discésiand commissions and offering expenses payableeb@ompany.

In April 2014, the Company completed a public dffgrof 1,000,000 shares of its common stock, ofcht@00,000 shares
were sold by the Company and 400,000 shares witdgaertain selling stockholders, at a publieedfig price of $320.00
per share. The shares were registered pursuamepstration statement on Form S-3. After unddémgidiscounts and
commissions and offering expenses, the Companyvezteet proceeds from the offering of approxima®&183.5 million. The
Company did not receive any proceeds from thecfaddares of common stock by the selling stockhslde

In February 2015, the Company completed a pubferiofy of 1,150,000 shares of its common stock@ilaic offering
price of $176.00 per share. The shares were regismirsuant to a registration statement on Fodn/Ater underwriting
discounts and commissions and estimated offeripgreses, the Company received net proceeds of apmatety $191.2
million.

Dividends

The holders of common stock are entitled to recdivielends from time to time as declared by therBaz Directors. The
Company has not declared any cash dividends @oitsnon stock, and does not anticipate paying asly dvidends on its
common stock in the foreseeable future. The Compatends to retain all available funds and anyreiarnings to fund the
development and expansion of its business. Anydutietermination to pay dividends will be at thecdetion of the board of
directors and will depend upon a number of factmduding the results of operations, financial divion, future prospects,
contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed pylaable law and other factors the board of doectleems relevant.

Voting

The holders of shares of common stock are entitlexhe vote for each share held with respect tmatters voted on by the
stockholders of the Company.

Preferred Stock

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had 5,00080@@orized shares of preferred stock, $0.001 paevger share, of
which none are issued.

12. Stock Compensation

The 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (2012 Plan) becaffez®ve upon the pricing of the IPO in October 20At the same
time, the 2003 Stock Incentive Plan (2003 Plan) teawinated and 555,843 shares available unde2@@@ Plan were added to
the 2012 Plan.

The estimated fair value of the options that haaerbgranted under the 2003 and 2012 Plans is datmatilizing the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model at the dateraing. The fair value of the RSUs
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12. Stock Compensation — (continued)

and RSAs that have been granted under the 2012dPdtermined utilizing the closing stock pricetba date of grant. There
were 409,914 and 745,275 shares available for geamaining under the 2012 Plan at December 31, 2082014,
respectively. On January 1, 2013, 2014 and 201&dhgbers of shares reserved for issuance und@0tt2 Plan was increased
by 661,075, 775,584, 856,609 shares, respectiaslg, result of the automatic increase in sharesved pursuant to the terms
thereof.

Stock-based compensation expense for the yearsl @wtmber 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 includes corafiengexpense
for employee, director and consultant stock optjoamts and restricted stock grants as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

(in thousands)
Stock options expense:
Employees and directors $ 2,162 $ 517 $ 12,14¢
Consultants 822 2,27¢ 3,70(
2,98¢ 7,44¢ 15,84¢

Restricted stock expense (RSUs and RSAS):

Employees and directors 307 1,64¢ 3,102
Consultants 58 352 1,171
36E 1,99¢ 4,27¢
Total $ 334¢ $ 944¢ $ 20,12
Stock Options

The Company estimated the fair value of stock aoytigranted in the periods presented using a Blabli8s option-pricing
model utilizing the following assumptions:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014
Volatility 107 -11%% 95 -11%% 70 —15(%
Expected term (in years) 5.0 -6.C 5.3-6.1 4.0-7.C
Risk-free rate 0.7 -0.8% 0.9 -3.C% 1.3-2.1%
Expected dividend yield —% —% —%

The stock price for options granted prior to th® Was determined based on a valuation of the Coptpanmmon stock.
For options granted after the IPO, the stock pgdbe closing price on the date of grant. The-fisk interest rate was based on
the rate for U.S. Treasury securities at the dagrant with maturity dates approximately equathte expected life at the grant
date. The expected life for options was based ersitnplified method in accordance with SEC Stafééunting Bulletin Nos.
107 and 110 as the Company does not have sufficistarical exercise data due to the limited penbtime the Company’s
shares have been publicly traded. The expectedlitplavas estimated based on historical volatilitjormation of peer
companies that are publicly available.

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 antl #61Company granted to its employees and dirgetdotal of
213,991, 584,550 and 452,424 stock options, resedetFor the years ended December 31, 2012, 20832014, the
Company granted to its consultants a total of 15,28,250 and 3,232 stock options, respectively.
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The Company’s combined outstanding employee aneenguioyee option activity for the period from Dedmm 31, 2013
through December 31, 2014 is summarized as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate

Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic Value
Shares Price Term (years)  (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 152483 $ $  71,60¢
Granted 393,76¢ $ 215.5! $ 9,14¢
Exercised (469,229 $ 16.2 $ 118,35:
Cancelled/forfeited (11,43Y) $ 77.62 $ 2,09(
Expired (1,899 $ 9.5¢ $ 277
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 1,436,050 $  75.8] 7.7 $ 141,50
Expected to vest 1,332,431 $  66.0¢ 7€ $ 138,91
Exercisable 673,34 $ 16.9: 6. $ 93,64

The aggregate intrinsic value of options is calmdaas the difference between the exercise pritieeofinderlying options
and the deemed fair value of the Company’s comnmmekdor those shares that had exercise pricesrltves the deemed fair
value of the Company’s common stock. As of Decen3ie2014, the total compensation cost relateditewested awards not
yet recognized is approximately $53.8 million wéthiveighted average remaining vesting period of $e28s. The weighted-
average grant date fair value of options granteithduhe year ended December 2014 is $163.16.

In April 2014, the Company issued 57,063 perforneabased options to certain employees to purchasencm stock that
will vest upon the achievement of certain regulatoilestones related to OCA at future dates. Inéker 2014, the Company
issued an additional 10,839 performance-basedroptimat will vest upon the achievement of the seegelatory milestones
noted above. As of December 31, 2014, the achieneaig¢he milestones was not deemed to be protatdeno share-based
compensation expense was recognized for theserpenice-based options.

The following table summarizes additional informatiabout stock options outstanding:

December 31, 2014

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Aggregate Aggregate

Number of Average Intrinsic Value  Number Weighted Average Intrinsic Value
Exercise Price Shares  Remaining Life  (in thousands) of Shares Remaining Life (years) (in thousands)
$8.00 — $25.00 573,60: 6.2 $ 56,52, 523,47: 61 $ 72,80¢
$25.01 — $75.00 505,80! 8.C 49,84, 149,87: 8.C 20,84«
$75.01 — $175.00 158,35¢ 10.C 15,60
$175.01 — $275.00 107,61¢ 9.2 10,60
$275.01 — $375.00 75,37¢ 9.1 7,42¢
$375.01 — $500.00 15,30( 9.1 1,50¢

1,436,05! $ 141,50t 673,34 $ 93,64t

The total intrinsic value of options exercised 012 was approximately $118.4 million. The totat faalue of shares that
vested in 2014 was $12.9 million.
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Restricted Stock Units and Awards

The following table summarizes the aggregate divin relation to RSU and RSA activity for theayge ended December
31, 2013, and 2014:

Weighted
Average
Number of Grant Date Aggregate

Shares Fair Value Intrinsic Value
Non-vested Shares at December 31, 2013 121,06 $ 253C $ 8,267
Granted 61,88 $ 2284t % 14,18:
Exercised (6150) $ 323 $ 13,64¢
Cancelled/forfeited (2,100 $ 22157 $ 49t

Non-vested Shares at December 31, 2014 119,34t $ 131.0¢ $ 18,61¢

As of December 31, 2014, there was $12.7 millionraecognized compensation expense related to ted/BSUs and
RSAs, which is expected to be recognized over ghted average of 3.09 years. The weighted avesagaining contract life
of the non-vested shares as of December 31, 2(8.8 igears.

The following table summarizes additional informatiabout non-vested RSUs and RSAs outstanding:

Number of Intrinsic Value
Shares Price (in thousands)
$21.50 —
Employees and directors 112,57: $288.21 $ 17,56
$21.50 —
Consultants 6,77 $266.01 1,057
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 119,34¢ $ 18,61¢

13. Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measuriedj @nhacted tax rates expected to apply to taxabtame in the years in
which those temporary differences are expectea tebolved. The effect of a change in tax ratdaves on deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities is recognized in opierss in the period that includes the enactmerg dathe rate change.

The deferred tax asset or liability representsriutax return consequences of those differenceishwtill be taxable when
the assets and liabilities are recovered or seffled provision for income taxes may differ frone thictual expense that would
result from applying the federal statutory raténimome before taxes because certain income fondiahreporting purposes is
not taxable and certain expenses for financialntemppurposes are not deductible for tax purposef®ecember 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2014, the Company had available rexatipg loss carryforwards to reduce future taxaimeme of
approximately $104.7 million and $208.9 millionspectively, for tax reporting purposes. These darwards expire between
2024 and 2033. The ability of the Company to wiliizs net operating losses in future years is stilbgelimitation in accordance
with provisions of Section 382 of the Internal Rewe Code due to previous ownership changes; howinese changes have
not resulted in material limitations to the Comparapility to utilize the net operating losses. Tempany’s combined
federal, state and city deferred tax asset of aqimetely $42.1 million, $60.2 million and $104.7Iloin at December 31, 2012,
2013 and 2014, respectively, resulted from theeffects of net operating losses and differencesdst the book and tax bases
for the share-based compensation and deprecidii@mCompany does not have any deferred tax liegsliSince the Company
has not yet achieved sustained profitable operstimanagement believes its deferred tax assetstdatisfy the more-likely-
than-not realization criteria and has provided liowence for the full amount of the tax asset. Aesult, the Company has not
recorded any income tax benefit since its inception
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14. Commitments

Facility Leases

In October 2013, the Company entered into a legsseaent to provide the Company with 11,124 repetahlare feet (the
Primary Space) in New York City for its corporatadquarters. The rent for the Primary Space (witgiwing effect to any
rent abatements) for the first year was approxily&801,000 and will increase by two percent aniyuattil the end of the
fifth lease year, at which point the annual rerit increase to approximately $940,000, and subsatyumcrease by two
percent annually until July 2024, the terminatiated In accordance with the terms of the leasecaggat, an additional 9,502
rentable square feet (the Additional Space) wededdo the Company’s lease in December 2014. Titdaoethe Additional
Space (without giving effect to any rent abatemfoisthe first year is approximately $684,000 avilll increase by two
percent annually until the end of the fifth yearwhich point the annual rent will increase to apgimately $803,000 for the
sixth lease year, and subsequently increase byéneent annually until the termination date. Urttierterms of the lease, the
Company was required to provide the landlord witktger of credit in an amount equal to approxirya$801,000 prior to
entering into the lease, and $684,000 on the cornement of the lease for the Additional Space.

In May 2014, the Company entered into a lease aggrewith The Irvine Company LLC for approximatdly,000 square
feet in San Diego for office space. The lease msmmenced in September 2014 and is scheduled tm&eptember 2019;
however, the Company has an option to further ektea lease for an additional five year term atkagrates prevailing at
such time. The rent for the first year will be appmately $875,000 without giving effect to renatdments and the rent will
gradually increase every 12 months during the léarse. During the first nine months, the Compargerees a partial rent
abatement from the landlord. The landlord provittedlCompany with an allowance of approximately $fiHion for
improvements to the office space. Pursuant toehms of the San Diego lease, the Company provitke¢andlord with a letter
of credit for $874,000, which will decrease at a#rttimes during the term of the lease.

Rent expense under operating leases for facifitiethe years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 ardl \28% approximately
$332,000, $624,000 and $1.7 million, respectivalyof December 31, 2014, minimum operating leageneats under non-
cancelable leases, as amended, are as follows:

Year Ending December 31, Amount

(in thousands)

2015 $ 1,89¢
2016 2,27¢
2017 2,53¢
2018 2,62(
2019 2,38¢
Thereafter 8,34¢
Total future minimum operating lease payments $ 20,06:

15. Related Party Transactions

In connection with the Series C preferred stockriting in August 2012, the Company reimbursed Geaexd OrbiMed
Advisors LLC $50,000 and $150,000, respectively|égal and other transaction-related expensesriediy such
stockholders in connection with the transaction.

In connection with the October 2013 secondary oftermpursuant to the third amended and restatedkistdders agreement,
the Company reimbursed the selling stockholdershi®rexpenses related to the offering (other timyruaderwriting discounts
and commissions), including approximately $58,08Ctfie legal fees of the selling stockholders.
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15. Related Party Transactions — (continued)

In connection with the April 2014 secondary offegipursuant to the third amended and restated lsddabdrs agreement,
the Company reimbursed the selling stockholdershi®rexpenses related to the offering (other timyruaderwriting discounts
and commissions), including approximately $70,08Ce legal fees of the selling stockholders.

16. Net Loss Per Share
The following table presents the historical compataof basic and diluted net loss per share:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

(in thousands, except share and share amounts)
Historical net loss per share
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (46,27) $ (67,79) $ (283,220
Denominator:

Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and
diluted 6,283,23 18,028,73 20,784,43

Net loss per share, basic and dilu $ (7.3 $ (3.7¢ $ (13.69)

The following potentially dilutive securities haleen excluded from the computations of diluted Wieid average shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2&lthey would have been anti-dilutive:

December 31,

2012 2013 2014

(in thousands)

Options 1,52¢ 1,52¢ 1,43¢
Restricted stock units 17¢ 121 11¢
Warrants to purchase common stock 1,162 86% —
Total 2,86¢ 2,511 1,55¢

17. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

The following table summarizes the unaudited quigrtenancial data for the years ended Decembe2813 and 2014;

Quarters Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30  December 31, Total

(in thousands, except for per share amounts)

2013

Licensing revenue $ 408 $ 408 $ 408 $ 408 $ 1,62
Total costs and expenses 7,22¢ 8,02: 11,50¢ 14,31: 41,07
Net loss (10,210) (13,47)) (31,73) (12,36¢) (67,79
Net loss per common she— basic

and diluted $ (062 $ (079 $ (165 $ (069

2014

Licensing revenue $ 408 $ 44k $ 44F $ 44F $ 1,742
Total costs and expenses 19,94« 22,87 36,517 35,577 114,91.
Net income (loss $(246,029 $ 3347C $ (35,84) $ (34,82) $ (283,226
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17. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited) — (contirued)
Quarters Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30  December 31, Total

(in thousands, except for per share amounts)

Net income (loss) per commi

share:

Basic $ (126) $ 16C $ (169 $ (169

Diluted (12.6)) 1.51 (1.69 (1.69)
18. Litigation

On February 21, 2014 and February 28, 2014, pwedatareholder class actions, styfebt H. Atwood v. Intercept
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. et eéindGeorge Burton v. Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inalet respectively, were filed in the United
States District Court for the Southern DistrictNg#w York, naming the Company and certain of itsceffs as defendants. These
lawsuits were filed by stockholders who claim toslbéng on behalf of anyone who purchased or ottsenacquired the
Company’s securities between January 9, 2014 anehda 10, 2014.

The lawsuits allege that the Company made mateigtepresentations and/or omissions of materialifeits public
disclosures during the period from January 9, 201¥anuary 10, 2014, in violation of Sections 1@ 20(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Rule 10lbihydgated thereunder. The alleged improper disobssielate to the
Company’s January 9, 2014 announcement that theFirial had been stopped early based on a prexefinterim efficacy
analysis. Specifically, the lawsuits claim that #faauary 9, 2014 announcement was misleading bedadigl not contain
information regarding certain lipid abnormalitie=es in the FLINT trial in OCA-treated patients cargd to placebo. On April
22, 2014, two individuals each moved to consolidagecases and a lead plaintiff was subsequenglgiaged by the Court. On
June 27, 2014, the lead plaintiff filed an amenceahplaint on behalf of the putative class as coptatad by the order of the
Court. On August 14, 2014, the defendants filedo#ion to dismiss the complaint, which has been epddy the lead plaintiff.
Oral arguments on the motion to dismiss were hel&ebruary 24, 2015. No decision has been madeebgourt on the
motion to dismiss. The lead plaintiff seeks unsfetimonetary damages on behalf of the putativescéand an award of costs
and expenses, including attorneys’ fees. Additimoeahplaints may be filed against the Company andiiectors and officers
related to its disclosures.

The Company believes that it has valid defenséise@laims in the lawsuit and intends to deny lipband defend itself
vigorously. There can be no assurance, howevdrttthadCompany will be successful. At this time,assessment can be made
as to the likely outcome of this action or whettier outcome will be material to the Company. Thenefthe Company has not
accrued for any loss contingencies related tol#isuit.

The Company may become subject to claims and assessfrom time to time in the ordinary course agibess. Such
matters are subject to uncertainties and outcomeesd predictable with assurance. The Companyuasdrabilities for such
matters when it is probable that future expend#wvél be made and such expenditures can be reboestimated. As of
December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, the Companyrdidselieve that any such matters, individuallyrothe aggregate, will
have a material adverse effect on the Companymess, financial condition, results of operationsash flows.

19. Subsequent Events

On February 19, 2015, the Company entered intandenease with Merck Sharp & Dohme Limited for @@mpany’s new
office in the King's Cross area of London, Uniteshgdom. The lease will provide the Company with ragpmately 6,000
rentable square feet in London for office spaces [Blase term is anticipated to end in June 2019.
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19. Subsequent Events — (continued)

The annual rent is £470,608, payable quarterly a¥éealso required to pay value added tax (VAT)hanrent. The
Company will be responsible for a portion of theurance, certain service charges and taxes fdyuitging based on the floor
area rented by the Company. As security for theetledse, the Company has provided the landlord awimt deposit in the
amount of £705,912, plus applicable VAT. The amairthe deposit may be reduced to £470,608 witbi&ys after April 30,
2016 if there are no outstanding payments due fzer@ tare no material breaches of the underleasbdka not been
unremedied in respect of which a drawdown noticebeen served and has expired.

F-25




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Exhibit List
Incorporated by
Reference herein
Exhibit Filed with from Form or SEC File/Reg.
Number Exhibit Description this Report Schedule Filing Date Number
3.1.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation Form 8-K 10/16/12 001-35668
the Registrant (Exhibit 3.1)
3.1.2 Amendment to Restated Certificate of Form 8-K 07/22/2014 001-35668
Incorporation of the Registrant (Exhibit 3.1)
3.2 Restated Bylaws of the Registrant Form 8-K 10/16/12 001-35668
(Exhibit 3.2)
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate of Form S-8 11/07/12 333-184810
the Registrant (Exhibit 4.3)
4.2 Third Amended and Restated Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
Stockholders Agreement by and am (Exhibit 4.2)
the Registrant, the holders of the
Registrant’s convertible preferred
stock, the Registrant’s founders and
certain other investors, dated August 9,
2012
Equity Compensation Plans
10.1.1 Amended and Restated 2003 Stock Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
Incentive Plan of the Registrant+ (Exhibit 10.1.1)
10.1.2 Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
Agreement granted under the 2003 (Exhibit 10.1.2)
Stock Incentive Plan of the Registral
10.1.3 Form of Incentive Stock Option Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
Agreement granted under the 2003 (Exhibit 10.1.3)
Stock Incentive Plan of the Registral
10.1.4 Amendment to Amended and Restated Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
2003 Stock Incentive Plan of the (Exhibit 10.1.4)
Registrant+
10.2.1 Form of 2012 Equity Incentive Plan of Amendment 09/27/12 333-183706
the Registrant+ No. 1 to Form S-1
(Exhibit 10.2.1)
10.2.2 Form of Stock Option Grant Notice for Amendment 09/27/12 333-183706
Directors under the 2012 Equity No. 1 to Form S-1
Incentive Plan of the Registrant+ (Exhibit 10.2.2)
10.2.3 Form of Stock Option Grant Notice for Amendment 09/27/12 333-183706
Employees and Consultants under the No. 1 to Form S-1
2012 Equity Incentive Plan of the (Exhibit 10.2.3)
Registrant+
10.2.4 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Amendment 09/27/12 333-183706

Grant Notice for Directors under the
2012 Equity Incentive Plan of the
Registrant+

No. 1 to Form S-1
(Exhibit 10.2.4)




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Incorporated by
Reference herein

Exhibit Filed with from Form or SEC File/Reg.
Number Exhibit Description this Report Schedule Filing Date Number
10.2.5 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Amendment No.  09/27/12 333-183706
Grant Notice for Employees and 1to Form S-1
Consultants under the 2012 Equity (Exhibit 10.2.5)
Incentive Plan of the Registrant+
10.2.6 Form of Restricted Stock Award Grant Form 10-Q 05/09/14 001-35668
Notice for Directors under the 20. (Exhibit 10.3)
Equity Incentive Plan of the
Registrant+
10.2.7 Form of Restricted Stock Award Grant Form 10-Q 05/09/14 001-35668
Notice for Employees and Consulta (Exhibit 10.4)
under the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan
of the Registrant+
10.3 Non-Employee Director Compensation Form 10-Q 05/09/14 001-35668
Policy+ (Exhibit 10.1)
Agreements with Executive Officers and Directors
10.4.1 Amended and Restated Employment Form 10-Q 05/14/13 001-35668
Agreement by and between the (Exhibit 10.5)
Registrant and Mark Pruzanski, dated
May 14, 2013+
10.4.2 Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
Agreement by and between the (Exhibit 10.4.2)
Registrant and Mark Pruzanski, dated
June 20, 2006+
10.4.3 Invention, Non-Disclosure, and Non- Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
Solicitation Agreement by and betwe (Exhibit 10.4.3)
the Registrant and Mark Pruzanski,
dated December 31, 2009+
10.5.1 Amended and Restated Employment Form 10-Q 05/14/13 001-35668
Agreement by and between the (Exhibit 10.12)
Registrant and Barbara Duncan,
effective as of May 14, 2013+
10.5.2 Invention, Non-Disclosure, and Non- Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
Solicitation Agreement by and betwe (Exhibit 10.5.2)
the Registrant and Barbara Duncan,
effective as of May 16, 2009+
10.6.1 Amended and Restated Employment Form 10-Q 05/14/13 001-35668
Agreement by and between the (Exhibit 10.11)
Registrant and David Shapiro, effect
as of May 14, 2013+
10.6.2 Invention, Non-Disclosure, and Non- Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706

Solicitation Agreement by and betwe
the Registrant and David Shapiro,
dated March 31, 2008+

(Exhibit 10.6.2)




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Incorporated by
Reference herein

Exhibit Filed with from Form or SEC File/Reg.

Number Exhibit Description this Report Schedule Filing Date Number

10.7.1 Amended and Restated Employment Form 10-Q 05/14/13 001-35668
Agreement by and between the (Exhibit 10.9)
Registrant and Daniel Regan, effective
as of May 14, 2013+

10.7.2 Invention, Non-Disclosure, and Non- Form 10-K 04/01/13 001-35668
Solicitation Agreement by and betwe (Exhibit 10.7.2)
the Registrant and Daniel Regan, dated
March 4, 2013+

10.8  Amended and Restated Consulting Form 10-Q 05/14/13 001-35668
Agreement between the Registrant and (Exhibit 10.13)
Luciano Adorini, dated as of May 14,
2013+

10.9  Employment Agreement by and Form 10-Q 05/09/14 001-35668
between the Registrant and Rachel (Exhibit 10.2)
McMinn, effective as of April 30,
2014+

10.10 Form of Indemnification Agreement Form S-1 09/04/12 333-183706
and between the Registrant and each of (Exhibit 10.7)
its directors and executive officers

Lease Agreements

10.10 Lease Agreement between Jamestown Form 8-K 10/21/13 001-35668
405 West 18" Street, L.P. and the (Exhibit 10.1)
Registrant, dated October 15, 2013

10.11 Lease Agreement between The Irvine Form 8-K 05/01/14 001-35668
Company LLC and the Registrant, (Exhibit 10.1)
dated May 1, 2014

10.12 Underlease between the Registrant and Form 8-K 02/24/15 001-35668
Merck Sharp & Dohme Limited, dated (Exhibit 10.1)
February 19, 2015

Agreements with Respect to Collaborations, LicenseResearch and Development
10.13 License Agreement by and between Amendment 09/27/12 333-183706

Registrant and Sumitomo Dainippon
Pharma Co. Ltd., dated March 29,
2011*

Other Exhibits

211

23.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant, Interc X
Italia S.r.l, an Italian entity and

Intercept Pharma Europe Ltd., a Uni
Kingdom entity

Consent of KPMG LLP, independent X
registered public accounting firm

No. 1 to Form S-1

(Exhibit 10.10)




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Incorporated by
Reference herein

Exhibit Filed with from Form or SEC File/Reg.
Number Exhibit Description this Report Schedule Filing Date Number
31.1  Certification of the Chief Executive X
Officer
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial X
Officer
32 Certification pursuant to Section 90€ X
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101 The following materials from Intercept X

Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2014, formatted in
XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting
Language): (i) Consolidated Balance
Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Loss,
(iii) Consolidated Statements of
Changes in Stockholders’ Equity, (iv)
Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows, and (v) Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements

(+) Management contract or compensatory plan @ngement.

(*) Confidential treatment has been granted bySbeurities and Exchange Commission as to certatiops.




Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF INTERCEPT PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Intercept Italia S.r.l, an Italian entity
Intercept Pharma Europe Ltd., a United Kingdomtenti




Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Intercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-18481 No. 333-
188064) and Form S-3 (No. 333-194974) of Interémrmaceuticals, Inc. of our report dated Marc2025, with respect to
the consolidated balance sheets of Intercept Pleauniaals, Inc. and subsidiary as of December @132nd 2014, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, cemepsive loss, changes in stockholders’ equity,cash flows for each of
the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013, and a6il4he effectiveness of internal control overtiicial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, which reports appear in the idbee 31, 2014 annual report on Form 10-K of Intetétharmaceuticals,
Inc.

/sl KPMG LLP

New York, New York
March 2, 2015




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Mark Pruzanski, M.D., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fHntercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatorny untrue statement of a material fact or eongitate a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, inolighe circumstances under which such statenveats made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ly tport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamntd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, iesaf operations and cash flows of the registeentf, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a)}Hhd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)15¢r the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procegoresiused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiakmédion relating to the registrant, including itsmeolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is
being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financigbmting, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeredsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and th
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentifisineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disceosantrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegeovered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegyi$'s internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to erally affect, the registrant’s internal contrales financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditor&ldhe audit committee of the registrant’s boardigéctors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material wealses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and
report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 2, 2015

/sl Mark Pruzanski

Mark Pruzanski, M.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Barbara G. Duncan, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fHntercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatorny untrue statement of a material fact or eongitate a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, inolighe circumstances under which such statenveats made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered ly tport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamntd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, iesaf operations and cash flows of the registeentf, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 18a)}Hhd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over finaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)15¢r the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procegoresiused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed
under our supervision, to ensure that materiakmédion relating to the registrant, including itsmeolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is
being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financigbmting, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeredsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and th
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentifisineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disceosantrols and procedures, as of the end of thiegeovered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the tegyi$'s internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to erally affect, the registrant’s internal contrales financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditor&ldhe audit committee of the registrant’s boardigéctors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material wealses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversafgct the registrant’s ability to record, processnmarize and
report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 2, 2015

/sl Barbara Duncan

Barbara G. Duncan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1358ptdr 63 of title 18,
United States Code), each of the undersigned offickIntercept Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delawarparation (the
“Company”), does hereby certify, to such officetieowledge, that:

The Annual Report for the year ended December @14 Zthe “Form 10-K”) of the Company fully compliedgth the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S#earExchange Act of 1934, and the informationteored in the Form 10-K
fairly presents, in all material respects, thefiicial condition and results of operations of thenpany.

Dated: March 2, 2015 /s/ Mark Pruzanski

Mark Pruzanski, M.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: March 2, 2015 /sl Barbara Duncan

Barbara G. Duncan
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




